

# Neighbourhood Houses and Adult Community Education Centres

Collective Agreement 2024

# NHACE 2024 Agreement – Changes due to FWC Decision (dated 22 May 2025)

The NHACE 2024 Agreement was approved by the Fair Work Commission (FWC) on 22 May 2025 and commenced operation on 29 May 2025. This Agreement has a nominal expiry date of 19 July 2028.

The list of employers covered by the Agreement is Schedule A of the FWC Decision (dated 22 May 2025) to be included in the Agreement in substitute for Schedule 5 (List of Respondents - insert List) of the Agreement.

The *Agreement* covers the NTEU – now as well as the ASU Vic/Tas Branch having given notice to be covered by the Agreement.

# Additional changes - due to FWC Decision 22 May 2025

# Mandatory terms

• The model flexibility term of the Fair Work Act 2009 Regulations – Schedule 2.2 is substituted for clause 7.8 of the Agreement.

This ensures that an Individual Flexibility Agreement (**IFA**) can be terminated by giving written notice of not more than 28 days, nor does it require that the employer provide an employee with a copy of an IFA within 14 days of it being made.

- Clause 7A of the Childrens' Services Award 2010 will replace clause 6 of the Agreement which will have no effect.
- Expiry date is 19 July 2028 the Agreement states July 2028.

The following employers are excludes from the Agreement – having not filed an f17 Employer Declaration :

- Lilydale Community House Inc.
- Stawell Neighbourhood House Inc.
- St Arnaud Neighbourhood House Inc.
- Reservoir Neighbourhood House
- Yarraville Community Centre
- Neighbourhood House Barwon

# Undertakings

The following undertakings as outlined in the FWC Decision will have application to the Agreement:

- Any term of applicable modern awards Children's Services Award 2010 / Educational Services (Post-Secondary Education) Award 2020 / SCHADS Award 2010 (clause 2.4) will apply as a term of this Agreement — where more beneficial to an employee than a provision of this Agreement.
- For all employees covered by the Agreement who would otherwise be covered by the following awards:
  - Children's Services Award 2010
  - Social, Community, Home Care, and Disability Services Industry Award 2010
  - Educational Services (Post Secondary Education) Award 2020 (general staff classification) (casual teaching classification)

• The payrates in the Agreement are the same and they would be under the Award.

# The application of TOIL in the Agreement:

- Time off with respect to TOIL must be taken within the period of 6 months after to overtime is worked and at a time or times within that period of 6 months agreed by the employer and employee.
- Clause 27.3 of the Agreement does not apply and will not be applied in respect of employees covered by the Agreement.
- For the purposes of Clause 27.6, TOIL is to be paid out at overtime rates.

# Casual employee - minimum engagement

• the minimum engagement for a casual employee working on a public holiday shall be four hours (clause 10.4).

# Higher duties - Children's Services Award

- For all employees who otherwise would be covered by the Children's Services Award 2010:
  - the higher duties allowance shall apply if employees are engaged in duties carrying a higher rate for 2 or more consecutive hours within any day or shift (Clause 21.12)

# **NES** – application

- This Agreement will be read and interpreted in conjunction with the *National Employment Standards* (NES).
- Where there is an inconsistency between this Agreement and the NES, and the NES provides a greater benefit, the NES provision will apply to the extent of any inconsistency.

# Nominal expiry date

The nominal expiry date of the Agreement will be 19 July 2028.

# **Signatories**

- Neighbourhood Houses Victoria Inc (NHVic) advises that an online survey was conducted on 3 May 2023 requiring a positive attestation (consent) from employers to appoint NHVic to act on their behalf during the agreement renewal process.
- Neighbourhood Houses Victoria Inc (NHVic) does have authority to sign the Agreement on behalf of each participating employer. Those employers are listed in the attached Schedule.

Prepared by David Prior, Workplace Relations Specialist / Amplify Alliance (previously Jobs Australia. 2 June 2025

# ANNEXURE A

Neighbourhood Houses Victoria Inc
Alamein Neighbourhood A Learning Centre Inc
Allwood Neighbourhood House Inc
Anglesea Community House Inc
Angliss Neighbourhood House
Ararat Neighbourhood House
Arrabri Community House Inc
Ashburton Community Centre Inc
Aspendale Gardens Community Service
Attwood House Community Centre Association
Balla Balla Community Centre Inc.
Ballarat East Neighbourhood House Inc
Ballarat Neighbourhood Centre Inc
Balwyn Community Centre Inc
Beaconsfield Neighbourhood Centre Inc
Belgium Avenue Neighbourhood house Inc.
Bellarine Training and Community Hub Inc
Belvedere Community Centre INC.
Bendigo Neighbourhood Hub Inc
Bennettswood Neighbourhood House
Birallee Park Neighbourhood House Inc
Birchip Neighbourhood House Inc
Blackburn North Neighbourhood House Inc
Blind Bight Community Centre Management Committee Inc
Bonnie Doon Community Group Inc
Boort Resource and Information Centre Inc

[2025] FWCA 1713
Bowen Street Community Centre Association INC
Braybrook and Maidstone Neighbourhood House Incorporated
Cann River Community Centre
Canterbury Neighbourhood Centre Inc
Caulfield South Community House
Central Highlands Association of Neighbourhood Houses Inc
Central Ringwood Community Centre Inc
Chelsea Heights Community Centre Inc
Clota Cottage Neighbourhood House Inc
Cobram Community House Inc
Community Centre Swifts Creek Inc
Corinella and District Community Centre Inc
Craig Family Centre
Cranbourne Community Centre
Creeds Farm Living and Learning Centre
Darley Neighbourhood House and Learning Centre Inc
Daylesford Neighbourhood Centre Inc
Deans Marsh Community Cottage Inc
Deddick Valley Isolated Community Group
Dixon House Neighbourhood Centre INC
Doveton Neighbourhood Learning Centre
Duke Street Community House Association
Echuca Neighbourhood House Inc
Elwood St Kilda Neighbourhood Learning Centre Incorporated
Endeavour Hills Neighbourhood Centre Inc
Farnham Street Neighbourhood Learning Centre
Finbar Neighbourhood House Inc

[2025] FWCA 1713
Forrest & District Neighbourhood House
Geelong West Neighbourhood House Inc
Gellibrand Community House Incorporated
Glen Eira Adult Learning Centre Inc
Glen Park Community Centre Inc
Godfrey Street Community House Inc
Goonawarra Neighbourhood House Inc.
Hallam Community Learning Centre Inc
HAMILTON COMMUNITY HOUSE INC.
Hampton Park Community House Inc
Hastings Community House Inc
Heathcote Community House Inc
Heyfield Community Resource Centre Inc
Holden Street Neighbourshood House Inc
Hopetoun & District Neighbourhood House Inc
Horsham Neighbourhood House Inc.
Iramoo Community Centre Inc
Jamieson Way Community Centre
KENSINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSE INC.
Kerrie Neighbourhood House Inc
Kerrimuir Neighbourhood House Inc
Kew Neighbourhood Learning Centre Inc
Kilmore Community Centre
Lakes Entrance Neighborhood House Inc.
Lancefield Neighbourhood House Inc
LAURELS EDUCATION AND TRAINING INC
LINK Neighbourhood House Inc

[2025] FWCA 1713
Living & Learning Pakenham Inc
Livingstone Community Centre
Loch Sport Community House Inc
Long Gully Neighbourhood Centre Inc.
Longbeach Learning and Activity Centre
MACE INCORPORATED
Maffra Neighbourhood House Inc.
Maldon Neighbourhood Centre Inc
Manna Gum Community House Inc
Mitcham Community House
Mordialloc Neighbourhood House Inc
Mount Eliza Neighbourhood House Inc
Mount Evelyn Community House Inc
Mount Street Neighbourhood House Incorporated
Mountain District Women's Co-operative Ltd
Nathalia District Community Association Inc
NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSE MURCHISON (VIC) INCORPORATED
Neighbourhood Houses Gippsland Inc
NETWORK OF INNER EAST COMMUNITY HOUSES INC
Network West Inc
Newlands and East Coburg Community Hubs Inc
Nhill Neighbourhood House Learning Centre Inc
Noble Park Community Centre Inc
North & West Melbourne Neighbourhood Centre Inc
North Carlton Railway Neighbourhood House
North East Neighbourhood House Network Inc
North Ringwood Community House Inc

[2025] FWCA 1713
North West Neighbourhood House Network Inc
Notting Hill Community Association Inc
Oakgrove Community Centre
OPEN DOOR NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSE INC
OUTLETS CO-OP NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSE LTD
Pangerang Community Hub Inc.
Park Orchards Community House and Learning Centre Incorporated
Phoenix Park Neighbourhood House Inc
Pines Learning Incorporated
Port Fairy Community Group Inc
Power Neighbourhood House
Prace Inc
Prahran Place Ltd
Pyalong Neighbourhood Houses Inc
Pyrenees Community House Incorporated
Rainbow Learning Group & Neighbourhood House
Red Cliffs Community Resource Centre Inc
Reynard Street Neighbourhood House Inc
Richmond Neighbourhood Centre
Robinvale Network House Inc
Rochester Community House Inc
Rosewall Neighbourhood Centre Inc
Rushworth Community House Inc
Rye Community House Inc
Seville Community Group
Seymour & District Community House Inc
Shared Learning and Activities Murtoa

[2025] FWCA 1713
Simpson & District Community Centre Inc
South Kingsville Community Centre Inc
Southport Community Centre
Span Community House
Springvale Learning and Activities Centre Inc
Sunbury Neighbourhood House Inc
Surrey Hills Neighbourhood Centre Inc
Sussex Neighbourhood House Inc
Swan Hill Neighbourhood House Inc.
Tatura Community House Inc
The Grange Community Centre Inc
Thomastown Neighbourhood House
Toolangi Castella District Community House Inc
Torquay Community House Inc
Trentham Neighbourhood Centre Inc
Trudewind Road Neighbourhood House Inc
Upper Murray Regional Neighbourhood House Collective Incorporated
Venus Bay Community Centre
Vermont South Community House Incorporated
Violet Town Community House
Waminda Inc
Warracknabeal Neighbourhood House and Learning Centre Inc
Warragul Community House
Waverley Community Learning Centre Inc
Wavlink Inc
Wedderburn Community House
Wendouree Neighbourhood Centre Inc

# [2025] FWCA 1713

Whittlesea Community House Inc
Williamstown Community and Education Centre Inc
Winchelsea Community House Inc.
Wingate Avenue Community Centre Inc
Woodend Neighbourhood House Inc
Woori House Inc
Wyndham Park Community Centre
Yackandandah Community Centre Inc
Yarrawonga Neighbourhood House Inc
Yarrunga Community Centre Inc
Yea Community House



# **Contents**

PART A	A – INTRODUCTORY	4
1.	TITLE	4
2.	APPLICATION OF AGREEMENT AND RELATIONSHIP TO AWARD	4
3.	DEFINITIONS	4
4.	ANTI-DISCRIMINATION	5
5.	ENTERPRISE FLEXIBILITY	6
6.	UNION DELEGATES	6
7.	INDIVIDUAL FLEXIBILITY	6
8.	DISPUTE & GRIEVANCE RESOLUTION PROCEDURES	7
9.	DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES	8
PARTE	B - MODES OF EMPLOYMENT	10
10.	BASIS OF EMPLOYMENT	10
SECTIO	ON 3 - SALARIES AND CLASSIFICATION	16
11.	CLASSIFICATION STRUCTURE	16
12.	INCREMENTAL PROGRESSION	18
13.		
14.	PAYMENT OF WAGES	19
15.	WAGE INCREASES	19
16.		
17.		
SECTIO	ON 4 - MANAGING CHANGE, TERMINATION AND REDUNDANCY	
18.		
19.	TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	22
20.	REDUNDANCY	24
SECTIO	DN 5 - ALLOWANCES	27
21.	ALLOWANCES	27
23	ACCIDENT MAKE-UP PAY	30
SECTIO	ON 6 - HOURS OF WORK	30
24	HOURS OF WORK	30
25	TIME OFF IN LIEU (TOIL) FOR FLEXIBLE HOURS ARRANGEMENTS ANI 32	) OVERTIME
26	FLEXIBLE HOURS ARRANGEMENTS	32
27.	OVERTIME	32
28	REST PERIODS	34
29	PREPARATION TIME FOR CHILDCARE WORKERS	34
SECTIO	ON 7 - LEAVE AND PUBLIC HOLIDAYS	35
30	ANNUAL LEAVE AND LEAVE LOADING	35



	31	PURCHASED LEAVE	37
	32	PUBLIC HOLIDAYS	39
	33	PERSONAL LEAVE	40
	34	LONG SERVICE LEAVE	42
	35	PARENTAL LEAVE	46
	36	CO-PARENT LEAVE	47
	37	ADOPTION LEAVE	47
	38	COURT APPEARANCE LEAVE	48
	39	CEREMONIAL LEAVE	48
	40	CULTURAL LEAVE	49
	41	FAMILY AND DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE	49
	42.	GENDER AFFIRMATION LEAVE	55
	43	TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT	56
	44	SAVINGS CLAUSE	56
SEC	CTION	8 – OCCUPATIONAL, HEALTH & SAFETY	57
	45	OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY COMPLIANCE	57
	46	SAFETY PROVISIONS FOR SOLE WORKERS	57
	47	BULLYING AND HARASSMENT	57
	48	WORK LIFE BALANCE	59
SEC	CTION	9 ENVIRONMENTAL STRATEGIES	60
	49	ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITIES	60
SCF	HEDUL	E 1 SIGNATORIES TO THE AGREEMENT	61
SCF	HEDUL	E 2 CLASSIFICATION STANDARDS AND DESCRIPTORS	64
SCH	HEDUL	E 3 SALARY RATES	97
SCH	HEDUL	E 4 ALLOWANCES1	02
SCH	HEDUL	E 5 LIST OF RESPONDENTS1	03



# PART A - INTRODUCTORY

#### 1. TITLE

1.1. This Agreement shall be known as the *Neighbourhood Houses and Adult Community Education Centres Collective Agreement 2024.* 

#### 2. APPLICATION OF AGREEMENT AND RELATIONSHIP TO AWARD

- 2.1. This Agreement shall apply to:
- 2.2. the employers listed in Schedule 5 of this Agreement; and
- 2.3. all employees of the employers listed in **Schedule 5** (collectively referred to as "the parties") and who are employed as social and community services workers, adul6 and community education general staff, adult education teachers and tutors, and childcare workers, excluding Trainees as defined by the *Fair Work Act* 2009 (Cth).
- 2.4. The Agreement shall be read and interpreted in conjunction with the following Awards and the National Employment standards.
  - (a) Social Community Home Care and Disability Services Industry Award 2010 (SCHADS)
  - (b) Educational Services (Post-Secondary Education) Award 2020 (ESPSE)
  - (c) Children's Services Award 2010 (CS)

Where there is any inconsistency between the terms of the Awards and the terms of the Agreement, the Agreement terms will prevail.

# Period of operation

- 2.5. The nominal expiry date for this Agreement is July 2028
- 2.6. A copy of this Agreement will be made available to all employees. This may be done by electronic means including email or intranet.
- 2.7. This Agreement is made pursuant to Pt.2-4, Div.2, s.172(3) of the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth).

# 3. **DEFINITIONS**

3.1 Subject to the provisions of sub-clauses 10.23-10.43 regarding casual teaching and tutorial staff, a "Casual employee" means a person who is engaged intermittently for work of an unexpected or casual nature and does not include an employee who could properly be engaged as a full-time or part-time employee.



- 3.2 "Coordinator" means the person howsoever titled, appointed by the Committee of Management to be responsible for the day-to-day operations of the employer including supervision and management of all employees.
- 3.3 **"Chairperson"** means the person exercising executive authority in a Committee of Management.
- 3.4 "Committee" means the Committee of Management of an employer listed in Schedule 5 of this agreement.
- 3.5 **"Continuing employee"** means a person who is employed on a full-time or part-time basis pursuant to a written instrument of appointment which specifies the date of commencement but does not specify a termination date.
- 3.6 "**Domestic pet**" a domestic animal that is not a farm animal and is kept, owned, or cared for by a family member or a household member.
- 3.7 **"Fixed-term employee"** means a person who is employed either on a full-time or part-time basis pursuant to a written instrument which complies with the provision of sub-clauses 10.17 10.22 of this Agreement.
- 3.8 "Full-time employee" means a person who is employed to work 38 hours per week.
- 3.9 **"Ordinary rate per hour"** means the hourly rate payable to an employee by applying the formula:

# Weekly Salary 38

Note: Where the Agreement refers to annual salary, weekly salary shall be determined by dividing the annual salary by 52.179

- 3.10 "Overtime" definition is as per relevant Award.
- 3.11 "Part-time employee" means an employee, other than a casual employee, who works less than the maximum ordinary hours prescribed by this Agreement.
- 3.12 "Union" or "Unions" means
  - 3.12.1 the Australian Services Union VicTas Authorities and Services Branch (ASU) and/or
  - 3.12.2 the National Tertiary Education Industry Union (NTEU) and/or
  - 3.12.3 the United Workers Union.
- 3.13 "SCHADS" means Social Community Home Care and Disability Services Award 2010 "ESPSE" means Education Services (Post-Secondary Education) Award 2020 "CS" means Children's Services Award 2010

# 4. ANTI-DISCRIMINATION

4.1. It is the intention of the respondents to this Agreement to respect and value the diversity of the workforce by helping to prevent and eliminate discrimination on the basis of race, colour, sex, sexual preference, age, physical or mental disability, marital status, family responsibilities, pregnancy, religion, political opinion, national extraction or social origin.



- 4.2. Accordingly, in fulfilling their obligations under the above, every endeavour has been made to ensure that neither the Agreement provisions nor their operation are directly or indirectly discriminatory in their effects.
- 4.3. Nothing in this clause is to be taken to affect:
  - 4.3.1.any different treatment (or treatment having different effects) which is specifically exempted under the Commonwealth anti-discrimination legislation;
  - 4.3.2.an employee, employer or registered organisation, pursuing matters of discrimination in the State or federal jurisdiction, including by application to the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission;
  - 4.3.3. the exemptions in s.772(2) of the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth).

#### 5. ENTERPRISE FLEXIBILITY

5.1. A consultative mechanism and procedures appropriate to the size, structure and needs of the enterprise or workplace shall be established.

#### 6. UNION DELEGATES

6.1. The employer recognises the role that union delegates play in promoting, understanding and knowledge of industrial arrangements and in dispute resolution.

Union Training Leave – This clause only applies to employers with more than 10 employees.

- 6.2. Employees who are appointed union delegates will be entitled to five days training leave per year without loss of pay to attend union training and business.
- 6.3. A newly appointed union delegate who has completed the 5 days delegate induction training may request up to an additional 5 days training in their first year of appointment as a delegate.
- 6.4. Requests for leave are to be submitted by employees as early as practicable but not less than two weeks before commencement.
- 6.5. The taking of leave is by agreement with the Employer having regard to the employer's operational requirements;
- 6.6. Leave of absence granted pursuant to this clause shall count as service for all purposes of this agreement.

# 7. INDIVIDUAL FLEXIBILITY

- 7.1 This clause constitutes the flexibility term referred to in s.202 to 204 of the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth). Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the employer and an individual employee may agree to vary the application of certain terms of this Agreement to meet the genuine individual needs of the employer and the individual employee. The terms the employer and the individual employee may agree to vary the application of are those concerning:
  - (a) arrangements for when work is performed; or
  - (b) leave loading; or
  - (c) overtime rates; or
  - (d) penalty rates; or
  - (e) allowances.



- 7.2 The employer and the individual employee must have genuinely made the agreement without coercion or duress.
- 7.3 The agreement between the employer and the individual employee must:
  - (a) be confined to a variation in the application of one or more of the terms listed in subclause 7.1; and
  - (b) result in the employee being better off overall than the employee would have been if no individual flexibility agreement had been agreed to.

An agreement may only be made after the individual employee has commenced employment with the employer.

- 7.4 The agreement between the employer and the individual employee must also:
  - (a) be in writing, name the parties to the agreement and be signed by the employer and the individual employee and, if the employee is under 18 years of age, the employee's parent or guardian;
  - (b) state each term of this Agreement that the employer and the individual employee have agreed to vary;
  - (c) detail how the application of each term has been varied by agreement between the employer and the individual employee;
  - (d) detail how the agreement results in the individual employee being better off overall in relation to the individual employee's terms and conditions of employment; and
  - (e) state the date the agreement commences to operate.
- 7.5 The employer must give the individual employee a copy of the agreement and keep the agreement as a time and wages record.
- 7.6 Except as provided in sub-clause 7.4(a) the agreement must not require the approval or consent of a person other than the employer and the individual employee.
- 7.7 Where the employer seeks to enter into an agreement a written proposal must be provided to the employee. Where the employee's understanding of written English is limited, the employer shall take measures, including translation into an appropriate language, to ensure the employee understands the proposal.
- 7.8 The agreement may be terminated:
  - (a) by the employer or the individual employee giving four weeks' notice of termination, in writing, to the other party and the agreement ceasing to operate at the end of the notice period; or by the employer or employee giving 13 weeks' written notice to the other party (reduced to 4 weeks if the agreement was entered into before the first full pay period starting on or after 4 December 2013).
  - (b) at any time, by written agreement between the employer and the individual employee.
  - (c) The right to make an agreement pursuant to this Clause is in addition to, and is not intended to otherwise affect, any provision for an agreement between an employer and an individual employee contained in any other term of this Agreement.

# 8. DISPUTE & GRIEVANCE RESOLUTION PROCEDURES

8.1 Any dispute or grievance arising out of the operation of this Agreement, shall be dealt with in the following manner, without disruption to the provision of services or operations.



- 8.2 In the first instance, the employee will attempt to resolve the matter through discussion with their immediate supervisor. The employee is entitled to nominate a representative to be present during such discussions. The arrangement of a meeting under this subclause will ordinarily take place within seven working days of notification of a dispute or grievance.
- 8.3 Should the matter remain unresolved, the employee (with the employee's nominated representative) shall confer with senior management (or the appropriate nominee of the Committee of Management) with the objective of resolving the matter within the organisation. These discussions will, where possible, take place within a further seven (7) days or as soon as the parties can reasonably commence the discussions.
- 8.4 If the matter remains unresolved at this stage, it may be referred to Fair Work Commission (FWC) (or to an agreed independent mediator, conciliator or arbitrator) for further mediation, conciliation and, if unresolved, arbitration, not less than one month after original notification of the dispute or grievance. The parties agree that FWC or the independent arbitrator shall have all necessary powers to require any person or persons or documents to be produced that will assist in the resolution of these matters and to set out any procedural requirements for the determination of matters. The parties agree to comply with any procedural directions.
- 8.5 A decision made by FWC or the independent arbitrator as a result of arbitration will be accepted by both parties' subject, in the case of a decision by FWC, to either party exercising a right of appeal
- 8.6 Until the matter is resolved, work must continue in accordance with the custom and practice in existence prior to notification of the matter.

An employee must not unreasonably fail to comply with any direction given by the employer about performing work, whether at the same or another workplace, that is safe and appropriate for the employee to perform. Exceptions to this sub-clause shall be:

- (a) in health and safety matters where existing conditions may place a party at risk, or
- (b) where existing conditions may place either party under unreasonable duress pending resolution of the matter.

#### 9. DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES

9.1 All employees shall be treated at all times in accordance with the principles of natural justice.

These principles include:

- (a) the right to a fair hearing including adequate notice of what is alleged and a reasonable opportunity to respond to allegations, and
- (b) the right to an unbiased process of judgement.
- 9.2 Where the employer has concerns about the work performance or conduct of an employee, other than an employee within the minimum employment period specified by the Fair Work Act, or a short-term casual employee, the following disciplinary procedure will apply.
- 9.3 The employee shall be advised of the alleged poor work performance or misconduct, that those concerns will be dealt with in accordance with these procedures, and that a possible outcome could be a disciplinary sanction such as termination of employment. The employee shall be provided with the opportunity to respond to any such allegations at a disciplinary meeting with the relevant supervisor. An employee subject to disciplinary proceedings may be assisted or represented in any disciplinary meeting by a support



- person of the employee's choice from the workplace, such as a colleague, or other nominated representative including a union representative.
- 9.4 Nothing in this procedure shall restrict the employer's right to summarily dismiss an employee in circumstances that warrant summary dismissal.
- 9.5 Nothing in this procedure shall restrict the employer from instigating a performance improvement plan.
- 9.6 If the concerns are not adequately addressed at the initial disciplinary meeting:
  - in case of poor performance, a warning may be issued and or the instigation of a performance improvement plan, or
  - (b) in the case of misconduct there may be a warning or employment may be terminated with or without notice, depending on the level of seriousness of the misconduct and any mitigating factors.
- 9.7 Where a warning is issued, the employer shall notify the employee of the reason for the warning and detail the standards of performance and/or conduct expected. In the case of unsatisfactory performance, the employer will also set a timeframe for a review of performance and will consider reasonable measures to assist the employee to meet the required performance standards, such as mentoring or training as appropriate. The warning shall also state the consequences of not meeting the required standards of performance and/or conduct, such as further disciplinary action which could include termination of employment.
- 9.8 If the problem continues the matter will be discussed with the employee at a second disciplinary meeting.
- 9.9 In the case of unsatisfactory performance, if the concerns are not resolved at the second meeting, a second warning in writing will be given to the employee. Termination of employment for unsatisfactory performance at this stage may only occur in cases where the unsatisfactory performance has particularly serious consequences, such as placing the viability of the employer at risk or posing a serious safety risk.
- 9.10 In the case of misconduct, if the allegations of a recurrence of misconduct are not satisfactorily resolved at the second meeting, a second written warning may be given to the employee, or employment may be terminated, depending on the level of seriousness of the misconduct and any mitigating factors.
- 9.11 If the problem continues the matter will be discussed with the employee at a further disciplinary meeting. If the concerns are not resolved, the outcome may be a further warning or termination of employment. Nothing in this procedure shall prevent the employer from conducting further disciplinary meetings where the particular circumstances require it.

#### **Disciplinary Action**

- 9.12 The outcome of a disciplinary procedure may include one of the following actions:
  - (a) that the complaint may be dismissed and a letter to that effect be placed on the employee's personal file;
  - (b) that the employee may be placed on a performance improvement plan until such time the employer is satisfied that the employees' performance is satisfactory
  - (c) that no action be taken;



- (d) that the employee be issued with a warning;
- (e) that the employee's salary increment be withheld for up to one year;
- (f) that the employee be dismissed.

#### Occupational Welfare

- 9.13 Notwithstanding the provisions of sub-clauses 9.1 to 9.12 inclusively, where, in the opinion of the employer and/or the employee stress, including personal or relationship problems, health concern, alcohol and/or other substance abuse, or compulsive gambling is adversely affecting the employee's work performance, either party may request that the employee make application for leave with pay, or without pay, to undertake an approved rehabilitation program.
- 9.14 In determining whether leave is to be granted, the employer may take into account the amount of accrued leave available to the employee.
- 9.15 Where leave has been granted, failure to undertake such an approved rehabilitation or counselling program may result in the employer seeking recourse to the provisions of Clause 9 as an alternative remedy to the situation.

# PART B - MODES OF EMPLOYMENT

#### 10. BASIS OF EMPLOYMENT

10.1 The Committee may employ people on a full-time, part-time, sessional (tutors and teachers only) fixed term or casual basis.

# Letter of engagement

- 10.2 On engagement, a full time or part-time employee must, and where practicable a casual employee will, be given written notification by the Committee of:
  - (a) the salary and classification of the position to which the employee is appointed.
  - (b) the hours of duty and times of attendance. (All communication under this sub-clause to Teachers and tutor/instructors will reference the hours of work teaching time/preparation ratio in sub-clauses 24.7-24.10.)
  - (c) the terms and conditions of employment applicable to the employee.
  - (d) a job description for the position, setting out the duties of and skills required for the position
  - (e) their immediate supervisor.

Any agreed variation to the above written terms will be confirmed in writing.

#### Full-time employment

A full-time employee is one who is engaged to work 38 hours per week or an average of 38 hours per week.



#### Regular part-time employment.

- 10.3 A regular part-time employee is entitled to all the provisions of this Agreement but calculated on a pro rata basis.
- 10.4 Before commencing employment, the employer and employee will agree in writing on:
  - (a) a regular pattern of work including the number of ordinary hours to be worked each week (the guaranteed hours), and
  - (b) the days of the week the employee will work and the starting and finishing times each day.
- 10.5 The agreed regular pattern of work does not necessarily have to provide for the same guaranteed hours each week.
- 10.6 The agreement made pursuant to clause 10.4 may subsequently be varied by agreement between the employer and employee in writing. Any such agreement may be ongoing or for a specified period of time.
- 10.7 An employer must not require a part-time employee to work additional hours in excess of their guaranteed hours. However, an employee may agree to work hours that are additional to their guaranteed hours.

#### **Review of guaranteed hours**

- 10.8 Where a part-time employee has regularly worked more than their guaranteed hours for at least 12 months, the employee may request in writing that the employer vary the agreement made under clause 10.4.
- 10.9 The employer must respond in writing to the employee's request within 21 days.
- 10.10 The employer may refuse the request only on reasonable business grounds.
- 10.11 Before refusing a request made under clause 10.4, the employer must discuss the request with the employee and genuinely try to reach agreement on an increase to the employee's guaranteed hours that will give the employee more predictable hours of work and reasonably accommodate the employee's circumstances.
- 10.12 If the employer and employee agree to vary the agreement made under clause 10.4, the employer's written response must record the agreed variation.
- 10.13 If the employer and employee do not reach agreement, the employer's written response must set out the grounds on which the employer has refused the employee's request.
- 10.14 Clause 10.4 is intended to operate in conjunction with clause 10.4 and does not prevent an employee and employer from agreeing to vary the agreement made under clause 10.4 in other circumstances.
- 10.15 An employee cannot make a request for a review of their guaranteed hours when:
  - (a) The employee has refused a previous offer to increase their guaranteed hours in the last 6 months; or
  - (b) The employer refused a request from the employee to increase their guaranteed hours based on reasonable business grounds in the last 6 months.

#### Fixed-term employment

- 10.16 A fixed-term employee may be employed in accordance with relevant Award and or NES.
- 10.17 All the provisions of this Agreement apply to fixed-term employees for the duration of their employment.
- 10.18 On engagement, a fixed-term employee must be given in addition to information referred to in sub-clause 10.2, written notification of the date on which the employment is to commence and the date on which the employment is to terminate.
- 10.19 The use of fixed-term employment shall be limited to employment in the following circumstances:
  - (a) Where the position is funded from a specific purpose grant for a project of limited duration up to 2 years.
  - (b) Where the position is vacant as a result of an employee's absence on Long Service Leave, Leave Without Pay, Maternity Leave or while filling any other short-term vacancy
  - (c) Where the practicality of permanently filling a newly created position is dependent on reaching specifically defined targets in relation to course participation or revenue generation.
- 10.20 Provided that no position can be filled for more than 2 years on a fixed-term basis. This includes a position replacing any other position with substantially similar duties.
- 10.21 At least one month prior to the expiry of a period of fixed-term employment the employee will be advised of the employer's intention to renew, or not to renew employment upon the expiry of the contract. Failure to provide notice in accordance with this sub-clause shall entitle the employee to payment *in lieu* of notice on termination.

#### Casual Employment

- 10.22 A casual employee means an employee who is engaged intermittently for work of an unexpected or casual nature and does not include an employee who could properly be engaged as a part-time or full-time employee.
- 10.23 A casual employee will be paid per hour calculated at the rate of 1/38th of the weekly rate appropriate to the employee's classification. In addition, a loading of 25% of that rate will be paid *in lieu* of entitlement to personal or annual leave.
- 10.24 Casual employees will be paid at the appropriate rate as follows:
  - (a) SCHADS employees for a minimum of three consecutive hours for each shift/engagement.
  - (b) Children's Services Employees for a minimum of 2 consecutive hours for each shift/engagement.
  - (c) ESPSE employees (General Staff) for a minimum of 3 consecutive hours per each shift/engagement.
  - (d) Tutors and Teachers for a minimum period of two hours per engagement (See Classifications at **Schedule 2**).
- 10.25 Casual employees shall:
  - (a) Casual employees are engaged as per the applicable Award.



#### Casual conversion

- 10.26 Casual conversion is as per the applicable Award.
- 10.27 Where the work continues beyond 12 months, a casual employee shall be offered the option of becoming permanent, whether full-time or part-time.
- 10.28 Casual employees will not have their employment terminated to avoid the above option.
- 10.29 A casual employee shall have all continuous service with the employer recognised as service for the purpose of calculating long service leave (see Clause 34).

#### Caring responsibilities - Casual employee

- 10.30 Subject the provision of appropriate supporting evidence (e.g., Medical Certificate etc.), a casual employee is entitled to not be available to attend work, or to leave work:
  - (a) if they need to care for members of their immediate family or household who are sick and require care and support, or who require care due to an unexpected emergency, or the birth of a child; or
  - (b) upon the death of an immediate family or household member.
- 10.31 The employer and the casual employee shall agree on the period for which the casual employee will be entitled to not be available to attend work. In the absence of agreement, the casual employee is entitled not to be available to attend work for up to 48 hours (i.e., two days) per occasion. The casual employee is not entitled to any payment for the period of non-attendance.
- 10.32 An employer must not fail to re-engage a casual employee because the casual employee accessed the entitlements provided for in this Clause.

#### Additional Conditions Applying to Casual Teaching and Tutorial Staff

- 10.33 A casual Tutor or casual Teacher, as defined at **Schedule 2D** of this Agreement may be engaged to deliver a specific Adult and Community Education program that has a set commencement date and a set completion date, set hours of work and no guarantee of continuing employment after the completion date. For permanent part-time employees please see sub-clauses 24.7-24.10.
- 10.34 A Casual Teacher or Casual Tutor shall be classified in accordance with this Agreement.
- 10.35 A casual Teacher or casual Tutor shall not be entitled to payment for any of the holidays prescribed by Clause 32 unless the employee is required to work on such a day and shall not be entitled to paid leave of any kind other than Long Service Leave.

#### Associated Duties

10.36 On appointment of a casual Tutor, the employer shall specify in writing the expectations regarding the amount and nature of any associated duties such as administration, assessment or consultation which are expected to be performed outside delivery contact hours.



- 10.37 A casual **Tutor 1** is not normally required to perform any significant administration, assessment or consultation in conjunction with delivery. A casual Tutor 1 shall therefore be paid all hours required to be worked at the hourly casual rate. Any occasional work outside contact hours will be recorded and paid at the same rate.
- 10.38 A Tutor 2 may be required to perform some administration, and consultation in association with each contact hour of delivery. It is agreed that the extent of associated duties varies considerably and that tutors at this level are not necessarily required to perform significant associated duties.

#### Casual Hourly Rate

10.39 For a **Tutor 2**, the casual hourly rate will be calculated as follows:

- (a) **Hourly rate**: annual salary divided by 261 plus 25%, then divided by 7.6.
- (b) A record must be kept by the employee of hours actually worked as required, whether at the workplace or otherwise, including any incidental approved administration and consultation.
- 10.40 A **Tutor 3/Teacher** will be required to perform significant regular administration, assessment and consultation in association with each contact hour of delivery. There are two options for the calculation of casual rates for Tutor 3 employees, and the option to be used will be determined on appointment of the employee (sub-clause 10.27), depending on the extent of associated duties required in addition to delivery.

#### Casual Contact Rate - Tutor 3/Teacher

- 10.41 The casual contact rate is calculated on the basis that each contact hour of delivery by a tutor shall count as 1.5 hours worked and shall include administration and consultation associated with that delivery. The calculation is as follows:
  - Daily rate: annual salary divided by 261 plus 25%.
  - Hourly rate: daily rate divided by 5.

#### Casual Hourly Rate

- 10.42 Where administration and consultation are not normally required to be associated with delivery by a Tutor 3, the casual hourly rate will be calculated as follows:
  - Hourly rate: annual salary divided by 261 plus 25%, then divided by 7.6.
  - Where the casual hourly rate method is used, a record must be kept by the employee of hours actually worked, whether at the workplace or otherwise, including any incidental approved administration and consultation.

# Sessional Employment

Note: these sub-clauses 10.43 – 10.47 (sessional employment) apply only to tutors and teaching staff members.

10.43 A sessional employee is an employee engaged to work on a full-time or part-time basis for a specified period or periods of not less than four weeks or more than forty weeks in any calendar year.



- 10.44 A sessional employee will be paid at the same rate and be entitled to the same conditions as those prescribed for a full-time or part-time teacher with the same qualifications, experience and teaching load.
- 10.45 On termination of a sessional engagement, an employee may elect to be paid out accrued annual leave entitlements or have the employer preserve them for use during a subsequent sessional engagement; provided that where the leave is not taken within 12 months of it accruing, or the employee is not re-engaged within eight weeks, the accrued entitlement will be paid out.
- 10.46 Subject to the employee's satisfactory conduct and performance, where an equivalent position will exist at the expiry of the employee's period of engagement, the employer will offer a further engagement to the employee.
- 10.47 Where practicable, notice of re-engagement will be given at least two weeks prior to the expiry of the current engagement and the employee will give one week's notice of acceptance to the employer.

#### Job Share

10.48 The employer shall not unreasonably refuse requests from employees who wish to enter into job share arrangements. Such requests will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis by the nominated representative of the employer.

#### Work Site Location

- 10.49 Each employee upon engagement shall be allocated a nominated worksite as a starting point that shall be the point of commencement of their daily duty. Any change in the starting point shall be by agreement.
- 10.50 Where an employee is required to commence the day's work at a site different to their nominated worksite, and where this requires extra travelling time of more than fifteen minutes above the usual commuting time to the usual nominated worksite, such extra travelling time will count as ordinary time worked.
- 10.51 By agreement only, an employee may relocate their place of employment on a permanent or temporary basis, provided that an agreed amount is paid to the employee by way of compensation for any costs incurred as a result of relocation (e.g. additional travel, housing costs) and that all cases of disadvantage are compensated in an agreed manner.

# Term Only Employment - Childcare

- 10.52 An employee in an out-of-school hours care service, or other childcare program that is funded to operate during defined school term times may be employed as a term-time employee to work:
  - only the school education weeks of the year as defined;
  - an average of 38 ordinary hours per week of the school education year; or
  - less than an average of 38 hours per week of the school education year.
- 10.53 All entitlements for term-time employees are no less than those for non-term-time employees, except that no ordinary wages are payable for the weeks the employee is not engaged to work.
- 10.54 Notwithstanding sub-clause 10.54, non-engaged periods count as service for the purposes of accrual of paid annual and personal/carer's leave and wage increments.



- 10.55 Where a public holiday falls on a day on which a term-time employee is normally employed to work, the employee will be paid at the ordinary hourly rate of pay for the number of hours they would ordinarily have worked on that day.
- 10.56 Annual leave is exclusive of any public holiday which may occur during the period of leave provided the employee would have ordinarily been required to work on the day on which the public holiday falls.
- 10.57 Nothing in this clause prevents an employee in a preschool or kindergarten from being employed other than as a term-time only employee.
- 10.58 Where a person employed as at the date of making this Agreement is employed on a contract which provides for payment of salary during non-term times or is employed under an award-based transitional instrument which provides for such payments the provisions of this clause will not have the effect that their contract of employment is changed as a result of this Agreement coming into operation.
- 10.59 The making of this agreement is not intended to prevent other arrangements for staff, who are not required to work during non-term weeks, to be agreed between the employer and majority of employees in a preschool, kindergarten or out-of-school hours care service.

# **SECTION 3 - SALARIES AND CLASSIFICATION**

#### 11. CLASSIFICATION STRUCTURE

- 11.1 The classification structure is contained in **Schedule 2** of this Agreement.
- 11.2 Where a position requires a specific professional qualification, it will be stipulated in the position description.

#### Classification Process

#### New and redesigned positions

- 11.3 New positions will be classified by a Classification Panel consisting of two nominated representatives of the employer.
- 11.4 The process used by the panel shall be as follows:
  - (a) The position description will be written in consultation with the occupant of the position (if the position is not vacant) and the supervisor of the position. When the occupant and supervisor are agreed on content of the proposed Position Description it shall be referred to the Coordinator (or in the case of the Coordinator position, the Chairperson or delegated nominee) for approval. Where the supervisor and occupant are not in agreement the Committee of Management shall determine the issue and the approved position description shall be provided to the Classification Panel. A copy shall be provided to the occupant of the position in question.
  - (b) Evaluation of the new position against the classification descriptors will be carried out using the Position Description and the Classification Descriptors as set out in Schedule 2 of this Agreement.

#### Position review resulting from an application for review by an incumbent

11.5 Where the position is being reviewed as a result of an application for a review being



forwarded in writing by the occupant of the position, the procedures as per sub-clauses 11.4(a) and 11.4(b) above shall be completed within ten working days of the Coordinator (or in the case of the Coordinator position, the Chairperson or delegated nominee) of the organisation receiving a request from an employee for a classification review.

11.6 The employee will be advised in writing by the Coordinator (or in the case of the Coordinator position, the Chairperson or delegated nominee) of the decision of the Classification Panel, and the reasons for the decision, within an additional ten working days of the Classification Panel being convened.

#### Classification disputes

11.7 If an occupant of a position disputes the classification level determined by the above process, the employee may initiate the Disputes Procedure of this Agreement, in which case the position shall be re-evaluated by an agreed independent evaluator trained in Classification Evaluation. The Coordinator (or in the case of the Coordinator position, the Chairperson or delegated nominee) shall then determine the matter by applying the findings of the independent evaluator.

#### Effective date of reclassification

- 11.8 In all instances of reclassification of an incumbent's position:
  - (a) The operative date of the reclassification shall be ten days from the date the position description is agreed by the incumbent and the employee's supervisor, or in cases where the Position Description is not agreed and reclassification occurs, the reclassification shall date from ten days after the date of the employee's written request for a classification review.
  - (b) The incumbent shall be appointed to the reclassified position.
  - (c) In the case of a lower classification being determined, the classification shall date from ten working days after the position description was agreed/signed or acknowledged by the employee and the employee was notified of the lower classification being evaluated by the Classification Panel, whichever date is the later. The employee will be placed on income maintenance until such time as the employee's rate of pay is equalled or is exceeded by salary movements for the new classification.

#### Salary Rates and Classification

11.9 All employees will be paid a salary in accordance with **Schedule 3** as appropriate and shall be classified in accordance with the descriptors appearing in **Schedule 2** as appropriate.

#### Position of Responsibility Allowance for Teachers and Tutors

- 11.10 A Position of Responsibility allowance is payable to a Teacher or Tutor who is required to coordinate a course or program when, in addition to the provisions of sub-clauses 11.13-11.14 the Coordinator of the employing organisation is in receipt of a salary equivalent to, or in excess of, that payable to an employee classified at Level 6 in accordance with Schedule 3A of this agreement.
- 11.11 The allowance will be the difference between the teachers' or the tutors' actual salary and the rate of pay for a person classified at Level 6 increment 1, in accordance with this agreement.
- 11.12 On re-allocating the position of responsibility duties to another employee or in the event that the duties are no longer required to be performed, the teacher/tutor will cease to be entitled to the allowance



#### **Mixed Function Appointments**

- 11.13 A person engaged on a fixed-term or continuing basis to provide administrative or other non-teaching or tutor duties who is also required to provide instruction to students shall have their non-teaching workload determined by the employer in consultation with the employee.
- 11.14 A teacher or tutor's administrative or non-teaching duties should be appropriate to the skill level for the classification of the relevant teaching or tutoring duties.

#### 12. INCREMENTAL PROGRESSION

- 12.1 Progression from one pay point level to the next within a classification is subject to an employee meeting the following criteria:
  - (a) competence at the existing classification level,
  - (b) 12 months experience at that level (or in the case of childcare employees employed in accordance with **Schedule 2C** for 19 hours or less per week, 24 months experience) and in-service training as required; and
  - (c) the acquisition and satisfactory utilisation of new or enhanced skills if required by the employer.
- 12.2 Where an employee is deemed not to have met the requisite competency at their existing level at the time of appraisal, their incremental progression may be deferred for periods of three months at a time provided that:
  - (a) the employee is notified in writing as to the reasons for the deferral;
  - (b) the employee has, in the twelve months leading to the appraisal, been provided with in-service training required to attain a higher pay point; and
  - (c) following any deferral, the employee is provided with the necessary training in order to advance to the next level.
- 12.3 Where an appraisal has been deferred for operational reasons beyond the control of either party and the appraisal subsequently deems the employee to have met the requirements under this Clause, any increase in wage rates will be back paid to the 12-month (or 24 month) anniversary date of the previous incremental progression.
- 12.4 An employee whose incremental advancement has been refused or deferred may seek to have the decision reviewed by lodging a written request through the Dispute and Grievance Resolution Procedure in Clause 9 of this Agreement. If the review is successful, then the incremental advancement will be backdated to the original due date. The review process must be completed within two months of the request for the review being made.

#### 13. CLASSIFICATION OF TUTOR/TEACHER EMPLOYEES

- 13.1 Tutor and Teacher employees shall be classified in accordance with the definitions set out in **Schedule** 2D and paid at the rates shown in **Schedule 3D**. It is noted that historically tutors and teachers' rates of pay were not regulated by an award and that a variety of arrangements existed.
- 13.2 The parties agree that the pay rates set by this Agreement are minimum rates and that, in accordance with Clause 43, no individual shall suffer a loss of pay as a result of this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the payment of higher rates where the employer agrees to do so for reasons such as local labour market competition or skill shortages.



#### 14. PAYMENT OF WAGES

- 14.1 It is not the intent of this Clause to change any existing payment of wages arrangement in existence at the date of registration of this Agreement.
- 14.2 Wages shall be paid fortnightly in each pay week, normally by electronic funds transfer except where mutually agreed to pay by cheque.
- 14.3 Wages shall be paid during working hours on a weekday being not more than five days following the end of the pay period. Provided that this Clause shall not apply if an employer makes a practice of allowing advances to their employees approximating wages due.
- 14.4 Upon termination of employment, wages due to an employee shall be paid on the date of such termination, or forwarded by post, or transferred by electronic funds transfer to the employee's nominated bank account, on the next working day of the payroll administration staff.
  - The employer must pay an employee no later than 7 days after the day on which the employee's employment terminates.
- 14.5 An employer may deduct from amounts due to an employee such amounts as are authorised in writing by such employee.
- 14.6 On or prior to pay day an employer shall state to the employee in writing the total amount of wages to which they are entitled, superannuation, the amount of overtime therein, details of any deductions made there-from, and the net amount being paid to the employee.

#### 15. WAGE INCREASES

- 15.1 All employees covered by this Agreement will be entitled to the following annual wage increases (rates of which are set out in the wage table **Schedule 3**):
  - (a) From the beginning of the first full pay period on or after 1 July 2025, 3% or the National Wage Increase awarded by the Fair Work Commission (FWC), whichever is greater.

# Revised Pay Tables

- 15.2 It is agreed that the Neighbourhood Houses Victoria Inc., Jobs Australia and ACEVic will act on behalf of the parties to this Agreement to circulate any revised pay tables, in consultation with the Unions, and taking account of any relevant external source of advice such as Jobs Australia
- 15.3 Any dispute regarding the production of revised pay tables may be resolved in accordance with the Dispute and Grievance Resolution Procedures at Clause 9 of this Agreement.

# 16. REMUNERATION PACKAGING

- 16.1 Where mutually agreed between the employer and a full-time or part-time individual employee, an employer may introduce remuneration packaging in respect of salary.

  The terms and conditions of such a posterior shall not when visused chiestively, he less
  - The terms and conditions of such a package shall not, when viewed objectively, be less favourable than the entitlements otherwise available under this agreement.
- 16.2 The rate of pay as set out in the relevant **Schedule** (**3A**, **3B**, **3C** or **3D**) shall be used as the basis for the agreed package.



- 16.3 Notwithstanding the remuneration packaging arrangement, the individual's salary as provided in **Schedule 3A**, **3B**, **3C** or **3D** of this Agreement will be used in determining termination payment entitlements (including annual leave and long service leave entitlements) and superannuable salary.
- 16.4 Any salary increases, which are granted to employees under this agreement, shall also apply to the employee who enters into salary packaging arrangements in accordance with this Clause.

# 16.5 The employer will:

- (a) confirm in writing to the employee the current salary payable to the employee under this agreement:
- (b) advise the employee, in writing of their right to choose payment of that salary referred to in the above paragraph instead of utilising salary packaging;
- (c) advise the employee, in writing, that all the conditions of this agreement, other than the salary, will continue to apply;
- (d) advise the employee, in writing, that they should seek independent financial advice prior to entering into a salary packaging arrangement.
- 16.6 Notwithstanding the above provisions, in the event that changes in legislation, determinations or rulings, particularly in respect of an employer's Fringe Benefits Tax exempt status in the case of a Public Benevolent Institution, remove the employer's capacity to maintain the salary packaging arrangements offered to employees under this agreement, the employer shall be entitled to withdraw from the remuneration packaging arrangements by giving the maximum reasonable notice practicable to each affected employee, and where possible at least two months prior to the withdrawal taking place.

#### 17. SUPERANNUATION

- 17.1 The employer shall comply with all obligations relating to payment of occupational superannuation as provided for under the Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992, the Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act 1992, the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 and the Superannuation (Resolution of Complaints) Act 1993 and associated Regulations.
- 17.2 All employees covered by the agreement will receive the Superannuation Guarantee rate for all amounts earned. To avoid doubt no minimum earning threshold applies. (The current Superannuation Guarantee rate is 11.5% and will increase in line with the Superannuation Guarantee Act entitlements).

#### Default fund

17.3 The employer shall provide each employee, and each new employee upon commencement of employment, with information on the funds. The employee shall then have 28 days to complete the information required, the employer shall then forward the employee's details to the employee's choice of fund. In the event that the employee does not select a fund of their choice, the employer will then forward superannuation contributions to the default fund. The default fund for the purposes of this Agreement is HESTA or such other fund as determined by the employer at the time of registration of this agreement.

#### Employer contributions

An employer must make such superannuation contributions to a superannuation fund for the benefit of an employee as will avoid the employer being required to pay the superannuation guarantee charge under superannuation legislation with respect to that employee.



#### Voluntary employee contributions

- 17.4 An employee may make additional voluntary contributions to their chosen fund from their salary and on receiving written authorisation from the employee the employer must commence making contributions to the fund in accordance with the Superannuation Industry Supervision Legislation (SIS).
- 17.5 An employee may adjust the amount the employee has authorised their employer to pay from the wages of the employee from the first of the month following the giving of three months' written notice to their employer.
- 17.6 The employer must pay the amount authorised by the employee no later than 28 days after the end of the month in which the deduction authorised was made.

# SECTION 4 - MANAGING CHANGE, TERMINATION AND REDUNDANCY

#### 18. CONSULTATION ABOUT CHANGE

- 18.1 When management proposes a significant change to work organisation it must first consult with the affected employees about the need for change, the development of any necessary change process, and any specific change proposals.
- 18.2 The consultation process shall ensure that all relevant employees and any consultative committee shall be consulted prior to any final decision about whether change should proceed, and within a timeframe that provides a genuine opportunity for the affected employees to respond to the change proposals.
  - For the purposes of the discussion, the employer must give in writing to the affected employees and their representatives (if any) all relevant information about the changes.
- 18.3 For the purposes of sub-clause 18.1, significant change shall mean and include any change in:
  - termination of employment; or
  - the composition, operation or size of the employer's workforce / staff, including any change in the career structure, mode of employment or promotional opportunities available to staff;
  - any change in the skills required;
  - the elimination of or diminution of job opportunities;
  - alteration to the hours of work;
  - the need for retraining and/or transfer of staff to another work location;
  - the restructuring of job/s and/or the contracting out of any particular service or activity currently performed by the employee.

#### Negotiation about implementing change

- 18.4 If a decision is taken to proceed with a change proposal the management must discuss the implementation of that change with the effected employees, particularly where the change is likely to have an impact on the work, conditions or career prospects of employees. The affected employees are entitled to representation in these negotiations.
- 18.5 Such discussions should include means of avoiding detrimental outcomes for affected employees and may involve an agreement related to redeployment (particularly in the case of potential redundancy), relocation and/or retraining.
- 18.6 Where changes are likely to lead to position(s) becoming redundant, the employer shall



comply with the provisions for redundancy prescribed in this agreement.

#### Change to regular roster or ordinary hours of work

- 18.7 For a change to regular roster or ordinary hours of work the employer must notify the relevant employees of the proposed change; and sub-clauses 18.8 to 18.11 apply.
- 18.8 The relevant employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term.
- 18.9 If a relevant employee appoints, or relevant employees appoint, a representative for the purposes of consultation; and the employee or employees advise the employer of the identity of the representative; the employer must recognise the representative.
- 18.10 As soon as practicable after proposing to introduce the change, the employer must:
  - (a) discuss with the relevant employees the introduction of the change; and for the purposes of the discussion provide to the relevant employees:
    - all relevant information about the change, including the nature of the change;
       and
    - information about what the employer reasonably believes will be the effects of the change on the employees; and
    - information about any other matters that the employer reasonably believes are likely to affect the employees;
  - (b) invite the relevant employees to give their views about the impact of the change (including any impact in relation to their family or caring responsibilities).
  - (c) However, the employer is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant employees.
- 18.11 The employer must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the change by the relevant employees.
- 18.12 In this Clause: "**relevant employees**" means the employees who may be affected by a change referred to in sub-clause 18.3.

# 19. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

#### Notice of termination by employer

- 19.1 In order to terminate the employment of an employee, by the employer, in accordance with the table below, except that in the case of termination of employment of an employee during the minimum employment period, the notice period shall be one week.
- 19.2 In addition to the notice in sub-clause 19.1 employees over 45 years of age at the time of the giving of the notice with not less than two years' continuous service are entitled to an additional week's notice.
- 19.3 Payment *in lieu* of the prescribed notice in sub-clauses 19.1 and 19.2 must be made if the appropriate notice period is not required to be worked. Provided that employment may be terminated by the employee working part of the required period of notice and by the employer making payment for the remainder of the period of notice.
- 19.4 The required amount of payment *in lieu* of notice must equal or exceed the total of all amounts that, if the employee's employment had continued until the end of the required period of notice, the employer would have become liable to pay to the employee because



of the employment continuing during that period. That total must be calculated on the basis of:

- (a) the employee's ordinary hours of work (even if not standard hours); and
- (b) the amounts ordinarily payable to the employee in respect of those hours, including (for example) allowances, loading and penalties; and
- (c) any other amounts payable under the employee's contract of employment.
- 19.5 The period of notice in this Clause does not apply:
  - (a) in the case of dismissal for serious misconduct;
  - (b) to employees engaged for a specific period of time or for a specific task or tasks;
  - (c) to trainees whose employment under a traineeship agreement or an approved traineeship is for a specified period or is, for any other reason, limited to the duration of the agreement; or
  - (d) to casual employees.

#### 19.6 'Continuous service' means all periods of:

- (a) part-time, full time and/or casual employment with the employer; and/or
- (b) service with another employer which has been recognised as service for the purposes of calculating Long Service Leave entitlements.

#### Provided:

- (c) that there is no break in the continuity of such service that exceeds three (3) months
- (d) that any period of approved leave with or without pay does not constitute a break in the continuity of service.
- (e) TOIL accrued but not taken on termination must be paid out at the applicable overtime rate.

#### Notice of termination by an employee

19.7 The notice of termination required to be given by an employee is the same as that required of an employer, save and except that there is no requirement on the employee to give additional notice based on the age of the employee concerned.

#### Table 1—Period of notice

Column 1 Employee's period of continuous service with the employer at the end of the day the notice is given	Column 2 Period of notice
Not more than 1 year	1 week
More than 1 year but not more than 3 years	2 weeks
More than 3 years but not more than 5 years	3 weeks
More than 5 years	4 weeks

19.8 If an employee, without the express agreement of the employer, fails to give the notice specified in sub-clause 19.7 the employer is not obliged to make payment *in lieu* of the balance of the notice period that was not worked. No deduction may be made from wages owing or accrued entitlements.

#### Job search entitlement



19.9 Where an employer has given notice of termination to an employee, an employee shall be allowed up to one day's time off without loss of pay for the purpose of seeking other employment. The time off shall be taken at times that are convenient to the employee after consultation with the employer.

#### Transmission of business

- 19.10 Where a business is transmitted from one employer to another, as set out in sub-clause 21.19 (Redundancy), the period of continuous service that the employee had with the transmittor or any prior transmittor is deemed to be service with the transmittee and taken into account when calculating notice of termination.
- 19.11 However, an employee shall not be entitled to notice of termination or payment *in lieu* of notice for any period of continuous service in respect of which notice has already been given or paid for.

#### 20. REDUNDANCY

#### **Definitions**

- 20.1 "Acceptable alternative employment" means employment in which the terms and conditions are substantially similar and no less favourable, considered on an overall basis, than the terms and conditions applicable to the employee at the time of ceasing employment and which recognises the period of continuous service which the employee had with the employer to be continuous service of the employee.
- 20.2 "Business" means the business of the employer (including externally funded programs), or occupation as conducted by the employer who is a respondent to this Agreement and includes part of any such business.
- 20.3 "Redundancy" means an employer has made a definite decision, due to operational requirements, that the employer no longer wishes the job the employee has been doing done by anyone and that decision leads to the termination of employment of the employee, except where this is due to the ordinary and customary turnover of labour.
- 20.4 **"Small employer"** means an employer who employs fewer than 15 employees, including long term casuals, as defined by Section 23 of *the Fair Work Act* 2009.
- 20.5 **"Transmission"** means transfer, conveyance, assignment or succession whether by agreement or by operation of law and transmitted has a corresponding meaning.
- 20.6 **"Week's pay"** means the ordinary time rate of pay for the employee concerned provided that such rate shall exclude:
  - overtime;
  - penalty rates;
  - disability allowances;
  - shift allowances;
  - special rates;
  - · fares and travelling time allowances;
  - bonuses; and
  - any other ancillary payments of a like nature.

#### **Process**

20.7 Prior to any final decision regarding redundancy, the employer will consult with potentially affected staff in accordance with Clause 18 of this Agreement



20.8 Transfer to lower paid duties. Where an employee is transferred to lower paid duties by reason of redundancy the same period of notice must be given as the employee would have been entitled to if the employment had been terminated. The employer may, at the employer's option, make payment *in lieu* thereof of an amount equal to the difference between the former ordinary rate of pay and the new ordinary time rate for the number of weeks of notice still owing.

# Severance pay

# 20.9 Severance pay - other than employees of a small employer

An employee, other than an employee of a small employer (as defined at sub-clause 20.4) whose employment is terminated by reason of redundancy is entitled to the following amount of severance pay in respect of a period of continuous service:

Period of continuous service	Severance pay	
Less than 1 year	Nil	
1 year and less than 2 years	4 weeks' pay*	
2 years and less than 3 years	6 weeks' pay	
3 years and less than 4 years	7 weeks' pay	
4 years and less than 5 years	8 weeks' pay	
5 years and less than 6 years	10 weeks' pay	
6 years and less than 7 years	11 weeks' pay	
7 years and less than 8 years	13 weeks' pay	
8 years and less than 9 years	14 weeks' pay	
9 years and over	16 weeks' pay	

<sup>\*</sup> Week's pay is defined in sub-clause 20.6

#### 20.10 Severance pay - employees of a small employer

An employee of a small employer (as defined at 20.4) whose employment is terminated by reason of redundancy is entitled to the following amount of severance pay in respect of a period of continuous service:

Period of continuous service	Severance pay	
Less than 1 year	Nil	
1 year and less than 2 years	4 weeks' pay*	
2 years and less than 3 years	6 weeks' pay	
3 years and less than 4 years	7 weeks' pay	
4 years and over	8 weeks' pay	

<sup>\*</sup> Week's pay is defined in sub-clause 20.6

- 20.11 Provided that the severance payments shall not exceed the amount which the employee would have earned if employment with the employer had proceeded to the employee's normal retirement date.
- 20.12 Continuity of service shall be calculated in the manner prescribed by sub-clause 20.6



#### Employee leaving during notice period

20.13 An employee given notice of termination in circumstances of redundancy may terminate their employment during the period of notice set out in sub-clauses 19.1 – 19.5 (Notice of termination by employer.) In this circumstance the employee will be entitled to receive the benefits and payments they would have received under this clause had they remained with the employer until the expiry of the notice but will not be entitled to payment *in lieu* of notice.

#### Alternative employment

- 20.14 An employer, in a particular redundancy case, may make an application to FWC to have the general severance pay prescription varied if the employer obtains acceptable alternative employment for an employee.
- 20.15 This provision does not apply in circumstances involving transmission of business as set in sub-clause 20.19.

#### Job search entitlement

- 20.16 During the period of notice of termination given by the employer in accordance with subclauses 19.1-19.5, an employee shall be allowed up to one day's time off without loss of pay during each week of notice for the purpose of seeking other employment.
- 20.17 If the employee has been allowed paid leave for more than one day during the notice period for the purpose of seeking other employment, the employee shall, at the request of the employer, be required to produce proof of attendance at an interview or he or she shall not receive payment for the time absent. For this purpose, a statutory declaration will be sufficient.
- 20.18 The job search entitlements under this subclause apply *in lieu* of the provisions of sub-clause 19.9.

#### Transmission of business

- 20.19 The provisions of this clause are not applicable where a business is before or after the date of this Agreement, transmitted from an employer (in this subclause called the transmitter) to another employer (in this subclause called the transmittee), in any of the following circumstances:
  - (a) Where the employee accepts employment with the transmittee which recognises the period of continuous service which the employee had with the transmittor and any prior transmittor to be continuous service of the employee with the transmit
  - (b) Where the employee rejects an offer of employment with the transmittee:
    - in which the terms and conditions are substantially similar and no less favourable, considered on an overall basis, than the terms and conditions applicable to the employee at the time of ceasing employment with the transmittor; and
    - which recognises the period of continuous service which the employee had with the transmittor and any prior transmittor to be continuous service of the employee with the transmittee.



#### Employees exempted from redundancy provisions

20.20 This Clause does not apply to:

- employees terminated as a consequence of serious misconduct that justifies dismissal without notice;
- probationary employees;
- trainees;
- employees engaged for a specific period of time or for a specified task or tasks;
   or
- casual employees.
- 20.21 Provided that sub-clause 21.17-21.19 shall not exempt employees, whose continued employment is dependent on recurrent Government or other funding periods from an entitlement to receive a redundancy payment in accordance with Clause 18 in the event that such funding ceases.

#### Redundancy disputes

- 20.22 Sub-clauses 20.23 and 20.24 impose additional obligations on an employer where an employer contemplates termination of employment due to redundancy and a dispute arises (a redundancy dispute). These additional obligations do not apply to employers who employ fewer than 15 employees.
- 20.23 Where a redundancy dispute arises, and if it has not already done so, an employer must provide affected employees and their representatives (if requested by any affected employee) in good time, with relevant information including:
  - the reasons for any proposed redundancy.
  - the number and categories of workers likely to be affected; and
  - the period over which any proposed redundancies are intended to be carried out.
- 20.24 Where a redundancy dispute arises and discussions occur in accordance with this clause the employer will, as early as possible, consult on measures taken to avert or to minimise any proposed redundancies and measures to mitigate the adverse effects of any proposed redundancies on the employees concerned.

#### **SECTION 5 - ALLOWANCES**

#### 21. ALLOWANCES

Note: The following allowances are payable to an employee in addition to the employee's classification rate.

# Overnight Meals and Accommodation Reimbursement and Incidentals Allowance

21.1 Where the employer requires an employee to be absent overnight, due to work commitments, the employee shall be reimbursed the cost of accommodation and meals up to the maximum rates indicated in **Schedule 4**. In addition, the incidentals allowance specified in **Schedule 4** shall be payable for each day's absence.

#### Meals Allowance

21.2 Where the employer requires an employee to be absent from his/her designated workplace



- and travel from the employee's designated workplace in excess of a radius of 100km, the cost of a meal shall be reimbursed up to the maxima as follows: -
- 21.3 Depart prior to or at 7.00 am and returns to the workplace between 11am and 12 noon, Breakfast Allowance as per **Schedule 4**.
- 21.4 Depart between 11am and 12 noon and returns to the workplace after 3.00 pm, Lunch Allowance as per **Schedule 4.**
- 21.5 Depart on or after 3pm and return to the employee's place of residence or the employee's designated workplace after 7pm, Dinner Allowance as per **Schedule 4**.
- 21.6 Payment may be made in advance subject to the agreement of the coordinator of the organisation.

## Travel Allowance

21.7 Where the employer requires an employee to travel by public transport the actual cost of the fare will be reimbursed by the employer on production of the ticket for that public transport usage.

## Use of Private Motor Vehicle for the Business of the Employer

- 21.8 An employee may use their private motor vehicle for work-related travel only with the prior approval of the employer.
- 21.9 Where a private motor vehicle is being used in the performance of duties the employee shall be paid in accordance with the Private Vehicle Reimbursement Rates as prescribed by **Schedule 4**.

## Telephone Allowance

21.10 Where an employer requires an employee to install and/or maintain a telephone for the purpose of being placed on 'on-call', (as defined in sub-clauses 21.17- 21.19 (On-call allowance), the employer shall reimburse an agreed proportion of the installation costs and subsequent regular rental charges on production of receipted accounts.

## First Aid Allowance

21.11 Where an employer appoints an employee to act as a first aid person pursuant to the WorkSafe "Code of Practice First Aid in the Workplace", and such employee has undertaken a first aid course and is the holder of a current recognised first aid qualification such as a certificate from the St John's Ambulance, the Australian Red Cross or similar body, the employer shall pay the employee a weekly allowance as shown at **Schedule 4**. This applies *pro rata* for part-time employees.

## **Higher Duties Allowance**

- 21.12 Where an employee is authorised to perform the duties of a position classified above the level of their position for a period longer than five consecutive working days, they must be paid a higher duties allowance from the date of assignment. The allowance will increase the remuneration and entitlements to the salary applying to the first level of the level of the higher position.
- 21.13 An employee in receipt of a higher duties allowance at the time of commencement of sick leave, annual leave, or accident compensation leave will continue to be paid that allowance until the notified period of assignment expires, or the incumbent returns, whichever occurs first.



- 21.14 An employee who has been in receipt of a higher duties allowance for a period exceeding twelve months, either continuously or in aggregate, is entitled to an increase in the allowance equivalent to the increments appropriate to the higher position.
- 21.15 Allowances paid under this clause shall be regarded as salary for the purposes of calculating payment for overtime worked during the period of assignment.
- 21.16 An employee who has been in receipt of a higher duties allowance for a period exceeding twelve months immediately prior to commencing Long Service Leave must be paid that allowance during the period of such leave.

#### On-Call Allowance

- 21.17 An employee required by the employer to be on-call (i.e., available to be recalled for duty, for the provision of support, information and/or guidance to clients and workers) shall be paid an allowance in accordance with **Schedule 4** of this agreement in respect to any 24-hour period or part thereof during which the employee is on-call.
- 21.18 The on-call allowance provides compensation for the requirement that the employee modify their after-hours activities in the reasonable expectation that they are likely to be called to provide support, information and/or guidance. On call allowance is not payable where an employee is simply listed as an emergency contact but there is no expectation of regular contacts and therefore no specific requirement that the employee modify their after-hours activities in order to be available for provision of support, information and/or guidance.
- 21.19 The allowance shall be increased in accordance with **Schedule 4** in respect to any other 24-hour period or part thereof or any public holiday or part thereof.

## Re-Call Allowance

- 21.20 In the event of an employee being recalled to duty for any period during an off-duty period such employee shall be paid from the time of receiving recall until the time of finishing such recall duty with a minimum of one hour's payment for such recall at the following rates:
  - (a) Within a spread of twelve hours from the commencement of the last previous period of ordinary duty time and a half.
  - (b) Outside a spread of twelve hours from the commencement of the last previous period of ordinary duty double time.
  - (c) On days observed as public holidays and on Rostered Days Off / TOIL days double time.
- 21.21 Provided that if the employee who is on-call is recalled and does not have an uninterrupted break of six hours between midnight and the time of commencement the next period of ordinary duty they shall be entitled to time off of six hours from the time of finishing the last recall and the time of commencing his/her next period of duty without loss of pay.

## **Uniforms and Protective Clothing**

21.22 Where it is necessary that an employee wears a uniform or protective clothing on duty, the employer shall reimburse the employee for the cost of purchasing, laundering and maintaining such clothing. The provisions of this clause do not apply where the clothing is supplied to the employee and is laundered at the expense of the employer.

## Out of Pocket Expenses

21.23 Employees who have obtained prior approval from their immediate supervisor will be reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the course of their employment,



upon production of receipts.

#### 23 ACCIDENT MAKE-UP PAY

- 23.1 The employer shall pay an employee accident make-up payment where the employee receives an injury for which weekly payment of compensation is payable by or on behalf of the employer pursuant to the provisions of the appropriate *Workplace Injury Rehabilitation Compensation Act* 2013 or Ordinance as amended from time to time.
- 23.2 Accident make-up payment means a weekly payment of an amount being the difference between the weekly amount of compensation paid to the employee pursuant to the said appropriate *Workplace Injury Rehabilitation Compensation Act* 2013 or Ordinance and the employee's appropriate Agreement rate, or, where the incapacity is for a lesser period than one week, the difference between the amount of compensation and the said Agreement rate for that period.
- 23.3 The employer shall pay, or cause to be paid, accident make-up payment during the incapacity of the employee within the meaning of the said appropriate Act or Ordinance until such incapacity ceases or until the expiration of a period of thirty-nine (39) weeks from the date of injury, payment prescribed shall apply only in respect of an incapacity which results from an injury which is current during the first pay period commencing on or after or which occurs subsequent to that pay period.
- 23.4 The liability of the employer to pay make-up payment in accordance with this Clause shall arise as at the date of the injury or accident in respect of which compensation is payable under the said appropriate Act or Ordinance, and the termination of the employee's employment for any reason during the period of any incapacity shall in no way affect the liability of the employer to pay accident make-up payment as provided in this Clause.
- 23.5 In the event that the employee receives a lump sum in redemption of weekly payments under the appropriate Act or Ordinance, the liability of the employer to pay accident make-up payment as herein provided shall cease from the date of such redemption.

## **SECTION 6 - HOURS OF WORK**

#### 24 HOURS OF WORK

24.1 The ordinary hours of work for each employee must be stipulated pursuant to sub-clauses 24.2-24.4 or 24.5-24.6 or 24.7-24.10 on engagement or fixed-term renewal.

## Ordinary hours - employees classified in accordance with Schedules 2A and 2B.

- 24.2 These sub-clauses 24.2-24.4 apply to employees, other than casual tutors and teachers as defined in Clause 14, who perform work described by the classification structures contained in **Schedule 2A** Adult Community Education (ESPSE Award) employees, or **Schedule 2B** Neighbourhood House (SCHADS Award) employees.
- 24.3 Ordinary hours are defined as those hours worked continually, except for meal breaks, on any or all of the days from Monday to Friday (inclusive) between 8.00 a.m. and 6.00 p.m.
- 24.4 Notwithstanding clause 24.2, an employee may be required to work until 8.00 p.m. up to a maximum of 4 weekdays within a 28-day period. In this case there is no entitlement to overtime provisions provided that the hours worked by the employee are not in excess of 10 hours.



## Ordinary hours - employees classified in accordance with Schedule 2C.

- 24.5 This clause applies to employees who perform work described by the classification structure contained in **Schedule 2C** Children's Service (Children's Services Award) Employees
- 24.6 Ordinary hours are defined as those hours worked continually, except for meal breaks, on any or all of the days from Monday to Friday (inclusive) between 6.30 a.m. and 6.30 p.m.

## Ordinary hours of work—teachers and tutor/instructors Schedule 2D

- 24.7 For the purposes of the National Employment Standards (NES), the ordinary hours of work for an ongoing or fixed-term contract full-time teacher or tutor are 38 per week [pro-rata for part-time teachers or tutors].
- 24.8 The employer will be entitled to annualise the hours of work in such a manner that they are averaged over 12 months, or where the contract of employment is for less than a calendar year, for the period of employment.
- 24.9 For the purpose of determining the number of hours worked by a teacher or tutor the following will apply:
  - each contact hour of teaching delivery by a Tutor 3/Teacher will count as 1.5 hours of work, including administration, assessment and consultation; and
  - each contact hour of delivery by a Tutor 1 or 2 will count as 1.25 hours of work, including administration, assessment and consultation. This Clause applies to permanent part-time tutors. For casual tutors conditions see sub-10.34-10.43.
- 24.10 Where a member of the teaching staff is working annualised hours, the provisions of clause 27.9 Overtime will not apply, save that such an employee will be entitled to an unpaid meal break of not less than 30 minutes after five hours of work.

## Full-time hours

24.11 The ordinary hours of work for any full-time employee cannot exceed an average of 38 hours per week over a twelve-month period to be worked on one of the following bases:

WORK CYCLE (Consecutive Days)	NUMBER OF HOURS
Not exceeding 7 days	38
Not exceeding 14 days	76
Not exceeding 28 days	152

## Meal Breaks

24.12 An employee shall not be required to work more than five hours continuously without an unpaid meal interval of not less than 30 minutes and not more than 60 minutes. Such meal interval shall not be counted as time worked, and the employee shall be free of all duty during such interval.

#### Tea breaks

- (a) Every employee will be entitled to a paid 10-minute tea break for each four hours worked at a time to be agreed between the employer and employee.
- (b) Tea breaks will count as time worked.

## 25 TIME OFF IN LIEU (TOIL) FOR FLEXIBLE HOURS ARRANGEMENTS AND OVERTIME

- 25.1 There are two distinct circumstances in which an employee may accrue time off *in lieu* of payment for time worked (TOIL) TOIL accrued by working flexible hours, at the initiative of the employee (within parameters outlined in Clause 26) and TOIL accrued by working overtime (see Clause 27) authorised by or at the direction of the employer. Different arrangements apply for TOIL accrued by these two different methods.
- 25.2 The employer will take reasonable steps to ensure that employees are not working excessive extra hours on a regular basis such that their workload is regularly greater than defined in their position description.

#### 26 FLEXIBLE HOURS ARRANGEMENTS

- 26.1 The hours of work for each employee will be set in accordance with their contract of employment and may be varied by agreement with the employer.
- 26.2 Flexibility of hours will be designated in the contract of each employee, and will be in accordance with staffing requirements. This is to ensure service delivery is not negatively affected and is covered during normal operating hours of the employer.
- 26.3 Staff may elect, within the parameters outlined, to work additional hours as flexible hours and accrue time off *in lieu* of payment (TOIL). TOIL accrued at the initiative of the employee as flexible hours are not overtime. If not taken, such TOIL will be paid at ordinary hours rates.
- 26.4 Flexible extra hours may only be worked within the ordinary spread of hours prescribed by sub-clauses 24.2-24.4 and 24.5-24-6 of this Agreement. (i.e. 8.00am 6.00pm ACE employees (ESPSE) and NH employees (SCHADS). 6.00am-6.30pm Children's Services employees)
- 26.5 Flexible extra hours may only be worked to make up a maximum of 10 hours in a day. e.g. If the employee normally works 6 hours a day, then they could work up to 4 flexible extra hours on any one day.
- 26.6 Employees are expected to work in a way which ensures adequate service delivery during normal operating hours. It is the responsibility of the employee to ensure that any variation in their hours does not affect the level of service provided to clients. If taking flex time employees must get prior approval from coordinator/manager.

## TOIL for flexible hours accrue on an hour for hour basis for the time worked

26.7 TOIL for flexible hours may accrue to a maximum of 3 days at the normal rostered hours of the employee, unless it is agreed in writing that a higher maximum may accrue including for the purpose of being used during a period of shutdown of the workplace such as at Christmas or other programmed breaks. If no arrangement has been made by the employee to use the accrued TOIL in excess of 40% of their normal weekly hours or other agreed maximum, the employer may direct that it be taken at a time of the employer's choosing or may authorize that it be paid out. TOIL for flexible hours which is paid out on termination will be at the ordinary time rate.

## 27. OVERTIME

- 27.1 Where an employee is authorised by the employer to work overtime as provided in this clause the employee may elect, with the agreement of the employer, to be credited with TOIL instead of payment for such overtime worked.
  - e.g. the NH runs an annual weekend community festival. The board of



management asks a staff member to work during the festival on a Friday evening, a Saturday and Sunday. The staff member is rostered on 6-8pm on Friday, 9am-5pm on Saturday and 9am-2pm on Sunday for a total of 15 hours These hours are credited in accordance with overtime penalty rates ie Friday 2 hours x 1.5 plus Saturday and Sunday13 hours x 2 = Total TOIL credits of 29 hours. The employee arranged to take these hours off two weeks after the festival

Time off instead of payment for overtime

- (a) An employee and employer may agree in writing to the employee taking time off instead of being paid for a particular amount of overtime that has been worked by the employee.
- (b) Any amount of overtime that has been worked by an employee in a particular pay period and that is to be taken as time off instead of the employee being paid for it must be the subject of a separate agreement.
- (c) The period of time off that an employee is entitled to take is the same as the number of overtime hours worked.
- (d) Time off must be taken:
  - (i) within the period of 3 months after the overtime is worked; and
  - (ii) at a time or times within that period of 3 months agreed by the employee and employer.
- 27.2 The calculation of overtime TOIL credits shall be in accordance with the overtime penalty rates as referred to in sub-clause 27.9
- 27.3 If accrued overtime TOIL exceeds three (3) days at the normal rostered hours of the employee and no arrangement has been made to take the TOIL, the employer may direct that the overtime TOIL credit be reduced to a maximum of three (3) days and is either taken at a mutually suitable time or paid out.
- 27.4 TOIL for overtime must be taken within three months of the overtime being worked at a time agreed to by the staff member and their supervisor
- 27.5 If TOIL for overtime is not taken within the (three month) period it will be paid out.
- 27.6 TOIL accrued but not taken on termination must be paid out.
- 27.7 Subject to sub-clause 27.8, an employer may require an employee to work reasonable overtime at overtime rates.
- 27.8 An employee may refuse to work overtime in circumstances where the working of such overtime would result in the employee working hours which are unreasonable having regard to:
  - Any risk to employee's health and safety;
  - The employees' personal circumstances including any family responsibilities;
  - The need of the workplace or enterprise;
  - The notice (if any) given by the employer of the overtime and by the employee of their intention to refuse it; and
  - Any other relevant matter.
- 27.9 The following overtime rates shall be paid for all work done:

Overtime Worked	Overtime Rate
Hours in excess of those defined as ordinary hours. See clause 24 for ordinary hours definitions	Time and a half for the first two hours and double time thereafter
Hours worked on a Saturday and Sunday	Double time
Where people are employed to work on a 28-day work cycle - hours in excess of 10 in one day	Time and a half for the first two hours and double time thereafter. Hours worked on Sunday - double time.

- 27.10 When overtime work is necessary it shall, wherever reasonably practicable, be so arranged that employees have at least ten consecutive hours off duty between the work of successive shifts.
- 27.11 An employee who works so much overtime between the termination of his/her last previous rostered ordinary hours of duty and the commencement of his/her next succeeding rostered period of duty that they would not have at least ten consecutive hours off duty between those times, shall, subject to this paragraph, be released after completion of such overtime worked until they have had ten consecutive hours off duty without loss of pay for rostered ordinary hours occurring during such absences.
- 27.12 An employee who does not receive at least ten consecutive hours off duty between the termination of their last previous rostered ordinary hours of duty and the commencement of his/her next succeeding rostered period of duty shall also be subject to the provisions of this clause.

## Overtime Meal Breaks and Allowance

- 27.13 An employee required to work more than one hour after their ordinary finishing time shall be paid a meal allowance at the rate shown at **Schedule 4**.
- 27.14 When an employee is required to work more than five hours' overtime on a Saturday, Sunday, Public Holiday or on a rostered day off, a meal allowance is payable in accordance with **Schedule 4**.
- 27.15 An employee shall be paid a meal allowance in accordance with **Schedule 4** when recalled to duty outside of usual working hours for a period in excess of two hours.
- 27.16 The provisions of this clause shall not apply where a suitable meal is provided.

## 28 REST PERIODS

28.1 At times suitable to the employer, two rest periods of ten minutes each shall be given to each employee during each full-time day of ordinary rostered hours and shall be counted as time worked. This applies pro rata for part-time staff doing less than 7.6 hours on any one day. ie where an employee works up to five hours per day, they are entitled to one break and where working more than five hours per day, two breaks.

## 29 PREPARATION TIME FOR CHILDCARE WORKERS

29.1. This Clause applies to employees who perform work described by the classification structure contained in **Schedule 2C** Children's Services (former Children's Services Award) Employees

A qualified full-time employee at Level 4 or above who is appointed by the employer to be



responsible for the planning and implementation of the planned program for the children in the Centre shall be entitled to two hours per week preparation time. Such time shall be taken at a time agreed by the employer and shall be free from other duties.

## SECTION 7 - LEAVE AND PUBLIC HOLIDAYS

## 30. ANNUAL LEAVE AND LEAVE LOADING

#### Period of leave

- 30.1 Employees shall be entitled to annual leave on full pay for a period equal to four working weeks for each continuous twelve months' service with an employer. Annual leave will accrue on a *pro rata* basis.
- 30.2 Employees shall be entitled to an additional three (3) days ex-gratia annual leave to be taken at a time agreed between the employer and employee, for the life of this agreement.
  - 30.2.1 Ex-gratia leave is treated as though the person worked on the days the ex-gratia leave was used, and;
  - 30.2.2 is accrued and accessed pro-rata based on the ordinary weekly hours worked, and:
  - 30.2.3 is not accessible until 3 months of continuous employment has been completed, and;
  - 30.2.4 cannot be taken consecutively without 3 months' notice or by special permission of the committee (or delegated authority), and;
  - 30.2.5 is non-accruing over multiple periods, that is, they must either be used in the period accrued, or lost, and:
  - 30.2.6 accrue at the beginning of the financial reporting period of the organisation, financial or calendar year. Where the organisation changes the reporting period the renewal time would be brought forward not pushed back and employees must be advised at least 3 months before the change to enable access to existing entitlements, and:
  - 30.2.6 accrues other leave and superannuation as though the ordinary hours for the day were worked, and;
  - 30.2.7 does not attract leave loading of any sort, and;
  - 30.2.8 will not be payable on termination. As with subsection 30.25 above, the entitlement is either accessed during employment as per the terms herein or lost.
  - 30.2.9 is available to permanent full time, part-time and fixed term employees and not to casuals

## Annual leave exclusive of public holidays

30.3 The annual leave prescribed in 30.1 shall be exclusive of any of the holidays prescribed in Clause 32 (Public holidays) and if any such holiday falls within an employee's period of annual leave and is observed on a day on which in the case of an employee would have been an ordinary working day there shall be added to the period of annual leave time equivalent to the ordinary time which the employee would have worked if such day had not



been a holiday.

#### Leave to be taken

- 30.4 The annual leave provided for in this Clause shall be allowed and shall be taken and except as provided by sub-clause 30.11, payment shall not be made or accepted *in lieu* of annual leave.
- 30.5 The payment of wages during annual leave shall normally be in accordance with the usual pay cycle, provided that an employee may request that payment be made on the commencement of the leave.

## Time of taking leave

30.6 Annual leave shall be given at a time determined by mutual agreement between the employer and the employee within a period not exceeding two years from the date when the right to annual leave accrued; provided that such annual leave may be deferred by mutual agreement in writing between employer and employee. Provided that a fixed-term employee may be required to take annual leave during the term of their fixed-term appointment.

## Management of leave accruals

- 30.7 Annual leave shall generally be taken at a mutually agreed time and shall be cumulative from year to year. Annual Leave is generally taken in blocks of time but may be taken in up to 5 single days per year. An employee and employer may agree to defer payment of the annual leave loading in respect of single day absences, until at least five consecutive annual leave days are taken.
- 30.8 Annual leave accruals will be monitored by the relevant supervisor and discussed at least on an annual basis, usually at the same time as the annual performance review. Where an employee has accrued over four weeks' leave, the employee and their supervisor shall attempt to reach an agreement about a plan for the time for taking leave over the next twelve months, in order to keep accruals below six weeks where practicable.
- 30.9 The intention is that normally employees will take four weeks' annual leave each year.

  Therefore, extended periods of leave of more than four weeks at a time should be rare.

  Approval for extended periods of leave will be on the basis of forward planning and subject to operational requirements and budget, or in unusual circumstances.
- 30.10 Where the accrued annual leave is greater than eight weeks and agreement on taking the leave has not been reached, the employer may, with at least four weeks' notice, direct the employee to take sufficient leave to reduce the accrual to six weeks.

## Proportionate leave

30.11 Where the employment of any employee is terminated at the end of a period of employment of less than twelve months the employer shall pay to the employee in addition to all other amounts due to an employee, an amount equal to 1/12th of their ordinary pay for that period of employment.

## Sickness during annual leave

30.12 Where an employee becomes sick whilst on annual leave on days on which they would otherwise have worked, and immediately forwards to the employer a certificate of a legally qualified medical practitioner or other relevant practitioner, or a statutory declaration, as evidence of being unfit for work then the number of those days specified in the certificate or statutory declaration shall be deducted from any sick leave entitlement standing to the



employee's credit, and shall be re-credited to his/her annual leave entitlement. If annual leave loading as provided for in sub-clause 30.18-30.19 has been paid in respect of sick days referred to in this sub-clause, such leave loading shall not be re-credited.

## Christmas - New Year Closedown

- 30.13 Subject to sub-clauses 30.14 and 30.15, an employee may be directed to use annual leave or accrued time off *in lieu* for days which are not public holidays where the employer shuts down for the period between Christmas Day and New Year's Day.
- 30.14 Provided that an employer may at their discretion agree to grant some or all of those days as additional special paid leave.
- 30.15 Where a majority of staff employed in accordance with **Schedule 2A** and **3A** Adult Community Education Employees agree at the employer's request to work on Easter Tuesday, such staff shall be entitled to two (2) days paid special leave be taken during the Christmas New Year's Shutdown period.
- 30.16 Staff employed in accordance with **Schedule 2B** and **3B** Neighbourhood Houses (SCHADS Award) employees shall be entitled to one day of special paid leave during the period of office closure.

#### Payment for period of leave

30.17 Each employee before going on leave shall be paid the amount of wage they would have received in respect of the ordinary time which they would have worked had they not been on leave during the relevant periods. For the purpose of this sub-clause and sub-clause 29.1 wages shall be at the rate prescribed by the relevant part of **Schedule 3** for the classification in which the employee was ordinarily employed immediately prior to the commencement of their leave.

## Annual Leave Loading

- 30.18 In addition to the annual leave prescribed by sub-clause 30.1, an annual leave loading of 17.5% shall be paid to an employee when proceeding on annual leave. Provided that, by agreement between the employer and a majority of employees, the annual leave loading may be paid once annually on a date fixed by agreement. Where leave loading is paid once annually, the remuneration for the purposes of calculating this loading is deemed to be the salary of the employee as at that agreed date.
- 30.19 The annual leave loading prescribed in sub- clause 30.18 shall apply to proportionate payment of leave on termination of employment.

## Proportionate leave on termination

30.20 If an employee leaves the employment of the employer or their employment is terminated by the employer; the employee shall be paid all leave entitlements accrued at the time of termination.

## 31 PURCHASED LEAVE

- 31.1 In addition to other elements of this Agreement that are intended to assist employees to achieve their desired work/life balance, the parties have agreed to introduce a purchased leave scheme.
- 31.2 The purchased leave scheme enables employees to access between one and eight whole



weeks additional leave per year. The leave is 'purchased' through salary deductions that are averaged over the entire year to ensure that a standard rate is received each pay period. Purchased leave will not affect entitlements to other forms of leave. No leave loading is payable on the leave purchased.

- 31.3 Employees' participation in the scheme is voluntary, and subject to sub-clause 31.4. No existing employee will be required by their employer to work under the scheme.
- 31.4 Approval of any application to participate in the scheme is at the discretion of the employer.

## Eligibility and Restriction

- 31.5 Full-time and part-time employees are eligible to participate in the scheme. The provisions of this Clause do not apply to casuals or to fixed-term employees engaged for periods of less than twelve months.
- 31.6 Salary deductions for part-time employees will be based on the hours of duty at the time of the application and will only be varied to take into account salary movements.
- 31.7 Purchased leave is not to be accessed for less than one week at a time and may only be accessed in whole week blocks.
- 31.8 The purchased leave must be taken within 52 weeks of the date of commencement of the salary deductions, and employees must specify these dates in their application.

## Calculation of Salary Deductions

- 31.9 The leave is purchased over twelve continuous months and employees are required to stay on the scheme for the full period, whilst employed in that position.
- 31.10 In order to 'pay' for the purchased leave, employees will have an amount deducted from their gross salary each pay period for a period of twelve continuous months.
- 31.11 The amount deducted will result in a reduction in the employee's taxable income. The amount deducted weekly is calculated using the following formula: Salary received per week x Number of weeks of purchased leave divided by 52
- 31.12 The first salary deduction will be made on the pay day after the nominated commencement date. The deduction is adjusted to take into account salary increases resulting from salary increments or other salary increases.

## Application and Entitlements

- 31.13 Purchased leave can be taken in conjunction with annual leave, long service leave and parental leave. Paid leave taken while on the scheme will be paid at the reduced fractional rate (between 44/52 and 51/52 as appropriate), provided that long service leave will be paid either at the relevant fractional rate or such lesser rate as applies where part-time hours have varied, in accordance with sub-clause 34.5. During a purchased leave arrangement, annual and long service leave continue to accrue at the full-time rate.
- 31.14 An employee's salary for superannuation purposes will not change as a result of participation in this scheme.
- 31.15 A new application must be made and approved each 12 months in order for an employee to continue to participate in the scheme.



- 31.16 On termination of employment, a reconciliation of the employee's purchased leave account including any adjustments in final monies will be conducted.
- 31.17 Annual leave in advance is provided for in the applicable Awards.
- 31.18 Cashing out Annual leave is provided for in the applicable Awards.
- 31.19 Excessive leave is provided for in the applicable Awards.

#### 32 PUBLIC HOLIDAYS

- 32.1 An employee is entitled to the following days with pay, where such days fall on the employee's normal days of work; New Year's Day, Christmas Day and Boxing Day or to substitute a day *in lieu* of each of the days at an agreed time.
- 32.2 When Christmas Day is a Saturday or a Sunday, a holiday with pay *in lieu* thereof must be observed on 27 December.
- 32.3 When Boxing Day is a Saturday or a Sunday, a holiday with pay *in lieu* thereof must be observed on 28 December.
- 32.4 When New Year's Day is a Saturday or Sunday, a holiday with pay must be observed on the next Monday.
- 32.5 An employee is entitled to the following holidays with pay, where such holidays fall on the employee's normal days of work:
  - Australia Day
  - Labour Day
  - Good Friday
  - Easter Saturday
  - Easter Monday
  - Anzac Day
  - King's Birthday
  - Grand final Day
  - Melbourne Cup Day (or in case of regional areas, a local holiday in lieu may be substituted by agreement between the employer and the employee)
- 32.6 An employer and employee may agree to swap a public holiday listed in the Gazette public holidays. This may be a local or regional public holiday in lieu of a metropolitan public holiday.
- 32.7 An employee will be entitled to any days as may be granted in addition to or *in lieu* of the days prescribed in sub-clause 32.5 by proclamation or Act of Parliament.
- 32.8 Subject to the provisions of sub-clauses 30.15, an employee who prior to the commencement of this Agreement was entitled to Easter Tuesday as a public holiday will remain entitled to that day.
- 32.9 Subject to the provisions of sub-clauses 30.15, a person employed in accordance with **Schedule 2A & 2D** and **3A & 3D** (ESPSE Award staff, and tutors and teachers) shall be entitled to Easter Tuesday as a public holiday with pay.
- 32.10Where an employee is required to work on a Public Holiday they shall be paid at the rate of double time plus one-half times the ordinary hourly rate.



#### 33 PERSONAL LEAVE

Note: The amount of paid personal leave to which a continuing or fixed-term employee is entitled is set out below.

#### Personal Leave

- 33.1 In the event of an employee becoming sick and unfit for duty they shall be entitled to personal leave on full pay as follows:
  - During the first year of service, one working day for each month of service;
  - During the second, third and fourth years of service, fourteen working days in each year; and
  - Thereafter 21 working days in each year.
- 33.2 To be entitled to sick leave on full pay an employee shall produce a certificate from a legally qualified medical or other relevant practitioner immediately on return to work, provided that single days up to a maximum of three in any one calendar year may be taken without the production of a medical certificate or statutory declaration.
- 33.3 Absences on sick leave either side of a public holiday shall not be paid unless a medical certificate, statutory declaration or other evidence satisfactory to the employer is provided within seven days of return to work.
- 33.4 If the full period of sick leave as described above is not taken in any year, such portion as is not taken shall be cumulative from year to year.

## Infectious disease leave

- 33.5 This clause applies to employees who perform work described by the classification structure contained in **Schedule 2C** (CS Award).
- 33.6 Employees who contract, or believe they have contracted, one of the infectious diseases listed in this clause must as soon as possible notify their employer
- 33.7 Employees who contract an infectious disease through a contact in the area of employment shall be entitled to infectious diseases leave in accordance with the following scale:

Disease	Leave with pay
Chicken pox (Varicella)	5 working days
German measles (Rubella)	5 working days
Hepatitis	As decided by medical practitioner
Influenza	5 working days
Measles (Morbilli)	10 working days
Mumps	10 working days
Rheumatic fever	As decided by medical practitioner
Scarlet fever	10 working days
Whooping cough	10 working days
Corona virus disease	5 working days or 7 if not tested free after 5



33.8 A duly signed certificate by a qualified medical practitioner must accompany any application for leave with pay under the provisions of this sub-clause. In cases where employees contract influenza, the medical certificate must state the word "influenza" in full, and that the pathology result is present.

## Carer's leave

- 33.9 An employee, other than a casual employee, with responsibilities in relation to either members of their immediate family or members of their household (including domestic pets) who need their care and support shall be entitled to use, in accordance with this subclause, any sick leave entitlement for absences to provide care and support for such persons when they are ill or require care due to an unexpected emergency. The entitlements of casual employees in relation to Carer's Leave are set out in subclause10.31-10.33.
- 33.10 The employee shall, if required, establish by production of a medical certificate or statutory declaration, the illness of the person or animal concerned.
- 33.11 When taking leave to care for members of their immediate family or household (including domestic pets) who require care due to an unexpected emergency, the employee must, if required by the employer, establish by production of documentation acceptable to the employer or a statutory declaration, the nature of the emergency and that such emergency resulted in the person concerned requiring care by the employee.
- 33.12. The entitlement to use sick leave in accordance with this subclause is subject to:
  - (a) The employee being responsible for the care of the person or animal concerned; and
  - (b) The person concerned being either:
    - · a member of the employee's immediate family; or
    - a member of the employee's household.

## 33.13 The term "immediate family" includes:

- (a) a spouse (including a former spouse, a de facto spouse and a former de facto spouse) and spouses' relatives (e.g. in-laws) of the employee. A de facto spouse means a person who lives with the employee on a *bona fide* domestic basis. This refers to heterosexual and same sex relationships; and
- (b) A child or an adult child (including an adopted child, a stepchild or an ex-nuptial child), parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of the employee or the employee's spouse.
- 33.14 The employee shall, wherever practicable, give the employer notice prior to the absence of the intention to take leave, the name of the person requiring care and their relationship to the employee, the reasons for taking such leave and the estimated length of absence. If it is not practicable for the employee to give prior notice of absence, the employee shall notify the employer by telephone of such absence at the first opportunity on the day of absence.

## Unpaid leave for family purposes

33.15 An employee may elect, with the consent of the employer, to take unpaid leave for the purpose of providing care to a family member who is ill. The employer and employee shall agree on the period. In the absence of agreement, the employee is entitled to take up to two days (up to a maximum of 16 hours) per occasion, provided the requirements in sub-clauses 33.11 and 33.12 are met.



## Compassionate Leave

- 33.16 An employee shall, on each occasion of the death or life-threatening serious illness or injury of a member of his/her immediate family, household or significant other, be entitled on notice to leave without deduction of pay for a period not exceeding the number of hours worked by the employee in five (5) ordinary days' work.
- 33.17 If required by the employer, proof of such death or serious illness or injury shall be furnished by the employee to the satisfaction of his/her employer.
- 33.18 Provided however that this clause shall have no operation while the period of entitlement to leave under it coincides with any other period of entitlement to leave.

## 34 LONG SERVICE LEAVE

Note: The provisions of the Agreement in relation to long service leave should be read in conjunction with the *Long Service Leave Act 2018* (Vic) and *the Long Service Benefits Portability Act 2018* (Vic). The provisions of this agreement prevail to the extent of any more generous inconsistency.

- 34.1. All employees are entitled to access:
  - paid long service leave pro rata after 7 years of continuous service.
  - portability and 5 years continued service access to payout where employment is terminated

## Schedule 2B and 3B Neighbourhood House employees (SCHADS Award)

34.2 An employee employed in accordance with **Schedules 2B** and **3B** NH employees (SCHADS Award) shall accrue Long Service Leave in accordance with the following table:

Period of Service	Rate of Accrual
Prior to 4 December 2007	0.8667 weeks per year of service
4 December 2007 – 4 December 2008	1 week per year
After 4 December 2008	1.3 weeks per year of service <sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For example, Clare commenced employment on 4 December 2000.

## Calculations

Total LSL accrued during the period Period of service Years Accrual rate 0.867 4/12/2000 - 4/12/2007 7.0 6.07 4/12/2007 - 4/12/2008 1.0 1.0 1 4/12/2008 - 4/06/2012 1.3 3.5 4.55 Total 11.5 11.63 weeks LSL accrued



## Schedule 2A and 2D employees Adult Community Education employees (ESPSE Award)

34.3 An employee employed in accordance with **Schedules 2A** and **2D** Adult Community education (ESPSE Award) employees shall be entitled to three (3) months paid long service leave after 10 years continuous service, based on an accrual rate of 1.3 weeks per year of continuous service.

## Schedule 2C Children's Services (CS Award) employees

34.4 An employee employed in accordance with **Schedule 2C** Children's Services (CS Award) employees shall be entitled to long service leave in accordance with legislation, as amended from time to time, and based on an accrual rate of 0.8667 weeks per year of continuous service.

## Rate of pay during long service leave

- 34.5 An employee on long service leave will be paid in accordance with Section 15 of the *Long Service Leave Act* 2018 on the following basis:
  - (a) Where all of the employee's service has been full-time, payment is at the normal full-time salary.
  - (b) Where all of the employee's service has been part-time, payment during long service leave is calculated as follows:
    - (c) where the time fraction has been constant, payment is made at that time fraction.
    - (d) where the time fraction has been varied, payment is based on either:

The average time fraction for the previous 12 months; or The average time fraction for the previous 5 years; or The average time fraction for the entire period of continuous employment, whichever is the greater.

- 34.6 An employee is entitled to choose to take any or all of their entitlement at half pay for twice the period.
- 34.7 An employee is entitled to take Long Service Leave in conjunction with other forms of approved leave. Such leave is subject to the employer's agreement where the total period of leave would exceed 12 months.
- 34.8 Unless agreed by the employer an employee must give six months' notice of intention to take Long Service Leave.
- 34.9 Long Service Leave credits can be partially exhausted provided that the period of leave is at least one month on normal pay or two months on half pay.
- 34.10 Salary during Long Service Leave is paid as usual unless the employee requests a lump sum payment in advance.
- 34.11 Where a Public Holiday occurs during the period that an employee is absent on Long Service Leave no deduction is to be made for that day from the Long Service Leave credits of the employee.
- 34.12 Where an employee with accrued sick leave credits is ill whilst on Long Service Leave, the employee must be placed on sick leave and no deduction is to be made from Long Service Leave credits for those days. Evidence of illness must be provided in accordance with sub- clause 33.2



- 34.13 Employers to need to make provision for Long Service Leave from the first day of employment and, where eligible, register the employee with the Portable Long Service Leave Authority (PLSA) (see section 34.16 below).
- 34.14 For the purposes of Clause 34, 'Continuous service' is as defined by the Victorian *Long Service Leave Act* 2018 and includes all periods of:
  - part-time, full time and/or Casual employment with the employer.
  - service with another employer which has been recognised as service for the purposes of calculating Long Service Leave entitlements in accordance with subclauses 34.15-24.25.
     Provided:
  - that there is no break in the continuity of such service that exceeds three (3)
    months
  - that any period of approved leave with or without pay does not constitute a break in the continuity of service.
- 34.15 Subject to sub-clause 34.17, service with any other respondent to this Agreement is transferable for the purposes of computing service for long service leave.
- 34.16 Portability of Long Service Leave. Both this agreement and the PLSA provide for forms of portability. The PLSA provides a limited entitlement portability for particular employees within the broader Community Services Sector (CSO) and this agreement provides for portability and gap coverage within the Neighbourhood Houses sector, specifically those signed to this\_agreement. Service with a previous employer is transferable for the purpose of computing service for Long Service Leave where both employers are respondents to this Agreement and the break in service between the two employers does not exceed 3 months, or the break in service is greater than 3 months and the Committee agrees to recognise such service.
- 34.17 In recognising prior service, any Long Service Leave already taken or paid out on termination will be deducted from the calculation of accrued leave entitlements.
- 34.18 Where service with another employer is recognised for the computation of Long Service Leave by the Committee, a period of not less than three years' service with the current employer must be completed before the employee is eligible to take Long Service Leave.
- 34.19 The PLSA provides for portability in the CSO sector for employees employed under the SCHADS and Child Services awards but not the ESPSE award at the time of preparing this agreement.
- 34.20 The PLSA operates a pay as you go scheme where the employer must register the employee with the PLSA and submit quarterly reports on wage amounts and pay a fee based on those amounts of 1.65%. This amount equates to the statutory accrual rate of LSL, which is 8.67 weeks over 10 years, under the *Long Service Leave Act 2018* (Vic).
- 34.21 As the accrual rate under this agreement is 1.3 weeks over 10 years for those on SCHADS organisations signed to the agreement will need to maintain a liability for the balance of the entitlement which at the time of drafting this agreement totals 2.5% of the gross wage amount requiring the balance (2.5% 1.65% = 0.85%) of total wages earned as an ongoing liability.
- 34.22 As the PLSA does not have ESPSE employees currently eligible the liability remains entirely with the employer for the 1.3 weeks accrual LSL per year which equates to 2.5% of gross wage value.



- 34.23 As the entitlement for Child Services meets the rate the PLSA provide for, the payment into the PLSA will suffice for coverage from an accruing liability perspective.
- 34.24 This agreement, continuing with the commitments of previous versions, provides access to payment in full for long service leave after a period of 5 years continuous service where the employee's employment is terminated.
- 34.25 It is incumbent on the new employee to apply for recognition of their accrued entitlement within 12 months of starting work
- 34.26 Signatories to this agreement are required to pass on accrued entitlements to another signatory where that signatory employs and employee from the original signatory, An example of the calculation basis follows:

For example: Semira has been employed continuously by The House the neighbourhood house which is a signatory to this agreement. Semira has been registered with the PLSA as she is employed as a SCHADS employee and has been employed for 4 years. Semira is now finishing employment at The House and starting employment with ABC neighbourhood house which is also signed to this agreement. Samira's 4 years of eligibility is transferred from The House to ABC. The House has been paying 1.65% of Samira's gross wage into the PLSA, but the entitlement accrues at 2.5% for SCHADS workers under this agreement, The House would pay to ABC the balance of the accrued entitlement for the 4 years' service.

Samira works 25 hours per week for the 4 years her current rate is \$50.00 per hour. Samira's entitlement is 1.3 weeks (FTE 49.4 hours per year) pro rata (25 hours / 38 hours = 66%)  $66\% \times 49.4 = 32.5$  hours per year x 4 = 130 hours x current rate \$50.00. Total value of the LSL = \$6,500.

PLSA contributions offsets this. Statutory accrual is 0.867 weeks per year LSL which equals 32.95 hours per year, pro rata as above is 66% x 32.95 = 21.675 x 4 years at current rate (21.675 hrs x 4 years x current rate \$50.00) equals \$4,335

The entitlement payable from The House to ABC for Samira;s 4 years of accrued entitlement is the total entitlement \$6,500 less the statutory accrual through the PLSA of \$4,335 = \$2,165.

## Leave payable on termination

- 34.27 An employee, or where applicable his or her legal representative, must be paid *in lieu* for Long Service Leave accrued but not taken as at the date of termination of service where the accumulated period of recognised service is 5 years or more. Calculation for such payment must be in accordance with sub-clause 34.5.
- 34.28 Provided that an employee has had prior service with another employer recognised, there is no entitlement to payment of accrued long service leave on termination unless the employee has completed 3 year's continuous service with their current employer.
- 34.29 The PLSA does not provide access or payment at 5 years (access is 7 years) and will not currently reimburse for it where the Neighbourhood House is required to pay.



#### 35 PARENTAL LEAVE

## Employees with less than 12 months continuous service and Casuals

- 35.1 A part-time or full-time employee who has completed a continuous period of less than 12 months service; or
- 35.2 A Casual employee with 12 months or more service who submits to the employer a certificate from a medical practitioner stating that she is pregnant and specifying the expected date of confinement is entitled to leave without pay for a continuous period of 52 weeks, which may be taken on a share basis between the parents.
- 35.3 Such leave without pay must be taken within the period from 20 weeks before the expected date of confinement to 52 weeks after the commencement of the period of leave.
- 35.4 An employee is entitled to maternity leave where a pregnancy terminates within 20 weeks of the expected date of confinement.
- 35.5 An employee whose pregnancy having proceeded for a period of not less than 20 weeks terminates other than by the birth of a living child, is where maternity leave has not commenced, entitled to such a period of leave, being paid sick leave or unpaid leave, as a medical practitioner certifies to be necessary before the employee's return to work.

## Employees (other than casuals) with 12 months or more continuous service.

- 35.6 An employee who has completed 12 months continuous service and who submits to the employer a certificate from a medical practitioner stating that she is pregnant and specifying the expected date that she will be unable perform her inherent duties, is entitled to:
  - (a) For Adult Community education employees, employed in accordance with Schedules 2A (ESPSE award) and for Neighbourhood House employees employed in accordance with Schedule 2B (SCHADS Award), tutors and teachers in accordance with Schedule 2D and Children's Services employees employed in accordance with Schedule 2C (Children's Services Award 2010) leave on full pay for a continuous period of twelve (12) weeks, to include a period of at least 6 weeks from the date of confinement;
- 35.7 Paid parental leave under this sub-clause may be taken at half pay for twice the period at the request of the employee.
- 35.8 In addition to the paid leave provisions of sub-clause 35.6, the employee is entitled to such additional leave without pay as will bring the aggregate leave to a continuous period of 52 weeks. Such leave without pay must be taken within the period from 20 weeks before the expected date of confinement to 52 weeks after the actual date of confinement and may be taken on a shared basis between the parents.
- 35.9 These entitlements apply in addition to any Federal Government paid parental leave scheme.
- 35.10 An employee whose pregnancy having proceeded for a period of not less than 20 weeks terminates other than by the birth of a living child shall:
  - (a) where parental leave has not commenced, be entitled to paid leave as per subclause 35.6, or
  - (b) where parental leave has commenced be entitled to the balance of paid leave as per sub-clause 35.6 and such leave, being accumulated sick leave or unpaid leave as a medical practitioner certifies to be necessary before the employee's return to work.



35.11 An employee to be eligible for a subsequent period of paid maternity leave must have returned to work.

## Return to work after primary carer's parental leave

- 35.12 An employee must confirm their intention to return to work by notifying the Employer in writing not less than four weeks prior to the expiration of the period of primary carer parental leave or of the period of leave granted in accordance with this clause.
- 35.13 It is the right of the employee to resume work no later than 4 weeks after giving written notice to the employer, in accordance with clause 35.12 that the employee desires to resume work.
- 35.14 Upon the expiration of the period of leave the employee is entitled to resume work on the same substantive classification and salary with duties commensurate with their qualifications and experience and as far as practicable similar to those performed by the employee prior to the commencement of primary carer parental leave.
- 35.15 An employee is entitled to request to return to work on reduced hours. The employer will not unreasonably decline such a request and any agreement must be recorded in writing and specify either the duration of the arrangement, if temporary, or that the arrangement is permanent.
- 35.16 Any period of unpaid primary carer parental leave must not be considered as a break in service for any purposes but does not count as service for the purposes of accruing entitlements.

## 36 CO-PARENT LEAVE

- 36.1 An employee, other than a casual employee, who submits satisfactory evidence that they are or will be the co-parent (but not primary carer) of a child or that they have accepted on-going care of a child in a secondary care-giver role is entitled to:
  - (a) Following 12 months or more continuous service with the employer, leave on full pay for 5 consecutive working days or for a period which in aggregate does not exceed 5 working days, or
  - (b) With less than 12 months continuous service with the employer, or a casual employee with more than 12 months continuous service who has, but for the pregnancy or the decision to adopt, a reasonable expectation of ongoing employment, unpaid leave for 5 consecutive working days or for a period which in aggregate does not exceed 5 working days.
- 36.2 Such leave must be taken within the period commencing in the week prior to the expected date of birth of the child and concluding 6 weeks after the birth of the child.
- 36.3 Any period of unpaid co-parent parental leave must not be considered as a break in service for any purposes but does not count as service for the purposes of accruing entitlements.

## 37 ADOPTION LEAVE

- 37.1 An employee, other than a casual employee, who submits satisfactory evidence of being an approved applicant for the adoption of a child and of the date of placement of that child is entitled to leave where they are the primary care giver as follows:
  - (a) Employees with 12 months or more continuous service are entitled to leave on full pay for a continuous period of six (6) weeks, commencing from the date of placement and to such leave without pay, which may be shared between the



- parents, as will bring the aggregate leave to a continuous period not exceeding 52 weeks:
- (b) For employees with less than 12 months continuous service, or a casual employee with more than 12 months continuous service who has, but for the decision to adopt, a reasonable expectation of ongoing employment, unpaid leave for a continuous period of up to 52 weeks, which may be shared between the parents.
- 37.2 An employee who submits satisfactory evidence of being an approved applicant for the adoption of a child and who is not the primary care giver is entitled to:
  - (a) following 12 months or more continuous service with the employer, leave on full pay for 5 consecutive working days or for a period which in aggregate does not exceed 5 working days; or
  - (b) with less than 12 months continuous service with the employer, unpaid leave for 5 consecutive working days or for a period which in aggregate does not exceed 5 working days.
- 37.3 Leave taken pursuant to Clause 37 must be taken within the period commencing in the week prior to the expected date of placement of the child and concluding six (6) weeks after the placement of the child.

## 38 COURT APPEARANCE LEAVE

- 38.1 Jury Service An employee required to appear and serve as a juror in any court shall be granted leave with pay for the period during which attendance at court is required, less any amount received from the court by way of fee for attendance.
- 38.2 Witness Appearance Leave An employee who is subpoenaed to appear in Court as a Crown Witness or to give evidence on matters directly related to his/her employment is entitled to leave on full pay for the period of such appearance.
- 38.3 An employee who is required to appear in Court in a capacity other than as specified in 38.1 and 38.2 is entitled to leave without pay for the period of that appearance.

#### 39 CEREMONIAL LEAVE

- 39.1 An Aboriginal person or Torres Strait Islander is a person who identifies as such and furthermore is regarded as an Aboriginal person or Torres Strait Islander by members of their community.
- 39.2 An employee who is required by Aboriginal or Torres Strait tradition to be absent from work for Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander ceremonial purposes may apply to use up to ten (10) days of unpaid leave entitlement for the purposes of Ceremonial Leave in each 2-year period.
- 39.3 An employee who is legitimately required by indigenous tradition to be absent from work for Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander ceremonial purposes will be entitled to up to 10 working days unpaid leave in any one year, with the approval of the employer.
- 39.4 The employee may be required by the employer to provide reasonable evidence to establish that they have an obligation under Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander custom and/or traditional law to participate in ceremonial activities.
- 39.5 Under normal circumstances the staff member must provide at least 2 weeks' notice in writing (usually by furnishing an 'application for leave' form) of the staff member's intention to take leave pursuant to this clause.



- 39.6 Approval of all Ceremonial leave will be subject to the employer's convenience and will not unreasonably affect the operation of the project concerned but shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 39.7 These days may include, but will not be limited to tombstone openings, attendance at funerals, smoking of houses, initiation ceremonies or to attend other such ceremonies deemed by the elders to be significant.
- 39.8 Leave taken in accordance with the provisions of this clause shall count as service for all purposes.

## 40 CULTURAL LEAVE

- 40.1 An employee may apply to use up to ten (10) days of unpaid leave entitlement for the purposes of Cultural Leave in each 2-year period in order to attend days of religious or cultural significance to the employee.
- 40.2 An employee may nominate, on an annual basis, specific days which that employee wishes to take as cultural and/or religious leave.
- 40.3 Subject to normal operating requirements, the employer will not unreasonably refuse the grant of that leave.
- 40.4 An employee may be required to provide evidence, such as a statutory declaration, to support his or her request for Cultural Leave.
- 40.5 Applications from employees who are members of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities in respect of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander culture or religion shall be dealt with under Clause 39 of this Agreement.
- 40.6 Leave taken in accordance with the provisions of this clause shall count as service for all purposes.

## 41 FAMILY AND DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE

## General Principle

41.1 This Employer recognises that employees sometimes face situations of violence or abuse in their personal life that may affect their attendance or performance at work. Therefore, the Employer is committed to providing support to staff that experience family violence.

This term provides for the following entitlements:

- 10 days paid family and domestic violence leave;
- Ability to use personal leave once paid family and domestic violence is exhausted
- 5 days paid support persons leave;
- Confidentiality and recordkeeping rules;
- Workplace supports for people experiencing family and domestic violence;
- Workplace safety; and
- Anti-discrimination.

## Definition of Family and Domestic Violence Leave

41.2 For the purposes of this Agreement, **Family and Domestic Violence** is violent, threatening or other abusive behaviour by a <u>close relative</u> of an <u>employee</u>, a member of an <u>employee</u>'s household, or a current or former intimate partner of an employee, that seeks to:



- coerce and control the employee; and
- causes the employee harm or to be fearful.
- 41.3 A **close relative** of the employee is a person who:
  - is a member of the employee's immediate family; or
  - is related to the employee according to Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander kinship rules.

Note: The behaviour does not need to be directed at the Employee to meet the definition of family and domestic violence. Behaviour directed towards other people (such as children, friends, family members or even members of the broader community) may be Family and Domestic Violence for the purposes of this clause.

- 41.4 Paid Family and Domestic Violence Leave
  - 41.4.1 Paid family and domestic violence leave is provided by the NES. This clause supplements the NES.
- 41.5 Entitlement to paid family and domestic violence leave
  - 41.5.1 An employee is entitled to 10 days of paid family and domestic violence leave in a 12-month period.
- 41.6 Accrual of leave
  - 41.6.1 Paid family and domestic violence leave:
    - a.is available in full at the start of each 12-month period of the employee's employment; and
    - b.does not accumulate from year to year; and
    - c. is available in full to part-time or casual employees.
  - 41.6.2 The start of a casual or fixed-term employee's employment is taken to be the start of the employee's first period of employment with the Employer.
  - 41.7 Taking paid family and domestic violence
    - 41.7.1 An employee may take paid family and domestic violence leave if:
      - a.the employee is experiencing family and domestic violence; and
      - b.the employee needs to do something to deal with the impact of family and domestic violence.

Note: This clause covers a wide range of activities, examples may include arranging for the safety of the employee or a close relative, relocating the employee or a close relative, attending court hearings, accessing police services, accessing family and domestic violence services, attending counselling, and attending appointments with medical, financial or legal professionals.

- 41.7.2 An employee may take paid family and domestic violence leave as
  - a.a single continuous 10-day period; or
  - b.separate periods of one or more days; or
  - c.a period of less than one day.
- 41.7.3 If the period during which an employee takes paid family and domestic violence leave includes a day or part-day that is a public holiday in the place where the employee is based



for work-purposes, the employee is taken not to be on paid family and domestic violence leave on that public holiday.

## 41.8 Payment

- 41.8.1 If an <u>employee</u> takes a period of paid <u>family and domestic violence</u> leave the <u>employer</u> must pay the <u>employee</u>, in relation to the period:
  - a. for an <u>employee</u> other than a <u>casual employee</u>--at the <u>employee</u>'s <u>full rate of pay</u>, worked out as if the <u>employee</u> had not taken the period of leave; or
  - b. for a <u>casual employee</u>--at the <u>employee</u>'s <u>full rate of pay</u>, worked out as if the employee had worked the hours in the period for which the employee was rostered.
- 41.8.2 Full Rate of pay means the rate of pay payable to the employee, including all the following:
  - a. incentive-based payments and bonuses;
  - b. loadings;
  - c. monetary allowances;
  - d. overtime or penalty rates;
  - e. any other separately identifiable amounts.
- 41.8.3 Without limiting <u>clause</u> 41.8.1 (b), an <u>employee</u> is taken to have been rostered to work hours in a period if the <u>employee</u> has accepted an offer by the <u>employer</u> of work for those hours.
- 41.8.4 A <u>casual employee</u> may take a period of paid <u>family and domestic violence</u> leave that does not include hours for which the <u>employee</u> is rostered to work. However, the <u>employer</u> is not required to pay the employee in relation to such a period.
- 41.9 Unpaid family and domestic violence leave
  - 41.9.1 If an employee has taken their full entitlement to paid family and domestic violence leave, then the employee will be entitled to use personal leave where additional leave is required for this purpose.
  - 41.9.2 If personal leave is exhausted, the employee is entitled to unpaid family and domestic violence leave if they meet the requirements for taking paid family and domestic violence leave under this agreement.
  - 41.9.3 If the period during which an employee takes unpaid family and domestic violence leave includes a day or part-day that is a public holiday in the place where the employee is based for work-purposes, the employee is taken not to be on paid family and domestic violence leave on that public holiday.
  - 41.9.4 Nothing in this clause will prevent the employee from accessing other types of paid or unpaid leave under this Agreement or the NES.

## 41.10 Leave to support another person experiencing family and domestic violence

- 41.10.1 An employee who is not entitled to take paid family and domestic violence leave under this agreement may take 5 days of paid leave in each 12-month period to support a person who is experiencing paid family and domestic violence (paid support persons leave).
- 41.10.2 An employee taking paid support persons leave will be paid at their base rate of pay for their ordinary hours of work during the period that they take paid support persons leave.



- 41.10.3 Support persons leave accrues in full at the start of each 12-month period and does not accumulate year to year.
- 41.10.4 If the period during which an employee takes paid family and domestic violence leave includes a day or part-day that is a public holiday in the place where the employee is based for work-purposes, the employee is taken not to be on paid family and domestic violence leave on that public holiday.
- 41.10.5 Nothing in this clause will prevent an employee from accessing other types of paid or unpaid leave under this Agreement or the NES.

## 41.11 Notice and evidence requirements

- 41.11.1 An employee is not entitled to take paid family and domestic violence leave, unpaid family and domestic violence leave, or support persons leave unless they comply with the notice and evidence requirements in clauses 41.11.2 through 41.11.5.
- 41.11.2 An employee must give the Employer notice of the taking of paid family and domestic violence leave.

#### 41.11.3 The notice:

- a. must be given as soon as practicable (which may be after the leave has started); and
- b. must advise the employer of the period, or the expected period, of the leave.
- 41.11.4 An employee who has given notice of the taking of paid family and domestic violence leave must, if required by the Employer, give the employer evidence that would satisfy a reasonable person that the leave that the employee is taking the leave for the reason specified in clause 41.7.1.
- 41.11.5 The employer will not require the employee to provide evidence under clause 41.11.4 unless the employee takes more than [5] days of leave [in the 12-month period/at one time].

## 41.12 Confidentiality & Record Keeping

## General

41.12.1 All personal information concerning domestic violence will be kept confidential in line with the employer's policy and Australian law. The employer will not keep written records of an employee's disclosure of family and domestic violence, or any supports offered under clause 41.13 without the employee's written permission or if required under Australian law.

## Confidentiality - Paid and unpaid family and domestic violence leave

- 41.12.2 The Employer must take steps to ensure information concerning any notice or evidence an employee has given of the employee taking paid or unpaid family and domestic violence leave is treated confidentially, as far as it is reasonably practicable to do so.
- 41.12.3 The employer must not, other than with the consent of the employee, use such information for a purpose other than satisfying itself in relation to the employee's entitlement to leave under this Subdivision. In particular, an employer must not use such information to take adverse action against an employee.



41.12.4 Nothing in this Agreement prevents the Employer from dealing with information provided by an employee if doing so is required by an Australian law or is necessary to protect the life, health or safety of the employee or another person.

## Pay Slips

- 41.12.5 The employer will not record the following information on pay slips:
  - a. a statement that an amount paid to an employee is paid in respect of paid family and domestic violence leave; an
  - b. a statement that a period of leave taken by the employee has been taken as paid or unpaid family and domestic violence leave; and
  - c. the balance of an employee's entitlement to paid family and domestic violence leave.
- 41.12.6 Unless requested by the employee, an amount paid to an employee for taking a period of paid or family and domestic violence leave:
  - a. must not be reported on a pay slip as an amount paid to the employee for taking a period of leave; and
  - b. must instead be reported on the pay slip as an amount paid to the employee for the performance of the employee's ordinary hours of work or as another kind of payment made in relation to the performance of the employee's work.
- 41.12.7 The Employer will consult the employee about their preference for the recording of paid or unpaid family and domestic violence leave before issuing pay slips.

## 41.13 Supporting employees experiencing family and domestic violence

41.13.1 The Employer recognises that employees sometimes face situations of violence or abuse in their personal life that may affect their attendance or performance at work. The Employer understands the traumatic nature of family and domestic violence. The Employer is committed to providing support to staff that experience family and domestic violence.

Family and domestic violence workplace contacts

- 41.13.2 The Employer will appoint a family and domestic violence workplace contact person to provide a point of first contact for employees experiencing family and domestic violence.
- 41.13.3 The name and contact details of the family and domestic violence contact person shall be communicated to all employees.
- 41.13.4 The Employer will ensure the family and domestic violence contact person is trained in handling family and domestic violence and privacy issues sensitively.

## Workplace Supports

- 41.13.5 The Employer will provide an Employee Assistance Program (EAP) that offers appropriate professional support for people experiencing family and domestic violence. An employee who discloses that they are experiencing family and domestic violence will be offered a referral to the EAP.
- 41.13.6 An employee that discloses that they are experiencing domestic violence will be provided with referrals to local specialist family and domestic violence resources, support and referral services.



## Individual Support

- 41.13.7 The employer will approve any reasonable request from an employee experiencing family and domestic violence for:
  - a. changes to their span of hours or pattern of hours and/or shift patterns;
  - b. job redesign or changes to duties;
  - c. changes to the location of work;
  - d. a change to their telephone number or email address to avoid harassing contact;
  - e. any other appropriate measure including those available under existing provisions for family friendly and flexible work arrangements.

#### 41.14 No Discrimination

- 41.14.1 The employer will not take adverse action or discriminate against an employee because:
  - a. they have disclosed an experience of family and domestic violence,
  - b. are experiencing family and domestic violence, or
  - c. any perception that the employee is experiencing family and domestic violence.
- 41.14.2 The Employer will not take disciplinary action against an employee if their attendance or performance at work suffers because they are experiencing family and domestic violence.

## 41.15 Workplace Safety

- 41.15.1 The Employer will develop workplace strategies to ensure that employees and visitors are protected in circumstances where an employee's experience of domestic violence may place the employee, other employees or visitors at risk of harm at the workplace.
- 41.15.2 The Employer will ensure that the domestic violence contact person is trained to implement the safety strategies and that the strategies are clearly understood by the affected employees.
- 41.15.3 If an employee experiencing family and domestic violence, other employees or visitors of the employer may be at risk of harm, the employer will implement the strategies in clause 41.15.1.



#### 42. GENDER AFFIRMATION LEAVE

- 42.1 In the event of an employee who intends to or is transitioning gender, The Employer and relevant parties including the ASU will make every effort to protect the privacy and safety of transitioning workers during and post transition.
- 42.2 Upon request by an employee, the Employer will update employee records and directories to reflect the employee's name and gender change. The Employer will ensure that all workplace-related documents, inclusive of titles, are also amended to reflect the change. This may include but not be limited to name tags, employee ID's, email addresses, organisational charts, and rosters. No records of the employee's previous name, sex or transition will be maintained post-transition, unless required by law or requested by the employee.
- 42.3 The Employer will provide safe bathroom and change room facilities to a worker during and after transition. The Employer recognises that a transitioning worker has the right to use the washroom of their lived gender, regardless of whether or not they have sought or undertaken surgeries.
- The Employer agrees to adopt the <u>VEOHRC transition plan</u> template as part of their policies and procedures. The Employer will offer to undertake a transition plan with the Employee, upon an employee informing The Employer they intend to transition. The transition plan will be undertaken within a reasonable time upon request of an employee and reviewed quarterly to address any future amendments the employee wishes to make. A copy of the transition plan will be made available to the employee and The Employer (maintained on the employee's file and restricted to access by human resources unless otherwise agreed by the employee).

#### **Definitions**

'Transition' means: Transitioning refers to the process where a transgender employee commences living as a member of another gender. This is sometimes referred to as the person 'affirming' their gender. This may occur through medical, social or legal changes. Employees may transition in different ways. For example, not all will choose to undergo surgery for a range of reasons including the availability, cost or desire. It is the Employer's responsibility to ensure that transgender and/or transitioning employees are protected from harassment and bullying.

- 42.5 Transition Leave Entitlements the Employer will provide employees a total 10 days paid transition leave per annum for essential and necessary gender affirmation procedures, inclusive of but not limited to; medical, psychological, union consultation, hormonal, surgical, legal status and documentation amendment appointments. Leave agreement or transition plan will include a statement from the Employer that related time off from work will not be used for absence management, discipline or monitoring purposes. That time off from work will not lead to a break in continuity of service or loss of seniority. The leave may be taken in block or in singular days. This entitlement is in addition to all other types of leave available to employees. Supporting someone accessing transitioning leave. A person who is supporting someone accessing transitioning leave will be entitled to 5 paid days per year to do so. This may include attending appointments with them, caring for them if they have undergone surgery and so on.
- Training should be provided by the Employer for staff working with people who may choose to transition. The training should be organised by the Employer and offered during the hours of work. The Employer will consult with the union and employee (or will consult with NHVic where the employee is not a union member) about the preferred training provider. Employer Obligations 24-hour notice must be provided in writing to the employee should the Employer want to discuss the employee's transition plan. The Employer must uphold their commitment to the transition plan. The Employer must provide flexibility and support to the employee who is transitioning, for instance providing for the capacity to work at home/access to flexible work arrangements in the instance that transition leave entitlements have been exhausted. At a minimum the transition plan should be reviewed annually, with the worker able to request a review at any time. Where necessary the employee can access light duties or transfer to safe work under OHS obligations.



## **Dispute Resolution and Equal Opportunity**

#### **Measures Available**

42.7 The Employer has a zero-tolerance approach to discrimination and harassment. In the event that disputes arise about this clause, or experiences in the workplaces that constitute discrimination or harassment employees may access the dispute resolution clause in this agreement. Alternatively, employees may access the VEOHRC and related jurisdictions for advice and issue resolution.

## 43 TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

- 43.1 An employee shall be permitted by the employer to be absent during ordinary working hours for periods not exceeding a total of five hours in any week, with *pro rata* entitlements applying for part-time employees, without loss of pay, to attend agreed training and professional development courses. Additional time without loss of pay may be granted at the discretion of the employer.
- 43.2 An employee shall be permitted to be absent during ordinary working hours without loss of pay in order to attend examinations necessary to obtain qualifications in such courses. The amount of absence shall allow three clear working days other than a Saturday or a Sunday for pre-examination study. Paid absences granted in respect to attend examinations shall not exceed six clear working days per year.
- 43.3 Absences from work for training and professional development taken under the provisions of this clause shall be to attend courses at a Registered Training Organisation or University (or by agreement, some other institution) for the purpose of acquiring skills necessary to undertake duties associated with a position classified under this Agreement

## **Examination leave**

- 43.4 This clause applies to Children's Services employees who perform work described by the classification structure contained in **Schedule 2C** (former CS Award).
- 43.5 Employees shall be granted leave with full pay in order to travel to attend childcare examinations relevant to this clause and approved by the education institution. Provided that when an afternoon examination is scheduled an employee shall be allowed the morning for the examination study if so, required by the employee.

## **Conferences and Seminars**

43.6 In addition to the provisions of this Clause regarding leave for formal study and examinations, it is agreed that ongoing professional development plays an important role in the delivery of high-quality services to the community, as well as assisting the development of rewarding career paths for employees in the sector. It is recognised that attendance at relevant sector or professional practice conferences and seminars can provide professional development opportunities for employees as well as information exchange and networking for the organisation. Attendance at such activities is subject to authorisation by the employer at their discretion. Where an employee is authorised to attend a conference, seminar or online learning (e.g. webinars) on behalf of the organisation, such attendance forms part of their normal duties and counts as paid work time.

## 44 SAVINGS CLAUSE

44.1 Nothing in this agreement shall be deemed or construed to reduce any leave entitlements accrued prior to the introduction of the agreement, nor to reduce the rate of pay of any individual simply by the introduction of this agreement.



# **SECTION 8 – OCCUPATIONAL, HEALTH & SAFETY**

## 45 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY COMPLIANCE

- 45.1 The parties agree that occupational health and safety for workers is a priority to reduce the incidence of workplace injury and illness.
- 45.2 During the life of this Agreement, in the event of an employer having workers delivering service on their premises the employer will:
  - (a) Take all necessary and practical steps to provide and maintain a healthy and safe workplace environment which is free of harassment and bullying.
  - (b) Comply with the Victorian *Occupational Health and Safety Act* 2004 and relevant Regulations and Codes of Practice.
  - (c) Undertake an audit of current safety measures in place at the workplace and, where required, facilitate the election of OH&S Representatives and ensure that all representatives are provided with relevant and ongoing training from the representative's preferred training provider, adequate development and support to perform the role;

#### 46 SAFETY PROVISIONS FOR SOLE WORKERS

- 46.1 Where an employee is the sole worker at a workplace, the employer will:
  - (a) Consult with relevant staff and occupational health and safety representatives in the workplace on any proposed changes to increase safety arrangements for sole workers, with the aim of eliminating or reducing hazards at the workplace.
  - (b) Identify and address any needs for employee and management training to improve the handling of the issue.

## 47 BULLYING AND HARASSMENT

- 47.1 The employer will provide a working and learning environment that is free from harassment and unlawful discrimination, and a culture where all staff members of the workplace are treated with dignity, courtesy and respect.
- 47.2 Workplace bullying and other forms of harassment will not be tolerated.
- 47.3 Workplace bullying may involve but is not limited to:
  - (a) behaviour aimed to demean, humiliate or intimidate employees either as individuals or as a group;
  - (b) the less favourable treatment of a person by another in the workplace, beyond that which may be considered reasonable and appropriate workplace practice; unwelcome and unreasonable behaviour that creates a hostile, uncomfortable, offensive or 'charged' work atmosphere leading to stress;
  - (c) misuse of relative and / or assumed power;
  - (d) occurrence of the following:



- continual unjustified and unnecessary comments about an employee, their work or capacity for work
- comments aimed to discredit or undermine an employee or devalue their work
- continual ignoring or exclusion of an employee or group of employees from normal conversation, work assignments, work-related social activities and networks
- the making of derogatory or intimidating remarks
- unreasonable demands and impossible targets
- phone calls, letters or emails which are threatening, abusive or offensive
- taking deliberate advantage of a lack of understanding or knowledge due to inexperience
- constant, intrusive surveillance or monitoring
- the unnecessary intrusion into the personal relationships of an employee
- restrictive and petty work rules
- being intentionally overworked and being forced to stay back or perform additional tasks
- open or implied threats of demotion, dismissal or disciplinary action
- emotional blackmail
- constant criticism or denigration of employee(s) in front of others
- 47.4 What does not constitute bullying:
  - (a) Reasonable management decisions, discussions or actions (including performance counselling and managing underperformance) do not constitute harassment or bullying, as long as they are reasonable and not humiliating or threatening.
  - (b) Management instructions, directions and requirements that are made fairly and appropriately, for example, made without intimidation, belittling comments or favouritism.
- The employer must take appropriate measures to prevent employees being subjected to bullying in their employment. Such measures include, but are not limited to:
  - (a) Ensuring that all persons at the workplace are aware of this Agreement's prohibition of bullying and victimisation
  - (b) Ensuring that all persons at the workplace are made aware of all relevant legislation such as health and safety, workers compensation, anti-discrimination law, equal opportunity etc. and their rights and responsibilities under such legislation
- 47.6 Providing training that informs all employees and supervisors of types of behaviour that constitutes bullying, including identifying and recognising any working arrangements or workplace cultural activities that are considered normal but may comprise or lead to bullying.
- 47.7 Providing training to health and safety representatives and other health and safety personnel on the risk factors and relevant control measures to address the potential of bullying occurring.
- 47.8 Ensuring access to appropriate internal processes for dealing with complaints about alleged bullying. The appropriate internal processes will
  - (a) Be procedurally fair;
  - (b) Be enforceable;
  - (c) Be timely;



- (d) Allow for confidentiality where appropriate;
- (e) Provide the right for union representation; and
- (f) Where appropriate provide for an investigation to:
  - (i) investigate, establish the facts, make findings and develop recommendations for the resolution of the complaint; and
  - (ii) provide written advice regarding findings to all parties.
- 47.9 Any person covered by this agreement, has the right to take any complaint under this Clause to the Fair Work Commission, or another appropriate industrial forum, for resolution by mediation, conciliation or arbitration
- 47.10 This Clause is in addition to any right not to be bullied that is provided for by legislation and is not intended to reduce or diminish any rights provided for by legislation.

## 48 WORK LIFE BALANCE

- 48.1 The organisation aims, wherever practicable, to provide flexible working arrangements which supports employees in relation to their responsibilities to family and dependents and allows employees to achieve a better balance between their family and work commitments. It is acknowledged that issues/concerns external to work commitments may have a detrimental impact on an employee's ability to maximise their full potential at the workplace and that flexibility in work arrangements can provide assistance to manage those issues.
- 48.2 Such arrangements could include but are not limited:
  - Varying start and finish times (within the span of hours); and/or
  - A reduction in the number of hours worked per day or week; and/or
  - Purchased leave (ie 48/52) in accordance with Clause 30
  - Working from home



## **SECTION 9 ENVIRONMENTAL STRATEGIES**

## 49 ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITIES

- 49.1 Parties to this agreement are committed to reducing the environmental footprint by involving staff, students and unions to assist in funding solutions
- 49.2 During the life of this agreement the employer will endeavour to develop strategies to reduce CO2 emissions, water, energy, and waste consumption in the workplace. E.g. change to energy saving light bulbs, access to training.
- 49.3 In the workplace, the employer shall provide facilities for staff to recycle paper, plastic, glass and metal waste.
- Wherever practical, the employer will provide secure stands for bicycles to be parked at the workplace and wherever practical the employer will provide changing facilities, including a shower for staff.
- 49.5 No staff member shall be disadvantaged if they raise issues with the Manager or responsible person regarding environmental hazards within the workplace.



# **SCHEDULE 1 SIGNATORIES TO THE AGREEMENT**

Signed for and on behalf of the **NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSES VICTORIA** 

SIGNATURE	NAME and TITLE
Address: Shop B41 level 4 744 Bourke St Docklands 3008	
In the presence of:	
SIGNATURE	NAME
Address: Shop B41 level 4 744 Bourke St Docklands 3008	
Date	



Signed for and on behalf of the <b>JOBS AUSTRA</b>	ALIA	
SIGNATURE	NAME and TITLE	
Address: XX		
In the presence of:		
SIGNATURE	NAME	
Address:		
Date		



# Signed for and on behalf of **AUSTRALIAN SERVICES UNION VICTORIAN & TASMANIAN AUTHORITIES AND SERVICES BRANCH**

SIGNATURE	NAME and TITLE	
Address: 116 Queensberry St Carlton South Victoria 3053		
Authority: In accordance with the registered Rules of the	e Australian Services Union	
In the presence of:		
SIGNATURE	NAME	
Address: 116 Queensberry St Carlton South Victoria 3053		
Date		

#### SCHEDULE 2 CLASSIFICATION STANDARDS AND DESCRIPTORS

### PART A ADULT COMMUNITY EDUCATION (ESPSE Award) EMPLOYEES

#### **DEFINITIONS**

In applying the classification descriptors the following definitions are applied.

#### Supervision

#### 1.1.1 Close Supervision:

Clear and detailed instructions are provided. Tasks are covered by standard procedures. Deviation from procedures or unfamiliar situations are referred to higher levels. Work is regularly checked.

#### **Routine supervision:**

Direction is provided on the tasks to be undertaken with some latitude to rearrange sequences and discriminate between established methods. Guidance on the approach to standard circumstances is provided in procedures, guidance on the approach to non-standard circumstances is provided by a supervisor. Checking is selective rather than constant.

#### General direction:

Direction is provided on the assignments to be undertaken, with the employee determining the appropriate use of established methods, tasks and sequences. There is some scope to determine an approach in the absence of established procedures or detailed instructions, but guidance is readily available. Performance is checked by assignment completion.

#### **Broad direction:**

Direction is provided in terms of objectives which may require the planning of staff, time and material resources for their completion. Limited detailed guidance will be available and the development or modification of procedures by the employee may be required. Performance will be measured against objectives.

#### Qualifications

Within the Australian Qualifications Framework,

#### **Year 12:**

Completion of a Senior Secondary Certificate of Education, usually in Year 12 of secondary school.

#### **Trade certificate:**

Completion of an apprenticeship, normally of four years duration, or equivalent recognition, eg Certificate III.

#### Post-trade certificate:

A course of study over and above a trade certificate and less than a Certificate IV.

#### Certificates I and II:

Courses that recognise basic vocational skills and knowledge, without a Year 12 prerequisite.

#### **Certificate III:**

A course that provides a range of well-developed skills and is comparable to a trade certificate.



#### Certificate IV:

A course that provides greater breadth and depth of skill and knowledge and is comparable to a two year part-time post-Year 12 or post-trade certificate course.

#### Diploma:

A course at a higher education or vocational educational and training institution, typically equivalent to two years full time post-Year 12 study.

#### Advanced diploma:

A course at a higher education or vocational educational and training institution, typically equivalent to three years full time post-Year 12 study.

#### Degree:

A recognised degree from a higher education institution, often completed in three or four years, and sometimes combined with a one year diploma.

#### Postgraduate degree:

A recognised postgraduate degree, over and above a degree as defined above.

**Note**: Previously recognised qualifications obtained prior to the implementation of the Australian Qualifications Framework continue to be recognised. The above definitions also include equivalent recognised overseas qualifications.

#### Classification dimensions

#### 1.1.5 **Training level:**

The type and duration of training which the duties of the classification level typically require for effective performance. Training is the process of acquiring skills and knowledge through formal education, on the job instruction or exposure to procedures.

#### Occupational equivalent:

Examples of occupations typically falling within each classification level.

#### Level of supervision:

This dimension covers both the way in which staff are supervised or managed and the role of staff in supervising or managing others.

#### Task level:

The type, complexity and responsibility of tasks typically performed by staff within each classification level.

#### Organisational knowledge:

The level of knowledge and awareness of the organisation, its structure and functions that would be expected of employees at each proposed classification level, and the purposes to which that organisational knowledge may be put.

#### Judgement, independence and problem solving:

Judgement is the ability to make sound decisions, recognising the consequences of decisions taken or actions performed. Independence is the extent to which an employee is able (or allowed) to work effectively without supervision or direction. Problem solving is the process of defining or selecting the appropriate course of action where alternative courses of actions are available. This dimension looks at how much of each of these three qualities applies at each classification level.

#### **Typical activities:**

Examples of activities typically undertaken by employees in different occupations at each of the classification levels.

#### **CLASSIFICATION DESCRIPTORS**

#### General Staff Level 1

#### Training level or qualifications

Employees at the base of this level would not be required to have formal qualifications or work experience upon engagement.

Persons advancing through this level may typically perform duties which require a skill level which assumes and requires:

- (i) knowledge, training or experience relevant to the duties to be performed;
- (ii) completion of Year 12 without work experience;
- (iii) completion of Certificates I or II with work related experience; or
- (iv) an equivalent combination of experience and training.

#### Occupational equivalent

Labourer, security officer, administrative assistant, trainee for Level 2 duties.

#### Level of supervision

Close supervision or, in the case of more experienced employees working alone, routine supervision.

#### Task level

Straightforward administrative or manual duties, or elements of Level 2 duties under close supervision and structured on-the-job training. May be required to operate certain office or building equipment. Some knowledge of materials, e.g. cleaning chemicals may be required. With training and experience is able to perform a range of straightforward tasks where procedures are clearly established.

#### Organisational knowledge

Will provide straightforward information to others on building or service locations. With training may provide general information and assistance to members of the public, students and other employees based on a broad knowledge of the employee's work area/responsibilities including knowledge of the functions, locations and availability of particular personnel and services.

#### Judgment, independence and problem solving

Resolve problems where alternatives for the employee are limited and the required action is clear or can be readily referred to higher levels.

Employees advancing through this level will be able to solve relatively simple problems with reference to established techniques and practices and be able to choose between a range of straightforward alternatives.

An employee after 12 months or two years at this level should be able to perform a combination of various routine tasks and rearrange work sequences within the parameters of prearranged work priorities.

#### **Typical activities**

Perform a range of manual duties.

In administrative positions, perform routine clerical and office functions which may include duties involving the inward and outward movement of mail, keeping, copying, maintaining and retrieving records, straightforward data entry and retrieval.

Security officers may be involved in a range of patrol duties, including responding to alarms, following emergency procedures and preparing incident reports.



#### Training level or qualifications

Level 2 duties typically require a skill level which assumes and requires knowledge or training in clerical/administrative, trades or technical functions equivalent to:

- (i) completion of a trades certificate or Certificate III;
- (ii) completion of Year 12 or a Certificate II with relevant work experience; or
- (iii) an equivalent combination of relevant experience and/or education/training.

Persons advancing through this level may typically perform duties which require further on-the-job training or knowledge and training equivalent to progress toward completion of a Certificate IV or Diploma.

#### Occupational equivalent

Technical assistant/technical trainee, administrative assistant.

#### Level of supervision

In technical positions, routine supervision, moving to general direction with experience. In other positions, general direction. This is the first level where supervision of other employees may be required.

#### Task level

Task level will require some complexity. Apply body of knowledge equivalent to trade certificate or Certificate III, including diagnostic skills and assessment of the best approach to a given task.

#### Organisational knowledge

Perform tasks/assignments which require knowledge of the work area processes and an understanding of how they interact with other related areas and processes.

#### Judgment, independence and problem solving

Exercise judgment on work methods and task sequences within specified timelines and standard practices and procedures.

#### **Typical activities**

- (iv) In technical assistant positions:
- assist a technical officer in operating a laboratory, including ordering supplies;
- · assist in setting up routine experiments;
- monitor experiments for report to a technical officer;
- assist with the preparation of specimens; and
- · assist with the feeding and care of animals.

Employees would be expected to perform a greater range and complexity of tasks as they progressed through the level and obtained further training.

- (v) In administrative positions perform a range of administrative support tasks including:
- standard use of a range of desktop based programs, e.g. word processing, established spreadsheet or database applications, and management information systems (e.g. financial, student or human resource systems). This may include store and retrieve documents, key and lay out correspondence and reports, merge, move and copy, use of columns, tables and basic graphics;
- to provide general administrative support to other employees including setting up meetings, answering straightforward inquiries and directing others to the appropriate personnel; and
- to process accounts for payment.



#### Training level or qualifications

Level 3 duties typically require a skill level which assumes and requires knowledge or training equivalent to:

- (i) completion of a diploma level qualification with relevant work related experience;
- (ii) completion of a Certificate IV with relevant work experience;
- (iii) completion of a post-trades certificate and extensive relevant experience and on-the-job training;
- (iv) completion of a Certificate III with extensive relevant work experience; or
- (v) an equivalent combination of relevant experience and/or education/training.

#### Occupational equivalent

Technical officer or technician, administrative above Level 2.

#### Level of supervision

In technical positions, routine supervision to general direction depending upon experience and the complexity of the tasks. In other positions, general direction. May supervise or co-ordinate others to achieve objectives, including liaising with employees at higher levels. May undertake stand-alone work.

#### Task level

May undertake limited creative, planning or design functions. Apply skills to a varied range of different tasks.

#### Organisational knowledge

Perform tasks/assignments which require proficiency in the work area's rules, regulations, processes and techniques and how they interact with other related functions.

#### Judgment, independence and problem solving

- (vi) In technical positions, apply theoretical knowledge and techniques to a range of procedures and tasks.
- (vii) In administrative positions, provide factual advice which requires proficiency in the work area's rules and regulations, procedures requiring expertise in a specialist area or broad knowledge of a range of personnel and functions.

#### Typical activities

- (viii) In technical positions:
- develop new equipment to criteria developed and specified by others:
- under routine direction, assist in the conduct of major experiments and research programs and/or in setting up complex or unusual equipment for a range of experiments and demonstrations; and/or
- demonstrate the use of equipment and prepare reports of a technical nature as directed.

(ix)In library technician positions:

- · undertake copy cataloguing;
- · use a range of bibliographic databases;
- · undertake acquisitions; and/or
- · respond to reference inquiries.
- (x) In administrative positions:



- may use a full range of desktop based programs, including word processing packages, mathematical formulae and symbols, manipulation of text and layout in desktop publishing and/or web software and management information systems;
- plan and set up spreadsheets or database applications;
- be responsible for providing a full range of secretarial services;
- may be responsible for accounting transactions and the production of reports;
- provide advice to students on enrolment procedures and requirements; and/or
- administer enrolment and course progression records.

#### Training level or qualifications

Level 4 duties typically require a skill level which assumes and requires knowledge or training equivalent to:

- (i) completion of a degree without subsequent relevant work experience;
- (ii) completion of an advanced diploma qualification and at least one year's subsequent relevant work experience;
- (iii) completion of a diploma qualification and at least two years' subsequent relevant work experience;
- (iv) completion of a Certificate IV and extensive relevant work experience;
- (v) completion of a post-trade certificate and extensive (typically more than two years) relevant experience as a technician; or
- (vi) an equivalent combination of relevant experience and/or education/training.

#### Occupational equivalent

Graduate (i.e. degree) or professional, without subsequent work experience on entry (including inexperienced computer systems officer). Administrator with responsibility for advice and determinations. Experienced technical officer.

#### Level of supervision

In professional positions, routine supervision to general direction, depending on tasks involved and experience. In other positions, general direction and may supervise other staff.

#### Task level

Apply body of broad technical knowledge and experience at a more advanced level than Level 3, including the development of areas of specialist expertise. In professional positions, apply theoretical knowledge, at degree level, in a straightforward way. In administrative positions, provide interpretation, advice and decisions on rules and entitlements.

#### Organisational knowledge

Perform tasks/assignments which require proficiency in the work area's rules, regulations, policies, procedures, systems, processes and techniques, and how they interact with other related functions, in order to assist in their adaptation to achieve objectives, and advise, assist and influence others.

#### Judgment, independence and problem solving

In professional positions, solve problems through the standard application of theoretical principles and techniques at degree level. In technical positions, apply standard technical training and experience to solve problems. In administrative positions, may apply expertise in a particular set of rules or regulations to make decisions, or be responsible for co-ordinating a team to provide an administrative service.

#### Typical activities

- (vii) In technical positions:
- develop new equipment to general specifications;



- under general direction, assist in the conduct of major experiments and research programs and/or in setting up complex or unusual equipment for a range of experiments and demonstrations;
- under broad direction, set up, monitor and demonstrate standard experiments and equipment use; and/or
- prepare reports of a technical nature.
   o In library technician positions:
- perform at a higher level than Level 3;
- assist with reader education programs and more complex bibliographic and acquisition services; and/or
- operate a discrete unit within a library which may involve significant supervision or be the senior employee in an out-posted service.
  - o In administrative positions:
- responsible for the explanation and administration of an administrative function, e.g. student fees or HECS advice, records, determinations and payments, a centralised enrolment function, the organisation and administration of exams at a small campus;
- provide reports to management in account/financial, staffing; legislative requirements and other institutional activities; and/or
- administer salary and payroll requirements of the organisation.
  - o In professional positions and under professional supervision:
- provide a range of library services including bibliographic assistance, original cataloguing and reader education in library and reference services; and/or
- · provide counselling services.

#### Training level or qualifications

Level 5 duties typically require a skill level which assumes and requires knowledge or training equivalent to:

- a degree with subsequent relevant experience;
- extensive experience and specialist expertise or broad knowledge in technical or administrative fields; or
- an equivalent combination of relevant experience and/or education/training.

#### Occupational equivalent

Graduate or professional with subsequent relevant work experience (including a computer systems officer with some experience), line manager, experienced technical specialist and/or technical supervisor.

#### Level of supervision

In professional positions, general direction; in other positions, broad direction. May have extensive supervisory and line management responsibility for technical, administrative and other non-professional employees.

#### Task level

Perform work assignments guided by policy, precedent, professional standards and managerial or technical expertise. Employees would have the latitude to develop or redefine procedure and interpret policy so long as other work areas are not affected. In technical and administrative areas, have a depth or breadth of expertise developed through extensive relevant experience and application.

#### Organisational knowledge

Perform tasks/assignments which require proficiency in the work area's existing rules, regulations,



policies, procedures, systems, processes and techniques and how they interact with other related functions, and to adapt those procedures and techniques as required to achieve objectives without impacting on other areas.

#### Judgment, independence and problem solving

Discretion to innovate within own function and take responsibility for outcomes, design, develop and test complex equipment, systems and procedures, undertake planning involving resources use and develop proposals for resource allocation, exercise high level diagnostic skills on sophisticated equipment or systems, analyse and report on data and experiments.

#### Typical activities

- (i) In technical positions:
- manage a teaching or research laboratory or a field station;
- provide highly specialised technical services;
- set up complex experiments;
- design and construct complex or unusual equipment to general specifications;
- assist honours and postgraduate students with their laboratory requirements; and/or
- install, repair, provide and demonstrate computer services in laboratories.
- (ii) In administrative positions:
- provide financial, policy and planning advice;
- service a range of administrative and academic committees, including preparation of agendas, papers, minutes and correspondence; and/or
- · monitor expenditure against budget.
- (iii) In professional positions:
- provide a range of library services, including bibliographic assistance, original cataloguing and reader education in library and reference services;
- · provide counselling services;
- undertake a range of computer programming tasks;
- provide documentation and assistance to computer users; and/or
- analyse less complex user and system requirements.

#### General Staff Level 6

#### Training level or qualifications

Level 6 duties typically require a skill level which assumes and requires knowledge or training equivalent to:

- (i) a degree with at least four years' subsequent relevant experience;
- (ii) extensive experience and management expertise in technical or administrative fields; or
- (iii) an equivalent combination of relevant experience and/or education/training.

#### Occupational equivalent

Senior librarian, technical manager, professional or scientific officer, senior administrator in a small organisation.

#### Level of supervision

Broad direction. May manage other employees including administrative, technical and/or professional employees.



#### Task level

Independently relate existing policy to work assignments or rethink the way a specific body of knowledge is applied in order to solve problems. In professional or technical positions, may be a recognised authority in a specialised area.

#### Organisational knowledge

Detailed knowledge of academic and administrative policies and the interrelationships between a range of policies and activities.

#### Judgment, independence and problem solving

Independently relate existing policy to work assignments, rethink the way a specific body of knowledge is applied in order to solve problems, adapt procedures to fit policy prescriptions or use theoretical principles in modifying and adapting techniques. This may involve stand-alone work or the supervision of employees in order to achieve objectives. It may also involve the interpretation of policy which has an impact beyond the immediate work area.

#### **Typical activities**

- (iv) In a library, combine specialist expertise and responsibilities for managing a library function.
- (v) In student services, the training and supervision of other professional employees combined with policy development responsibilities which may include professional development activities contributing to the profession and publication.
- (vi) In technical manager positions, the management of teaching and scientific facilities.
- (vii) In administrative positions, provide senior administrative support to a small organisation, or manage a functional unit with some complexity in a larger organisation.

#### **General Staff Level 7**

#### (a) Training level or qualifications

Level 7 duties typically require a skill level which assumes and requires knowledge or training equivalent to:

- (i) postgraduate qualifications or progress towards postgraduate qualifications and extensive relevant experience;
- (ii) extensive experience and management expertise; or
- (iii) an equivalent combination of relevant experience and/or education/training.

#### Occupational equivalent

Manager (including administrative, professional or scientific), senior administrator in a medium sized organisation.

#### Level of supervision

Broad direction, working with a degree of autonomy. May have management responsibility for a functional area and/or manage other employees including administrative, technical and/or professional employees.

#### Task level

Work at this level is likely to require the development of new ways of using a specific body of knowledge which applies to work assignments, or may involve the integration of other specific bodies of knowledge.

#### Organisational knowledge

The employees will be expected to make policy recommendations to others and to implement programs involving major change which may impact on other areas of the institution's operations.

#### Judgment, independence and problem solving



Responsible for program development and implementation. Provide strategic support and advice requiring integration of a range of organisational policies and external requirements, and an ability to achieve objectives operating within complex organisation structures.

#### **Typical activities**

- (i) Assist in the management of a large functional unit with a diverse or complex set of functions and significant resources.
- (ii) Manage a function or development and implementation of a policy requiring a high degree of knowledge and sensitivity.
- (iii) Manage a small or specialised unit where significant innovation, initiative and/or judgment are required.
- (iv) Provide senior administrative support to organisations of medium complexity, taking into account the size, budget, course structure, external activities and management practices.

#### General Staff Level 8

#### Training level or qualifications

Level 8 duties typically require a skill level which assumes and requires knowledge or training equivalent to:

- (i) postgraduate qualifications and extensive relevant experience; or
- (ii) extensive management experience and proven management expertise; or
- (iii) an equivalent combination of relevant experience and/or education/training.

#### Occupational equivalent

Manager (including administrative, professional or scientific), senior administrator in a more complex organisation.

#### Level of supervision

Broad direction, working with a considerable degree of autonomy. Will have management responsibility for a major functional area and/or manage other employees including administrative, technical and/or professional employees.

#### Task level

Demonstrated capacity to conceptualise, develop and review major professional, management or administrative policies at the corporate level. Significant high level creative, planning and management functions. Responsibility for significant resources.

#### Organisational knowledge

Conceptualise, develop and review major policies, objectives and strategies involving high level liaison with internal and external client areas. Responsible for programs involving major change which may impact on other areas of the institution's operations.

#### Judgment, independence and problem solving

Responsible for significant program development and implementation. Provide strategic support and advice (e.g. to schools or faculties or at the corporate level) requiring integration of a range of internal and external policies and demands, and an ability to achieve broad objectives while operating within complex organisational structures.

#### Typical activities

- (i) Assist in the management of a large functional unit with a diverse or complex set of functions and significant resources.
- (ii) Manage a function or development and implementation of a policy requiring a high degree of knowledge and sensitivity and the integration of internal and external requirements.
- (iii) Manage a small and specialised unit where significant innovation, initiative and/or



judgment are required.

(iv) Provide senior administrative support to the more complex organisations, taking into account the size, budget, course structure, external activities and management practices.

#### General Staff Level 9

#### Training level or qualifications

Level 9 duties typically require a skill level which assumes and requires knowledge or training equivalent to:

- (i) proven expertise in the management of significant human and material resources; and
- (ii) in some areas postgraduate qualifications and extensive relevant experience.

#### Occupational equivalent

Senior program manager or administrative manager.

#### Level of supervision

Broad direction, operating with a high overall degree of autonomy. Will have substantial management responsibility for diverse activities and/or employees (including administrative, technical and/or professional employees).

#### Task level

Complex, significant and high level creative planning, program and managerial functions with clear accountability for program performance. Comprehensive knowledge of related programs. Generate and use a high level of theoretical and applied knowledge.

#### Organisational knowledge

Bring a multi-perspective understanding to the development, carriage, marketing and implementation of new policies; devise new ways of adapting the organisation's strategies to new, including externally generated, demands.

#### Judgment, independence and problem solving

Be fully responsible for the achievement of significant organisational objectives and programs.

#### Typical activities

- (iii) Manage a large functional unit with a diverse or complex set of functions and significant resources.
- (iv)Manage a more complex function or unit where significant innovation, initiative and/or judgment are required.
- (v) Provide senior administrative support to the most complex and larger organisations involving complex course structures, significant staff and financial resources, outside activities and extensive devolution of administrative, policy and financial management responsibilities to



#### SCHEDULE 2 PART B

## NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSE (SCHADS AWARD) EMPLOYEES CLASSIFICATION DEFINITIONS

#### B1 Social and community services employee level 1

#### **B.1.1 Characteristics of the level**

- (a) A person employed as a Social and community services employee level 1 works under close direction and undertakes routine activities which require the practical application of basic skills and techniques. They may include the initial recruit who may have limited relevant experience.
- (b) General features of work at this level consist of performing clearly defined activities with outcomes being readily attainable. Employees' duties at this level will be closely monitored with instruction and assistance being readily available.
- (c) Freedom to act is limited by standards and procedures. However, with experience, employees at this level may have sufficient freedom to exercise judgment in the planning of their own work within those confines.
- (d) Positions at this level will involve employees in extensive on-the-job training including familiarisation with the goals and objectives of the workplace.
- (e) Employees will be responsible for the time management of their work and required to use basic numeracy, written and verbal communication skills, and where relevant, skills required to assist with personal care and lifestyle support.
- (f) Supervision of other staff or volunteers is not a feature at this level. However, an experienced employee may have technical oversight of a minor work activity.
- (g) At this level, employers are expected to offer substantial internal and/or external training.

#### **B.1.2 Responsibilities**

A position at this level may include some of the following inputs or those of a similar value:

- (a) undertake routine activities of a clerical and/or support nature;
- (b) undertake straightforward operation of keyboard equipment including data input and word processing at a basic level;
- (c) provide routine information including general reception and telephonist duties;
- (d) provide general stenographic duties;
- (e) apply established practices and procedures;
- (f) undertake routine office duties involving filing, recording, checking and batching of accounts, invoices, orders, stores requisitions and maintenance of an existing records system;
- (g) resident contact and interaction including attending to their personal care or undertaking generic domestic duties under direct or routine supervision and either individually or as part of a team as part of the delivery of disability services;
- (h) preparation of the full range of domestic duties including cleaning and food service, assistance to residents in carrying out personal care tasks under general supervision either individually or as part of a team as part of the delivery of disability services.

The minimum rate of pay for employees engaged in responsibilities which are prescribed by B.1.2(h) is pay point 2.

#### **B.1.3 Requirements of the position**



Some or all of the following are needed to perform work at this level:

#### (a) Skills, knowledge, experience, qualifications and/or training

- (i) developing knowledge of the workplace function and operation;
- (ii) basic knowledge of administrative practices and procedures relevant to the workplace;
- (iii) a developing knowledge of work practices and policies of the relevant work area;
- (iv) basic numeracy, written and verbal communication skills relevant to the work area;
- (v) at this level employers are required to offer substantial on-the-job training.

#### (b) Organisational relationships

Work under direct supervision.

#### (c) Extent of authority

- (i) Work outcomes are clearly monitored.
- (ii) Freedom to act is limited by standards and procedures.
- (iii) Solutions to problems are found in established procedures and instructions with assistance readily available.
- (iv) Project completion according to instructions and established procedures.
- (v) No scope for interpretation.

#### (d) **Progression**

An employee primarily engaged in responsibilities which are prescribed by B.1.2(g) will, if full-time, progress to pay point 2 on completion of 12 months' industry experience, or if part-time, on completion of 1976 hours of industry experience. Industry experience means 12 months of relevant experience gained over the previous 3 years.

#### B.2 Social and community services employee level 2

#### **B.2.1 Characteristics of the level**

- (a) A person employed as a Social and community services employee level 2 will work under general guidance within clearly defined guidelines and undertake a range of activities requiring the application of acquired skills and knowledge.
- (b) General features at this level consist of performing functions which are defined by established routines, methods, standards and procedures with limited scope to exercise initiative in applying work practices and procedures. Assistance will be readily available. Employees may be responsible for a minor function and/or may contribute specific knowledge and/or specific skills to the work of the organisation. In addition, employees may be required to assist senior workers with specific projects.
- (c) Employees will be expected to have an understanding of work procedures relevant to their work area and may provide assistance to lower classified employees or volunteers concerning established procedures to meet the objectives of a minor function.
- (d) Employees will be responsible for managing time, planning and organising their own work and may be required to oversee and/or guide the work of a limited number of lower classified employees or volunteers. Employees at this level could be required to resolve minor work procedural issues in the relevant work area within established constraints.
- (e) Employees who have completed an appropriate certificate and are required to undertake work related to that certificate will be appointed to this level. Where the appropriate certificate is a level 4 certificate the minimum rate of pay will be pay point 2.
- (f) Employees who have completed an appropriate diploma and are required to undertake work related to the diploma will commence at the second pay point of this level and will advance after 12 full-time equivalent months' satisfactory service.

#### **B.2.2 Responsibilities**



A position at this level may include some of the following:

- undertake a range of activities requiring the application of established work procedures and may exercise limited initiative and/or judgment within clearly established procedures and/or guidelines;
- (b) achieve outcomes which are clearly defined;
- (c) respond to enquiries;
- (d) assist senior employees with special projects;
- (e) prepare cash payment summaries, banking reports and bank statements, post journals to ledger etc. and apply purchasing and inventory control requirements;
- (f) perform elementary tasks within a community service program requiring knowledge of established work practices and procedures relevant to the work area;
- (g) provide secretarial support requiring the exercise of sound judgment, initiative, confidentiality and sensitivity in the performance of work;
- (h) perform tasks of a sensitive nature including the provision of more than routine information, the receiving and accounting for moneys and assistance to clients;
- (i) assist in calculating and maintaining wage and salary records;
- (j) assist with administrative functions;
- (k) implementing client skills and activities programmes under limited supervision either individually or as part of a team as part of the delivery of disability services;
- (I) supervising or providing a wide range of personal care services to residents under limited supervision either individually or as part of a team as part of the delivery of disability services;
- (m) assisting in the development or implementation of resident care plans or the planning, cooking or preparation of the full range of meals under limited supervision either individually or as part of a team as part of the delivery of disability services;
- (n) possessing an appropriate qualification (as identified by the employer) at the level of certificate 4 or above and supervising the work of others (including work allocation, rostering and providing guidance) as part of the delivery of disability services as described above or in subclause B.1.2.

#### **B.2.3 Requirements of the position**

Some or all of the following are needed to perform work at this level:

#### (a) Skills, knowledge, experience, qualification and/or training

- (i) basic skills in oral and written communication with clients and other members of the public;
- (ii) knowledge of established work practices and procedures relevant to the workplace;
- (iii) knowledge of policies relating to the workplace;
- (iv) application of techniques relevant to the workplace;
- (v) developing knowledge of statutory requirements relevant to the workplace;
- (vi) understanding of basic computing concepts.

#### (b) **Prerequisites**

- (i) an appropriate certificate relevant to the work required to be performed:
- (ii) will have attained previous experience in a relevant industry, service or an equivalent level of expertise and experience to undertake the range of activities required;
- (iii) appropriate on-the-job training and relevant experience; or
- (iv) entry point for a diploma without experience.

#### (c) Organisational relationships



- (i) work under regular supervision except where this level of supervision is not required by the nature of responsibilities under B.2.2 being undertaken;
- (ii) provide limited guidance to a limited number of lower classified employees.

#### (d) Extent of authority

- (i) work outcomes are monitored;
- (ii) have freedom to act within established guidelines;
- (iii) solutions to problems may require the exercise of limited judgment, with guidance to be found in procedures, precedents and guidelines. Assistance will be available when problems occur.

#### B.3 Social and community services employee level 3

#### **B.3.1 Characteristics of this level**

- (a) A person employed as a Social and community services employee level 3 will work under general direction in the application of procedures, methods and guidelines which are well established.
- (b) General features of this level involve solving problems of limited difficulty using knowledge, judgment and work organisational skills acquired through qualifications and/or previous work experience. Assistance is available from senior employees. Employees may receive instruction on the broader aspects of the work. In addition, employees may provide assistance to lower classified employees.
- (c) Positions at this level allow employees the scope for exercising initiative in the application of established work procedures and may require the employee to establish goals/objectives and outcomes for their own particular work program or project.
- (d) At this level, employees may be required to supervise lower classified staff or volunteers in their day-to-day work. Employees with supervisory responsibilities may undertake some complex operational work and may undertake planning and co-ordination of activities within a clearly defined area of the organisation including managing the day-to-day operations of a group of residential facility for persons with a disability.
- (e) Employees will be responsible for managing and planning their own work and that of subordinate staff or volunteers and may be required to deal with formal disciplinary issues within the work area.
- (f) Those with supervisory responsibilities should have a basic knowledge of the principles of human resource management and be able to assist subordinate staff or volunteers with onthe-job training. They may be required to supervise more than one component of the work program of the organisation.
- (g) Graduates with a three-year degree that undertake work related to the responsibilities under this level will commence at no lower than pay point 3. Graduates with a four-year degree that undertake work related to the responsibilities under this level will commence at no lower than pay point 4.

#### **B.3.2 Responsibilities**

To contribute to the operational objectives of the work area, a position at this level may include some of the following:

- (a) undertake responsibility for various activities in a specialised area;
- (b) exercise responsibility for a function within the organisation;
- (c) allow the scope for exercising initiative in the application of established work procedures;
- (d) assist in a range of functions and/or contribute to interpretation of matters for which there are no clearly established practices and procedures although such activity would not be the sole responsibility of such an employee within the workplace;



- (e) provide secretarial and/or administrative support requiring a high degree of judgment, initiative, confidentiality and sensitivity in the performance of work;
- (f) assist with or provide a range of records management services, however the responsibility for the records management service would not rest with the employee;
- (g) proficient in the operation of the computer to enable modification and/or correction of computer software systems or packages and/or identification problems. This level could include systems administrators in small to medium sized organisations whose responsibility includes the security/integrity of the system;
- (h) apply computing programming knowledge and skills in systems development, maintenance and implementation under direction of a senior employee;
- (i) supervise a limited number of lower classified employees or volunteers;
- (j) allow the scope for exercising initiative in the application of established work procedures;
- (k) deliver single stream training programs;
- (I) co-ordinate elementary service programs;
- (m) provide assistance to senior employees;
- (n) where prime responsibility lies in a specialised field, employees at this level would undertake at least some of the following:
  - (i) undertake some minor phase of a broad or more complex assignment;
  - (ii) perform duties of a specialised nature;
  - (iii) provide a range of information services;
  - (iv) plan and co-ordinate elementary community-based projects or programs;
  - (v) perform moderately complex functions including social planning, demographic analysis, survey design and analysis.
- (o) in the delivery of disability services as described in subclauses B.1.2 or B.2.2, taking overall responsibility for the personal care of residents; training, coordinating and supervising other employees and scheduling work programmes; and assisting in liaison and co-ordination with other services and programmes.

#### **B.3.3** Requirements of the job

Some or all of the following are needed to perform work at this level:

#### (a) Skills, knowledge, experience, qualifications and/or training

- (i) thorough knowledge of work activities performed within the workplace;
- (ii) sound knowledge of procedural/operational methods of the workplace;
- (iii) may utilise limited professional or specialised knowledge;
- (iv) working knowledge of statutory requirements relevant to the workplace;
- (v) ability to apply computing concepts.

#### (b) Prerequisites

- (i) entry level for graduates with a relevant three-year degree that undertake work related to the responsibilities under this level—pay point 3;
- (ii) entry level for graduates with a relevant four-year degree that undertake work related to the responsibilities under this level—pay point 4;
- (iii) associate diploma with relevant experience; or
- (iv) relevant certificate with relevant experience, or experience attained through previous appointments, services and/or study of an equivalent level of expertise and/or experience to undertake the range of activities required.

#### (c) Organisational relationships



- (i) graduates work under direct supervision;
- (ii) works under general supervision except where this level of supervision is not required by the nature of the responsibilities under B.3.2 being undertaken;
- (iii) operate as member of a team;
- (iv) supervision of other employees.

#### (d) Extent of authority

- (i) graduates receive instructions on the broader aspects of the work;
- (ii) freedom to act within defined established practices;
- (iii) problems can usually be solved by reference to procedures, documented methods and instructions. Assistance is available when problems occur.

#### B.4 Social and community services employee level 4

#### **B.4.1 Characteristics of this level**

- (a) A person employed as a Social and community services employee level 4 will work under general direction in functions that require the application of skills and knowledge appropriate to the work. Generally, guidelines and work procedures are established.
- (b) General features at this level require the application of knowledge and skills which are gained through qualifications and/or previous experience in a discipline. Employees will be expected to contribute knowledge in establishing procedures in the appropriate work-related field. In addition, employees at this level may be required to supervise various functions within a work area or activities of a complex nature.
- (c) Positions may involve a range of work functions which could contain a substantial component of supervision. Employees may also be required to provide specialist expertise or advice in their relevant discipline.
- (d) Work at this level requires a sound knowledge of program, activity, operational policy or service aspects of the work performed with a function or a number of work areas.
- (e) Employees require skills in managing time, setting priorities, planning and organising their own work and that of lower classified staff and/or volunteers where supervision is a component of the position, to achieve specific objectives.
- (f) Employees will be expected to set outcomes and further develop work methods where general work procedures are not defined.

#### **B.4.2 Responsibilities**

To contribute to the operational objectives of the workplace, a position at this level may include some of the following:

- (a) undertake activities which may require the employee to exercise judgment and/or contribute critical knowledge and skills where procedures are not clearly defined;
- (b) perform duties of a specialised nature requiring the development of expertise over time or previous knowledge;
- (c) identification of specific or desired performance outcomes;
- (d) contribute to interpretation and administration of areas of work for which there are no clearly established procedures;
- (e) expected to set outcomes and further develop work methods where general work procedures are not defined and could exercise judgment and contribute critical knowledge and skills where procedures are not clearly defined;



- (f) although still under general direction, there is greater scope to contribute to the development of work methods and the setting of outcomes. However, these must be within the clear objectives of the organisation and within budgetary constraints;
- (g) provide administrative support of a complex nature to senior employees;
- (h) exercise responsibility for various functions within a work area;
- (i) provide assistance on grant applications including basic research or collection of data;
- (j) undertake a wide range of activities associated with program activity or service delivery;
- (k) develop, control and administer a records management service for the receipt, custody, control, preservation and retrieval of records and related material;
- (I) undertake computer operations requiring technical expertise and experience and may exercise initiative and judgment in the application of established procedures and practices;
- (m) apply computer programming knowledge and skills in systems development, maintenance and implementation;
- (n) provide a reference and research information service and technical service including the facility to understand and develop technologically based systems;
- (o) where the prime responsibility lies in a specialised field, employees at this level would undertake at least some of the following:
  - (i) liaise with other professionals at a technical/professional level;
  - (ii) discuss techniques, procedures and/or results with clients on straight forward matters;
  - (iii) lead a team within a specialised project;
  - (iv) provide a reference, research and/or technical information service;
  - (v) carry out a variety of activities in the organisation requiring initiative and judgment in the selection and application of established principles, techniques and methods;
  - (vi) perform a range of planning functions which may require exercising knowledge of statutory and legal requirements:
  - (vii) assist senior employees with the planning and co-ordination of a community program of a complex nature.

#### **B.4.3** Requirements of the position

Some or all of the following are needed to perform work at this level:

#### (a) Skills, knowledge, experience, qualifications and/or training

- (i) knowledge of statutory requirements relevant to work;
- (ii) knowledge of organisational programs, policies and activities;
- (iii) sound discipline knowledge gained through experience, training or education;
- (iv) knowledge of the role of the organisation and its structure and service;
- (v) specialists require an understanding of the underlying principles in the discipline.

#### (b) **Prerequisites**

- (i) relevant four-year degree with one years relevant experience;
- (ii) three-year degree with two years of relevant experience;
- (iii) associate diploma with relevant experience;
- (iv) lesser formal qualifications with substantial years of relevant experience; or
- (v) attained through previous appointments, service and/or study, an equivalent level of expertise and experience to undertake a range of activities.



- (c) Employees undertaking specialised services will be promoted to this level once they have had the appropriate experience and undertake work related to the responsibilities under this level.
- (d) Employees working as sole employees will commence at this level.

#### (e) Organisational relationships

- (i) works under general direction;
- (ii) supervises other staff and/or volunteers or works in a specialised field.

#### (f) Extent of authority

- (i) required to set outcomes within defined constraints;
- (ii) provides specialist technical advice;
- (iii) freedom to act governed by clear objectives and/or budget constraints which may involve the contribution of knowledge in establishing procedures within the clear objectives and/or budget constraints where there are no defined established practices;
- (iv) solutions to problems generally found in precedents, guidelines or instructions;
- (v) assistance usually available.

#### B.5 Social and community services employee level 5

#### **B.5.1 Characteristics of the level**

- (a) A person employed as a Social and community services employee level 5 will work under general direction from senior employees. Employees undertake a range of functions requiring the application of a high level of knowledge and skills to achieve results in line with the organisation's goals.
- (b) Employees adhere to established work practices. However, they may be required to exercise initiative and judgment where practices and direction are not clearly defined.
- (c) General features at this level indicate involvement in establishing organisation programs and procedures. Positions will include a range of work functions and may involve supervision. Work may span more than one discipline. In addition, employees at this level may be required to assist in the preparation of or prepare the organisation's budget. Employees at this level will be required to provide expert advice to employees classified at a lower level and volunteers.
- (d) Positions at this level demand the application of knowledge which is gained through qualifications and/or previous experience. In addition, employees will be required to set priorities and monitor workflows in their area of responsibility which may include establishing work programs in small organisations.
- (e) Employees are required to set priorities, plan and organise their own work and that of lower classified staff and/or volunteers and establish the most appropriate operational methods for the organisation. In addition, interpersonal skills are required to gain the co-operation of clients and staff.
- (f) Employees responsible for projects and/or functions will be required to establish outcomes to achieve organisation goals. Specialists may be required to provide multi-disciplinary advice.

#### **B.5.2 Responsibilities**

To contribute to the operational objectives of the work area, a position at this level may include some of the following:

- (a) responsibility for a range of functions within the organisation requiring a high level of knowledge and skills;
- (b) undertake responsibility for a moderately complex project, including planning, co-ordination, implementation and administration;



- (c) undertake a minor phase of a broader or more complex professional assignment;
- (d) assist with the preparation of or prepare organisation or program budgets in liaison with management;
- (e) set priorities and monitor workflow in the areas of responsibility;
- (f) provide expert advice to employees classified at lower levels and/or volunteers;
- (g) exercise judgment and initiative where procedures are not clearly defined;
- (h) understanding of all areas of computer operation to enable the provision of advice and assistance when non-standard procedures/processes are required;
- (i) monitor and interpret legislation, regulations and other agreements relating to occupational health and safety, workers compensation and rehabilitation;
- (j) undertake analysis/design for the development and maintenance of projects and/or undertake programming in specialist areas. May exercise responsibility for a specialised area of computing operation
- (k) undertake publicity assignments within the framework of the organisation's publicity and promotions program. Such assignments would be of limited scope and complexity but would involve the co-ordination of facets of the total program including media liaison, design and layout of publications/displays and editing;
- (l) operate as a specialist employee in the relevant discipline where decisions made and taken rest with the employee with no reference to a senior employee;
- (m) undertake duties that require knowledge of procedures, guidelines and/or statutory requirements relevant to the organisation;
- (n) plan, co-ordinate, implement and administer the activities and policies including preparation of budget;
- (o) develop, plan and supervise the implementation of educational and/or developmental programs for clients;
- (p) plan, co-ordinate and administer the operation of a multi-functional service including financial management and reporting;
- (q) where the prime responsibility lies in professional services, employees at this level would undertake at least some of the following:
  - (i) under general direction undertake a variety of tasks of a specialised and/or detailed nature;
  - (ii) exercise professional judgment within prescribed areas;
  - (iii) carry out planning, studies or research for particular projects including aspects of design, formulation of policy, implementation of procedures and presentation;
  - (iv) provide reports on progress of program activities including recommendations;
  - (v) exercise a high level of interpersonal skills in dealing with the public and other organisations;
  - (vi) plan, develop and operate a community service organisation of a moderately complex nature.

#### **B.5.3** Requirements of the position

Some or all of the following are needed to perform work at this level:

- (a) Skills, knowledge, experience, qualifications and/or training
  - (i) knowledge of organisational programs, policies and activities;
  - (ii) sound discipline knowledge gained through experience;
  - (iii) knowledge of the role of the organisation, its structure and services.
- (b) **Prerequisites**



- (i) relevant degree with relevant experience;
- (ii) associate diploma with substantial experience;
- (iii) qualifications in more than one discipline;
- (iv) less formal qualifications with specialised skills sufficient to perform at this level; or
- (v) attained through previous appointments, service and/or study an equivalent level of experience and expertise to undertake the range of activities required.

#### (c) Organisational relationships

- (i) work under general direction;
- (ii) supervise other employees and/or volunteers.

#### (d) Extent of authority

- (i) exercise a degree of autonomy;
- (ii) control projects and/or programs;
- (iii) set outcomes for lower classified staff;
- (iv) establish priorities and monitor workflow in areas of responsibility;
- (v) solutions to problems can generally be found in documented techniques, precedents and guidelines or instructions. Assistance is available when required.

#### B.6 Social and community services employee level 6

#### **B.6.1 Characteristics of the level**

- (a) A person employed as a Social and community services employee level 6 will operate under limited direction from senior employees or management and undertake a range of functions for which operational policies, practices and guidelines may need to be developed.
- (b) General features at this level allow employees the scope to influence the operational activities of the organisation and would require employees to be involved with establishing operational procedures which impact upon the organisation and/or the sections of the community served by it. Employees at this level will be expected to contribute to management of the organisation, assist or prepare budgets, establish procedures and work practices. Employees will be involved in the formation of programs and work practices and will be required to provide assistance and/or expert advice to other employees. Employees may be required to negotiate matters on behalf of the organisation.
- (c) Positions at this level will require responsibility for decision-making in the particular work area and the provision of expert advice. Employees will be required to provide consultation and assistance relevant to the workplace. Employees will be required to set outcomes for the work areas for which they are responsible so as to achieve the objectives of the organisation. They may be required to undertake the control and co-ordination of a program, project and/or significant work area. Employees require a good understanding of the long-term goals of the organisation.
- (d) Employees may exercise managerial responsibility, work independently as specialists or may be a senior member of a single discipline project team or provide specialist support to a range of programs or activities. Positions at this level may be identified by: impact of activities undertaken or achievement of stated outcomes or objectives for the workplace; the level of responsibility for decision-making; the exercise of judgment; delegated authority; and the provision of expert advice.
- (e) Managing time is essential so outcomes can be achieved. A high level of interpersonal skills is required to resolve organisational issues, negotiate contracts, develop and motivate staff. Employees will be required to understand and implement effective staff management and personnel practices.

#### **B.6.2** Responsibilities



To contribute to the operational objectives of the work area, a position at this level may include some of the following:

- (a) undertake significant projects and/or functions involving the use of analytical skills;
- (b) undertake managerial or specialised functions under a wide range of conditions to achieve results in line with organisation goals;
- exercise managerial control, involving the planning, direction, control and evaluation of operations which include providing analysis and interpretation for either a major single or multi-specialist operation;
- (d) undertake a range of duties within the work area, including develop work practices and procedures; problem definition, planning and the exercise of judgment; provide advice on policy matters and contribute to their development;
- (e) negotiate on matters of significance within the organisation with other bodies and/or members of the public;
- (f) provide advice on matters of complexity within the work area and/or specialised area;
- (g) control and co-ordinate a work area or a larger organisation within budgetary constraints;
- (h) exercise autonomy in establishing the operation of the work area;
- (i) provide a consultancy service for a range of activities and/or to a wide range of clients;
- (j) where the prime responsibility lies in a specialised field an employee at this level would undertake at least some of the following:
  - (i) provide support to a range of activities or programs;
  - (ii) control and co-ordinate projects;
  - (iii) contribute to the development of new procedures and methodology;
  - (iv) provide expert advice and assistance relevant to the work area;
  - (v) supervise/manage the operation of a work area and monitor work outcomes;
  - (vi) supervise on occasions other specialised staff;
  - (vii) supervise/manage the operation of a discrete element which is part of a larger organisation;
  - (viii) provide consultancy services for a range of activities.

#### **B.6.3** Requirements of the position

Some or all of the following are needed to perform work at this level:

#### (a) Skills, knowledge, experience, qualification and/or training

- (i) comprehensive knowledge of organisation policies and procedures:
- (ii) specialist skills and/or supervision/management abilities exercised within a multi-disciplinary or major single function operation;
- (iii) specialist knowledge gained through experience, training or education;
- (iv) appreciation of the long-term goals of the organisation;
- (v) detailed knowledge of program activities and work practices relevant to the work area;
- (vi) knowledge of organisation structures and functions;
- (vii) comprehensive knowledge of requirements relevant to the discipline.

#### (b) **Prerequisites**

- (i) degree with substantial experience;
- (ii) post graduate qualification;
- (iii) associate diploma with substantial experience;



(iv) attained through previous appointments, service and/or study with a combination of experience, expertise and competence sufficient to perform the duties required at this level.

#### (c) Organisational relationships

- (i) works under limited direction from senior employees of the Committee of Management or Board;
- (ii) supervision of staff.

#### (d) Extent of authority

- (i) exercise a degree of autonomy;
- (ii) may manage a work area or medium to large organisation or multi-worksite organisation;
- (iii) has significant delegated authority;
- (iv) selection of methods and techniques based on sound judgment;
- (v) manage significant projects and/or functions:
- (vi) solutions to problems can generally be found in documented techniques, precedents, or instructions. Advice available on complex or unusual matters.

#### B.7 Social and community services employee level 7

#### **B.7.1 Characteristics of the level**

- (a) A person employed as a Community services employee level 7 will operate under limited direction and exercise managerial responsibility for various functions within a section and/or organisation or operate as a specialist, a member of a specialised professional team or independently.
- (b) General features at this level require employees' involvement in establishing operational procedures which impact on activities undertaken and outcomes achieved by the organisation and/or activities undertaken by sections of the community served by the organisation.
- (c) Employees are involved in the formation/establishment of programs, the procedures and work practices within the organisation and will be required to provide assistance to other employees and/or sections.
- (d) Positions at this level will demand responsibility for decision-making and the provision of expert advice to other areas of the organisation. Employees would be expected to undertake the control and co-ordination of the organisation and major work initiatives. Employees require a good understanding of the long-term goals of the organisation.
- (e) In addition, positions at this level may be identified by the level of responsibility for decision-making, the exercise of judgment and delegated authority and the provision of expert advice.
- (f) The management of staff is normally a feature at this level. Employees are required to set outcomes in relation to the organisation and may be required to negotiate matters on behalf of the organisation.

#### **B.7.2 Responsibilities**

To contribute to the operational objectives of the work area, a position at this level may include some of the following:

- (a) undertake managerial or specialised functions under a wide range of conditions to achieve results in line with divisional/corporate goals;
- (b) exercise managerial control, involving the planning, direction, control and evaluation of operations which include providing analysis and interpretation for either a major single discipline or multi-discipline operation;
- (c) develop work practices and procedures for various projects;



- (d) establish work area outcomes;
- (e) prepare budget submissions for senior officers and/or the organisation;
- (f) develop and implement significant operational procedures;
- (g) review operations to determine their effectiveness;
- (h) develop appropriate methodology and apply proven techniques in providing specialised services
- (i) where prime responsibility lies in a professional field an officer at this level:
  - (i) controls and co-ordinates projects/programs within an organisation in accordance with corporate goals;
  - (ii) provides a consultancy service to a wide range of clients;
  - (iii) functions may involve complex professional problem solving;
  - (iv) provides advice on policy method and contributes to its development.

#### **B.7.3 Requirements of the position**

Some or all of the following are needed to perform work at this level:

#### (a) Skills, knowledge, experience, qualification and/or training

- (i) comprehensive knowledge of policies and procedures;
- (ii) application of a high level of discipline knowledge;
- (iii) qualifications are generally beyond those required through tertiary education alone, typically acquired through completion of higher education qualifications to degree level and extensive relevant experience;
- (iv) lesser formal qualifications with acquisition of considerable skills and extensive relevant experience to an equivalent standard; or
- (v) a combination of experience, expertise and competence sufficient to perform the duties required at this level.

#### (b) Organisational relationships

- (i) works under limited direction;
- (ii) normally supervises other employees and establishes and monitors work outcomes.

#### (c) Extent of authority

- (i) may manage section or organisation;
- (ii) has significant delegated authority;
- (iii) selection of methods and techniques based on sound judgment (guidance not always readily available within the organisation). Decisions and actions taken at this level may have a significant effect on program/project/work areas being managed.

#### B.8 Social and community services employee level 8

#### **B.8.1 Characteristics of this level**

- (a) A person employed as a Social and community services employee level 8 is subject to broad direction from senior officers and will exercise managerial responsibility for the organisation's relevant activity. In addition, employees may operate as a senior specialist providing multifunctional advice to either various departments or directly to the organisation.
- (b) A person employed as a Social and community services employee level 8 will be subject to broad direction from management/the employer and will exercise managerial responsibility for an organisation. In addition, employees may operate as a senior specialist providing



- multi-functional advice to other professional employees, the employer, Committee or Board of Management.
- (c) General features of this level require the employee's involvement in the initiation and formulation of extensive projects or programs which impact on the organisation's goals and objectives. Employees are involved in the identification of current and future options and the development of strategies to achieve desired outcomes.
- (d) Additional features include providing financial, specialised, technical, professional and/or administrative advice on policy matters within the organisation and/or about external organisations such as government policy.
- (e) In addition, employees will be required to develop and implement techniques, work practices and procedures in all facets of the work area.
- (f) Employees at this level require a high level of proficiency in the application of theoretical approaches in the search of optimal solutions to new problems and opportunities which may be outside of the original field of specialisation.
- (g) Positions at this level will demand responsibility for decision-making within the constraints of organisational policy and require the employees to provide advice and support to all facets of the organisation. Employees will have significant impact upon policies and programs and will be required to provide initiative, and have the ability to formulate, implement, monitor and evaluate projects and programs.
- (h) Positions at this level may be identified by the significant independence of action within the constraints of organisational policy.

#### **B.8.2 Responsibilities**

A position at this level may include some of or similar responsibilities to:

- (a) undertake work of significant scope and complexity. A major portion of the work requires initiative:
- (b) undertake duties of innovative, novel and/or critical nature with little or no professional direction:
- (c) undertake functions across a range of administrative, specialist or operational areas which include specific programs or activities, management of services delivery and the provision of high-level advice;
- (d) provide authoritative specialist advice on policy matters and contribute to the development and review of policies, both internal and external;
- (e) manage extensive programs or projects in accordance with organisational goals. This may require the development, implementation and evaluation of those goals;
- (f) administer complex policy and program matters:
- (g) may offer consultancy service;
- (h) evaluate and develop/revise methodology techniques with the organisation. The application of high-level analytical skills in the attainment and satisfying of organisational objectives;
- (i) where the prime responsibility is in a specialised field, employees at this level would undertake at least some of the following:
  - (i) contribute to the development of operational policy;
  - (ii) assess and review the standards of work of other specialised personnel/external consultants:
  - (iii) initiate and formulate organisational programs;
  - (iv) implement organisational objectives within corporate goals;
  - (v) develop and recommend ongoing plans and programs.

#### **B.8.3 Requirements of the position**



Some or all of the following are needed to perform work at this level:

#### (a) Skills, knowledge, experience, qualification and/or training

- (i) detailed knowledge of policy, programs, guidelines, procedures and practices of the organisation and external bodies;
- (ii) detailed knowledge of statutory requirements.

#### (b) Prerequisites

- (i) qualifications are generally beyond those normally acquired through a degree course and experience in the field of specialist expertise;
- (ii) substantial post graduate experience;
- (iii) lesser formal qualifications and the acquisition of considerable skills and extensive and diverse experience relative to an equivalent standard; or
- (iv) attained through previous appointments, service and/or study with a combination of experience, expertise and competence sufficient to perform the duties of the position.



# SCHEDULE 2 PART C CHILDRENS SERVICES (CS AWARD) EMPLOYEES

#### **CLASSIFICATION STANDARDS AND DESCRIPTORS**

1.1 All employees shall be classified by the employer into one of the levels contained in this clause in accordance with the employee's skills, responsibilities, qualifications and duties. Where an employee believes they have been wrongly classified the matter shall be dealt with in accordance with the dispute settling procedure set out in clause 8.

#### Children's Services Employee Level 1

- 1.2 This is an employee who has no formal qualifications but is able to perform work within the scope of this level. This employee will work under direct supervision in a team environment and will receive guidance and direction at all times. This employee will receive structured and regular on-the-job training to perform the duties expected at this level. Normally, an employee at this level will not be left alone with a group of children.
- 1.3 An employee at this level is being introduced to the working environment and is undertaking the following indicative duties:
  - (a) learning and implementing the policies, procedures and routines of the service:
  - (b) learning how to establish relationships and interacting with the children;
  - (c) learning the basic skills required to work in this environment with children;
  - (d) giving each child individual attention and comfort as required; and
  - (e) basic duties including food preparation, cleaning, or gardening.
- 1.4 A Level 1 employee shall progress to the next level after a period of one year or earlier if the employer considers the employee capable of performing the work at the next level or if the employee actually performs work at the next level.

#### Children's Services Employee Level 2

- 1.5 This is an employee who has completed 12 months in Level 1, or a relevant AQF Certificate II, or in the opinion of the employer has sufficient knowledge and experience to perform the work within the scope of this level.
- 1.6 An employee at this level has limited knowledge and experience in children's services and is expected to take limited responsibility for their own work. A Level 2 employee undertakes the following indicative duties:
  - (a) assist in the implementation of the children's program under supervision;
  - (b) assist in the implementation of daily care routines;



- develop awareness of and assist in maintenance of the health and safety of the children in care;
- (d) give each child individual attention and comfort as required;
- (e) understand and work according to the centre or service's policies and procedures;
- (f) responsible for food preparation, cleaning, gardening or general maintenance under the guidance of the Assistant Director/Director; and
- (g) demonstrate knowledge of hygienic handling of food and equipment.

#### Children's Services Employee Level 3

- 1.7 This is an employee who has completed AQF Certificate III in Children's Services or an equivalent qualification or, alternatively, this employee shall possess, in the opinion of the employer, sufficient knowledge or experience to perform the duties at this level. An employee appointed at this level will undertake the same duties and perform the same tasks as a CSE Level 2 employee, and will undertake the following additional indicative duties:
  - (a) assist in the preparation, implementation and evaluation of developmentally appropriate programs for individual children or groups;
  - (b) responsible for recording observations of individual children or groups for program planning purposes for qualified staff;
  - (c) under direction, work with individual children with particular needs;
  - (d) assist in the direction of untrained staff;
  - (e) undertake and implement the requirements of quality assurance; and
  - (f) work in accordance with food safety regulations.
  - (g) subject to this agreement, an employee at this level is entitled to incremental progression to pay Level 3.3. However:
    - (i) an employee at this level who has completed an AQF Diploma in Children's Services or equivalent, and who demonstrates the application of skills and knowledge acquired beyond the competencies required for AQF Certificate III in the on-going performance of their work, must be paid no less than the rate prescribed for pay Level 3.4. Any dispute concerning an employee's entitlement to be paid at pay Level 3.4 may be referred to an independent evaluator appointed under clause 11.3.7. The evaluator may require an employee to demonstrate to their satisfaction that the employee utilises skills and knowledge above those prescribed for Level 3 but below those prescribed for Level 4.

#### Children's Services Employee Level 4

1.8 This is an employee who has completed a Diploma in Children's Services or equivalent as recognised by licensing authorities and is appointed as the person in charge of a group of children in the age range from birth to 12 years.



- 1.9 An employee appointed at this level will take on the same duties and perform the same tasks as a CSE Level 3 and undertake the following additional indicative duties:
  - (a) responsible, in consultation with the Assistant Director/Director for the preparation, implementation and evaluation of a developmentally appropriate program for individual children or groups of children in care;
  - (b) for the direction and general supervision of other employees up to CSE Level 3;
  - (c) responsible to the Assistant Director/Director for the supervision of students on placement;
  - (d) ensure a safe environment is maintained for both staff and children:
  - (e) ensure that records are maintained accurately for each child in their care;
  - (f) develop, implement and evaluate daily care routines;
  - (g) ensure the centre or service's policies and procedures are adhered to; and
  - (h) liaise with families.

#### Children's Services Employee Level 5

- 1.10 This is an employee who has completed an [AQF 5] Diploma in Children's Services or equivalent and is appointed as either an Assistant Director of a service, or a Children's Services Coordinator.
- 1.11 An Assistant Director will take on the same duties and perform the same tasks as a CSE Level 4 and be responsible for the following additional indicative duties:
  - (a) co-ordinate and direct the activities of employees engaged in the implementation and evaluation of developmentally appropriate programs;
  - (b) contribute, through the Director, to the development of the centre or service's policies;
  - (c) coordinate centre or service operations including Occupational Health and Safety, program planning, staff training;
  - (d) take responsibility for the day-to-day management of the centre or service in the temporary absence of the Director and for management and compliance with licensing and all statutory and QIAS issues; and
  - (e) generally supervise all employees within the service.
- 1.12 A Children's Services Coordinator undertakes additional responsibilities including coordinating the activities of more than one group, supervising staff, trainees and students on placement, and assisting in administrative functions.

#### Children's Services Employee Level 6 – Director

1.13 A Director is an employee who holds:



- (a) a relevant Degree; or
- (b) an AQF Advanced Diploma; or
- (c) a Diploma in Children's Services; or
- (d) a Diploma in Out of Hours Care, or
- (e) is a person possessing such experience, or holding such qualifications deemed by the employer to be appropriate to the position; and
- (f) is appointed as the Director of a Service and is responsible for the overall management and administration of the service with the following additional indicative duties:
  - Responsible for the overall management and administration of the service.
  - (ii) supervise the implementation of developmentally appropriate programs for children;
  - (iii) recruit staff in accordance with relevant regulations;
  - (iv) maintain day-to-day accounts and handle all administrative matters;
  - (v) ensure that the centre or service adheres to all relevant regulations and statutory requirements;
  - ensure that the centre or service meets or exceeds quality assurance requirements;
  - (vii) liaise with families and outside agencies;
  - (viii) formulate and evaluate annual budgets;
  - (ix) liaise with management committees or proprietors as appropriate;
  - (x) provide professional leadership and development to staff; and
  - (xi) develop and maintain policies and practices for the centre or service.

#### **Director Level 1**

1.14 A Director Level 1 is an employee appointed as the Director of a service licensed for up to 39 children and is paid at the Level 6.1 to 6.3 salary range.

#### **Director Level 2**

1.15 A Director Level 2 is an employee appointed as the Director of a service licensed for between 40 and 59 children and is paid at the Director Level 6.4 to 6.6 salary range.

#### **Director Level 3**

1.16 A Director Level 3 is an employee appointed as the Director of a service licensed for 60 or more children and is paid at the Level 6.7 to 6.9 salary range.

#### Definitions - Children's Services Support Worker

#### Level 1



- (a) This is an untrained, unqualified employee. Employees at this level will work under supervision with guidance and direction. Indicative duties
  - (i) Assisting a qualified cook and/or basic food preparation and/or duties of a kitchen hand
  - (ii) Laundry work
  - (iii) Cleaning
  - (iv) Gardening
  - (v) Driving
  - (vi) Maintenance (non-trade)
  - (vii) Administrative duties

#### (b) Progression

1.17 An employee will progress to Children's Services Support Employee (CSSE) Level 2 after 12 months, or earlier if the employee is performing the duties of a children's Services support employee Level 2.

#### Level 2

- 1.18 An employee at this level will possess skills, training and experience above that of a CSSE Level 1 and below that of a CSSE level 3. An employee at this level works under routine supervision and exercises discretion consistent with their skills and experience.
  - (a) Indicative duties
    - (i) Assisting a qualified cook and/or basic food preparation and/or duties of a kitchen hand.
    - (ii) Laundry work.
    - (iii) Cleaning.
    - (iv) Gardening.
    - (v) Driving.
    - (vi) Maintenance (non-trade).
    - (vii) Administrative duties.

#### Level 3

1.19 An employee at this level possesses an AQF Certificate III or equivalent skills and performs work at that level as required by the employer.



# SCHEDULE 2 PART D TUTORS AND TEACHERS

The classification of tutors and teachers is in accordance with the *Educational Services (Post-Secondary Education) Award 2010* (ESPS Award), except for the following modifications which reflect the specific requirements of neighbourhood houses and adult and community education centres.

At the commencement of employment an employee will be placed on the appropriate increment level of **Schedule 3 Part D**, as determined by point 6.Qualifications and 7. Experience below.

#### 3. Tutor 1

This classification level is equivalent to the Tutor/Instructor Level 1 of the ESPS award.

- A Tutor 1 is engaged to deliver instruction which is not accredited under the Australian Qualification Framework (AQF) and who has appropriate knowledge and skills as determined by the employer.
- A Tutor 1 is not normally required to perform any significant regular administration, assessment or consultation in conjunction with delivery, although occasional other duties may be required.

#### 4. Tutor 2

This classification level is equivalent to the Tutor/Instructor Level 2 of the ESPS award.

- A Tutor 2 is engaged to deliver instruction in subjects and/or courses which are not accredited under the Australian Qualification Framework (AQF) but where the program outcomes are similar to those of an accredited program.
- Tutor 2 is the minimum classification for a tutor who is required to have a Certificate IV in Training and Assessment (TAA40104) or equivalent.
- A Tutor 2 may be required to perform some regular administration, and consultation in association with each contact hour of delivery.

#### 5. Tutor 3/Teacher 1, 2 and 3

This classification level is equivalent to the VET Tutor or Teacher classifications of the ESPS award.

- A Tutor 3/Teacher 1, 2 and 3 will be required to perform significant regular administration, and consultation in association with each contact hour of delivery.
- A Tutor 3/Teacher 1, 2 and 3 is qualified and engaged to deliver instruction in subjects and or courses which are accredited under the AQF, and/or a qualification or statement of attainment under the Australian Recognition framework (ARF).

#### **Qualifications:**

**Tutor 3:** (Equivalent to Category D of the ESPS award)

<u>English Language Colleges or TESOL courses:</u> other qualifications not provided for above and/or expected to acquire TESOL qualifications.

<u>Teachers Other than TESOL:</u> any other teacher, including a Vocational Education and Training (VET) tutor who has the qualifications required by the accredited curriculum or training package and who delivers and/or assesses nationally recognised competency based training which may result in a qualification or Statement of Attainment under the Australian Recognition Framework (ARF).

Teacher 1 (Equivalent to Category C of the ESPS Award)

<u>English Language Colleges or TESOL courses:</u> a teacher with a degree/diploma (three year minimum) plus a recognised TESOL certificate; or a degree/diploma (three year minimum) including LOTE/TESOL method.



<u>Teachers Other than TESOL:</u> a teacher with a three year degree or equivalent at university level in a field relevant to the teaching area.

#### **Teacher 2:** (Equivalent to Category B of the ESPS Award)

<u>English Language Colleges or TESOL courses:</u> a teacher having a degree and diploma of education or equivalent plus a recognised TESOL certificate; or a degree and diploma including LOTE/TESOL method.

<u>Teachers Other than TESOL:</u> a teacher with a four year degree or equivalent at university level in a field relevant to the teaching area.

#### **Teacher 3:** (Equivalent to Category A of the ESPS Award)

<u>English Language Colleges or TESOL courses:</u> a teacher having a degree and diploma of education or equivalent and either a diploma in TESOL (e.g. Dip SRA, Grad Dip TESOL); or a postgraduate diploma in applied linguistics, languages other than English (LOTE), or multicultural education.

<u>Teachers Other than TESOL:</u> a teacher with a five year degree or equivalent at university level in a field relevant to the teaching area.

#### **Experience**

The employee's experience in the industry is recognised and taken into account when determining the increment level an employee will be appointed.

#### English Language Colleges or TESOL courses:

The following experience will be recognised as relevant experience:

full-time TESOL teaching to adults or secondary students in schools or equivalent in Australia to classes of not less than five students:

other full-time teaching, including in other languages, credited at the rate of one year of experience for each two years of such teaching, to a maximum of three years; part-time experience will be recognised on a pro rata basis; and

where the teacher has worked for less than a full year, they will be accredited with experience in the proportion that the weeks worked over the 12 month period bears to the number of weeks normally required of a full-time teacher at the same institution.

#### Teachers Other than TESOL and Tutors 1 and 2:

Experience will mean full-time adult teaching experience or equivalent part-time or casual experience.

Casual experience will be credited on the basis that 800 face-to-face teaching hours is equivalent to one year of full-time experience.



### **SCHEDULE 3 SALARY RATES**

Part A

ADULT AND COMMUNTY EDUCATION EMPLOYEES

Educational Services (Post-Secondary Education) Award Staff Award).

General Staff

Adult and Community Education employees employed under this Agreement shall be paid the following rates, effective from the first full pay period after 1 July 2024.

ESPSE Level	Weekly Rate	Hourly rate	Casual rate (25% loading)
1.1	\$945.16	\$24.87	\$31.09
1.2	\$989.77	\$26.05	\$32.56
1.3	\$1,020.20	\$26.85	\$33.56
2.1	\$1,033.13	\$27.19	\$33.99
2.2	\$1,051.47	\$27.67	\$34.59
2.3	\$1,051.47	\$27.67	\$34.59
3.1	\$1,090.24	\$28.69	\$35.87
3.2	\$1,144.86	\$30.13	\$37.67
3.3	\$1,144.86	\$30.13	\$37.67
4.1	\$1,176.13	\$30.95	\$38.69
4.2	\$1,222.41	\$32.17	\$40.21
4.3	\$1,222.41	\$32.17	\$40.21
5.1	\$1,305.37	\$34.35	\$42.94
5.2	\$1,367.50	\$35.99	\$44.98
5.3	\$1,367.50	\$35.99	\$44.98
6.1	\$1,401.27	\$36.88	\$46.09
6.2	\$1,483.82	\$39.05	\$48.81
6.3	\$1,483.82	\$39.05	\$48.81
7.1	\$1,518.42	\$39.96	\$49.95
7.2	\$1,608.47	\$42.33	\$52.92
8	\$1,709.79	\$44.99	\$56.24
9	\$1,807.76	\$47.57	\$59.45



# SCHEDULE 3 Salary Rates Part B

#### **NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSE EMPLOYEES**

Social, Community, Home Care and Disability Services Industry Award (SCHADS)

Community Development employees employed under this Agreement shall be paid the following rates, effective from the first full pay period after 1 July 2024:

NHACE Agreements 2016-2018

Modern Award (SCHADS) SACS Levels	Weekly Salary	Hourly Rate	Casual Rate (25% loading)
1.1	\$965.59	\$25.41	\$31.76
1.2	\$996.85	\$26.23	\$32.79
1.3	\$1,032.29	\$27.17	\$33.96
2.1	\$1,269.94	\$33.42	\$41.78
	\$1,309.54	\$34.46	\$43.07
2.2 (Cert IV)			
2.3	\$1,349.57	\$35.51	\$44.39
2.4	\$1,385.42	\$36.46	\$45.58
3.1 (ass dip/adv'd cert)	\$1,419.19	\$37.35	\$46.68
3.2	\$1,460.05	\$38.42	\$48.03
3.3 (3 year degree)	\$1,491.32	\$39.25	\$49.05
3.4 (4 year degree)	\$1,521.76	\$40.05	\$50.06
4.1	\$1,636.83	\$43.07	\$53.85
4.2	\$1,679.77	\$44.20	\$55.25
4.3	\$1,722.71	\$45.33	\$56.67
4.4	\$1,761.48	\$46.35	\$57.94
5.1	\$1,872.80	\$49.28	\$61.61
5.2	\$1,912.83	\$50.34	\$62.92
5.3	\$1,957.44	\$51.51	\$64.39
6.1	\$2,045.82	\$53.84	\$67.30
6.2	\$2,090.85	\$55.02	\$68.78
6.3	\$2,136.29	\$56.22	\$70.27
7.1	\$2,212.59	\$58.23	\$72.79
7.2	\$2,259.29	\$59.45	\$74.32
7.3	\$2,305.15	\$60.66	\$75.82
8.1	\$2,400.62	\$63.17	\$78.97
8.2	\$2,447.73	\$64.41	\$80.52
8.3	\$2,495.26	\$65.66	\$82.08



# SCHEDULE 3 Salary Rates Part C Children's Services Employees (Children's Services Award)

Children's Services Employees employed under this Agreement shall be paid the following rates, effective from the first full pay period after 1 July 2024.

CSE Level	Weekly Rate	Hourly rate	Casual rate (25% loading)			
Support Worker						
1.1	\$910.97	\$23.97	\$29.96			
2.1	\$943.91	\$24.84	\$31.05			
2.2	\$975.17	\$25.66	\$32.08			
3.1	\$1,032.29	\$27.17	\$33.96			
	Children's	Services Employee				
1.1	\$910.97	\$23.97	\$29.96			
2.1	\$943.91	\$24.84	\$31.05			
2.2	\$975.17	\$25.66	\$32.08			
3.1	\$1,032.29	\$27.17	\$33.96			
3.2	\$1,067.73	\$28.10	\$35.12			
3.3	\$1,101.50	\$28.99	\$36.24			
3.4	\$1,162.37	\$30.59	\$38.24			
4.1	\$1,216.15	\$32.00	\$40.00			
4.2	\$1,234.50	\$32.49	\$40.61			
4.3	\$1,252.84	\$32.97	\$41.21			
5.1	\$1,271.60	\$33.46	\$41.83			
5.2	\$1,289.95	\$33.95	\$42.44			
5.3	\$1,308.29	\$34.43	\$43.04			
5.4	\$1,312.88	\$34.55	\$43.18			
6.1	\$1,466.31	\$38.59	\$48.23			
6.2	\$1,484.65	\$39.07	\$48.83			
6.3	\$1,502.58	\$39.54	\$49.43			
6.4	\$1,558.86	\$41.02	\$51.28			
6.5	\$1,573.04	\$41.40	\$51.74			
6.6	\$1,592.22	\$41.90	\$52.38			
6.7	\$1,610.98	\$42.39	\$52.99			
6.8	\$1,629.32	\$42.88	\$53.60			
6.9	\$1,647.67	\$43.36	\$54.20			



#### **SCHEDULE 3**

#### Part D Pay Rates

#### **Tutors and Teachers**

Tutors and Teachers employed under this Agreement shall be paid the following rates effective from the first full pay period after 1 July 2024.

Award Level	Increment	Annual	Weekly	Hour	Casual	Casual Contact
Tutor 1						
1	1	\$60,356.58	\$1,160.70	\$30.54	\$38.18	
2	2	\$61,158.74	\$1,176.13	\$30.95	\$38.70	
3	3	\$62,372.81	\$1,199.48	\$31.57	\$39.45	
Tutor 2						
2	1	\$61,158.74	\$1,176.13	\$30.95	\$38.70	
3	2	\$62,372.81	\$1,199.48	\$31.57	\$39.45	
4	3	\$63,586.88	\$1,222.82	\$32.18	\$40.23	
5	4	\$66,166.77	\$1,272.44	\$33.49	\$41.86	
6	5	\$67,879.48	\$1,305.37	\$34.35	\$42.94	
7	6	\$69,440.42	\$1,335.39	\$35.14	\$43.93	
Tutor 3						
1	1	\$61,006.98	\$1,173.21	\$30.87	\$38.59	\$58.62
2	2	\$62,958.16	\$1,210.73	\$31.86	\$39.82	\$60.49
3	3	\$64,974.38	\$1,249.51	\$32.88	\$41.10	\$62.43
4	4	\$64,974.38	\$1,249.51	\$32.88	\$41.10	\$62.43
5	5	\$66,166.77	\$1,272.44	\$33.49	\$41.86	\$63.58
6	6	\$67,879.48	\$1,305.37	\$34.35	\$42.94	\$65.23
7	7	\$69,440.42	\$1,335.39	\$35.14	\$43.93	\$66.73
8	8	\$71,153.13	\$1,368.33	\$36.01	\$45.02	\$68.37
9	9	\$72,887.51	\$1,401.68	\$36.89	\$46.10	\$70.03
Teacher 1						
2	1	\$62,958.16	\$1,210.73	\$31.86	\$39.82	\$60.49
3	2	\$64,974.38	\$1,249.51	\$32.88	\$41.10	\$62.43
4	3	\$64,974.38	\$1,249.51	\$32.88	\$41.10	\$62.43
5	4	\$66,166.77	\$1,272.44	\$33.49	\$41.86	\$63.58
6	5	\$67,879.48	\$1,305.37	\$34.35	\$42.94	\$65.23
7	6	\$69,440.42	\$1,335.39	\$35.14	\$43.93	\$66.73
8	7	\$71,153.13	\$1,368.33	\$36.01	\$45.02	\$68.37
9	8	\$72,887.51	\$1,401.68	\$36.89	\$46.10	\$70.03
10	9	\$75,098.85	\$1,444.21	\$38.01	\$47.51	\$72.17
11	10	\$77,180.11	\$1,484.23	\$39.06	\$48.82	\$74.16
12	11	\$79,001.22	\$1,519.25	\$39.98	\$49.98	\$75.91



T						
Teacher 2						
3	1	\$62,372.81	\$1,199.48	\$31.57	\$39.45	\$59.94
4	2	\$63,586.88	\$1,222.82	\$32.18	\$40.23	\$61.11
5	3	\$66,166.77	\$1,272.44	\$33.49	\$41.86	\$63.58
6	4	\$67,879.48	\$1,305.37	\$34.35	\$42.94	\$65.23
7	5	\$69,440.42	\$1,335.39	\$35.14	\$43.93	\$66.73
8	6	\$71,153.13	\$1,368.33	\$36.01	\$45.02	\$68.37
9	7	\$72,887.51	\$1,401.68	\$36.89	\$46.10	\$70.03
10	8	\$75,098.85	\$1,444.21	\$38.01	\$47.51	\$72.17
11	9	\$77,180.11	\$1,484.23	\$39.06	\$48.82	\$74.16
12	10	\$79,001.22	\$1,519.25	\$39.98	\$49.98	\$75.91
Teacher 3						
4	1	\$63,586.88	\$1,222.82	\$32.18	\$40.23	\$61.11
5	2	\$66,166.77	\$1,272.44	\$33.49	\$41.86	\$63.58
6	3	\$67,879.48	\$1,305.37	\$34.35	\$42.94	\$65.23
7	4	\$69,440.42	\$1,335.39	\$35.14	\$43.93	\$66.73
8	5	\$71,153.13	\$1,368.33	\$36.01	\$45.02	\$68.37
9	6	\$72,887.51	\$1,401.68	\$36.89	\$46.10	\$70.03
10	7	\$75,098.85	\$1,444.21	\$38.01	\$47.51	\$72.17
11	8	\$77,180.11	\$1,484.23	\$39.06	\$48.82	\$74.16
12	9	\$79,001.22	\$1,519.25	\$39.98	\$49.98	\$75.91



### **SCHEDULE 4 ALLOWANCES**

Allowance	
Clause 23.1 Overnight Travel	
Accommodation	¢4.70.00
Capital Cities Regional Areas	\$173.00 \$152.00
Meals	\$152.00
Breakfast – Capital	\$24.35
Breakfast – Regional	\$24.35
Lunch – Capital	\$27.35
Lunch – Regional	\$24.90
Dinner – Capital	\$46.70
Dinner – Regional	\$48.50
Incidentals	\$17.85
Clause 21.2 - Meal	
Breakfast	\$24.35
Lunch	\$24.90
Dinner	\$48.50
	"
Clause 21.9 – Motor Vehicle	99c/km
Motorcycle	33c/km
Clause 21.11 – First Aid - 1.67%	\$19.76
Clause 21.17 – On call	
Clause 21.17 - On call	\$23.67
Clause 21.17 - 2%	\$46.87
0.0070	<b>\$</b> -0.07
Overtime meal allowance	\$16.20

### **SCHEDULE 5 LIST OF RESPONDENTS**

[Insert list]